

#### Technische Universität München TUM School of Engineering and Design

### Resolving Interactions among Fully Automated Vehicles and Bicyclists in Complex Traffic Situations

Georgios Grigoropoulos

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Engineering and Design der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines *Doktors der Ingenieurwissenschaften (Dr.-Ing.)* genehmigten Dissertation

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr.-Ing. Klaus Bogenberger

#### Prüfer\*innen der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr.-Ing. Fritz Busch
- 2. Prof. Dr. phil. Klaus Bengler

Die Dissertation wurde am 08.11.2022 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die *TUM School of Engineering and Design* am 27.03.2023 angenommen.

## **Executive Summary**

Automated driving is regarded as one of the cornerstones of future mobility. Yet the integration of Automated Vehicles (AVs) in the mobility system and their acceptance by other road users is a significant challenge that automated driving has to overcome. Presently, AV research focuses on traffic safety related aspects of automated driving applications aiming to ensure safe interactions with other road users. Two of the key challenges for ensuring safe and continuous autonomy are the understanding and prediction of Vulnerable Road User (VRU) behavior and their respective interactions in traffic. Most research in this field is currently directed towards pedestrians, while the share of bicycles grows rapidly in urban networks mainly due to transport policy measures aiming to reduce the number of trips completed by motorized vehicles. As the importance of bicycle traffic for urban mobility systems increases, it is important to develop special automated driving functions that enable AVs to comprehend bicyclist behavior and ensure safe interactions.

Eventually the traffic safety aspects of AV operation will be mostly fully addressed. At the same time, city authorities, stakeholders and Human Road Users (HRUs) will move their attention into other areas and aspects of the AV operation. Efficient driving, continuous autonomy, acceptable driving behavior and the integration with traffic management will start to play an increasingly important role and will be the key differentiating features and the new area of competition among the different providers and fleet operators for the successful integration and acceptance of AV fleets in the mobility system. This dissertation proposes methods for resolving interactions among AVs and bicyclists. The novel methodological approach combines the development and evaluation of AV driving functions for supporting seamless and uninterrupted AV driving in the presence of bicyclists at unsignalized intersections with the development of a method for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions while improving traffic performance.

First, a deep learning model is developed that predicts the maneuver intentions of bicyclists at unsignalized intersection approaches. The model is based on Bidirectional Long Short Term Memory Networks (B-LSTMs) and predicts the intention of a bicyclist for a specific maneuver class (left-turn, right-turn, straight) at an intersection approach, before entering the intersection area. The behavioral data used for the prediction model was generated with a physical bicycle simulator through test subject studies. The best prediction performance results are achieved by combining features of the dynamic and operational bicyclist behavior. This highlights the importance of the inclusion of the communication behavior features in human behavior prediction methods in the context of AV research.

The behavior of bicyclists in traffic is inherently unpredictable. Accurate uncertainty quantification and assessment are essential for the safe and efficient resolution of traffic interactions among AVs and bicyclists. In a second step, the deep learning model is expanded with a method for quantifying the prediction uncertainty and for self-assessing its confidence using certain performance metrics.

The added information value gained through the prediction model is then integrated into a method that aims to resolve the interactions among bicyclists and AVs at a non-signalized intersection that ensures traffic safety and optimizes traffic efficiency. Specifically, a Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MILP) optimization framework is proposed that integrates the inherent bicyclist behavior uncertainty in the control actions taken to optimize traffic performance. The method considers the bicyclist individual behavioral characteristics by respectively adjusting the AV driving behavior and balances the requirements of the AV passengers. The proposed concept is integrated with the existing common traffic priority rules that regulate traffic at unsignalized intersections through the adaptation of the AV approach speed and the generation of acceptable time gaps for bicyclists of subordinate traffic streams to exploit.

Simulation evaluation results using Simulation of Urban Mobility (SUMO), where common traffic interaction scenarios are implemented, show that the proposed method consistently reduces delays and waiting times for bicyclists for moderate to high traffic demand compositions and outperforms the "Base" Scenario where priority is handled with the common traffic rules. The resulting delays for the superordinate AV traffic streams are minor and effectively not comparable to the significant gains for bicycle traffic. It is also found that the higher the complexity of the intended bicyclist maneuver at the intersection, the greater the bicycle traffic performance gains and the greater the significance and influence of the maneuver prediction confidence, while the performance of the proposed MILP optimization framework was poor or similar to the "Base" scenario for evaluated scenarios with low traffic demand. Thus, the proposed method proactively alleviates the automated driving task requirements for the interacting AVs by reducing the traffic situation complexity arising from the uncertain behavior of the increasing number bicyclists in the intersection area. This, further increases traffic safety and ensures continuous uninterrupted autonomy.

# Zusammenfassung

Automatisiertes Fahren wird als einer der Eckpfeiler der zukünftigen Mobilität angesehen. Die Integration von automatisierten Fahrzeugen in das Mobilitätssystem und ihre Akzeptanz durch andere Verkehrsteilnehmer ist eine große Herausforderung. Derzeit konzentriert sich die Forschung im automatisierten Fahren auf verkehrssicherheitsrelevante Aspekte mit dem Ziel, sichere Interaktionen mit anderen Verkehrsteilnehmern zu gewährleisten. Einige der wichtigsten Herausforderungen für die Gewährleistung einer sicheren und kontinuierlichen Autonomie sind das Verständnis und die Wahrnehmung des VRU Verhaltens und der entsprechenden Interaktionen im Verkehrsgeschehen. Die Mehrheit der Forschung in diesem Bereich ist auf Fußgänger ausgerichtet, während der Anteil der Radfahrer in städtischen Netzen aufgrund verkehrspolitischer Maßnahmen zunimmt. Dabei ist es wichtig, spezielle automatisierte Fahrfunktionen zu entwickeln, die es den automatisierten Fahrzeugen ermöglichen, das Verhalten von Radfahrern zu verstehen und sichere Interaktionen zu gewährleisten.

Letztendlich werden in der Zukunft die Verkehrssicherheitsaspekte bei automatisierten Fahrzeugen größtenteils vollständig berücksichtigt. So werden städtische Behörden, Interessengruppen und die anderen Verkehrsteilnehmergruppen ihren Fokus auf andere Bereiche und Aspekte des automatisierten Fahrens lenken. Effizientes Fahren, kontinuierliche Autonomie, akzeptables Fahrverhalten und die Integration im Verkehrsmanagement werden eine immer wichtigere Rolle spielen und die wichtigsten Unterscheidungsmerkmale und neuen Wettbewerbsbereich zwischen den verschiedenen Anbietern und Flottenbetreibern für die erfolgreiche Integration und Akzeptanz von automatisierten Fahrzeugflotten im Mobilitätssystem darstellen. In dieser Dissertation werden Methoden zur Auflösung von Interaktionen zwischen automatisierten Fahrzeugen und Radfahrern festgelegt. Der neuartige methodische Ansatz kombiniert die Entwicklung und Bewertung von automatisierten Fahrfunktionen zur Unterstützung eines nahtlosen und ununterbrochenen automatisierten Fahrens im Mischverkehr mit Radfahrern an unsignalisierten Knotenpunkten mit der Entwicklung einer Methode zur Auflösung von automatisierten Fahrzeug- und Radfahrer-Interaktionen bei gleichzeitiger Verbesserung der Verkehrseffizienz.

Zunächst wird ein Deep-Learning-Modell entwickelt, das die Manöverabsichten von Radfahrern an unsignalisierten Knotenpunkten vorhersagt. Das Modell basiert auf B-LSTMs und prädiziert die Absicht eines Radfahrers für eine bestimmte Radfahrermanöverklasse (Linksabbiegen, Rechtsabbiegen, Geradeausfahren) an Knotenpunktzufahrten. Die verwendeten Radfahrerverhaltensdaten wurden mit einem physischen Fahrradsimulator im Rahmen von Probandenstudien erzeugt. Die besten Ergebnisse werden durch die Kombination von Merkmalen des dynamischen und operativen Radfahrerverhaltens mit vorklassifizierten impliziten und expliziten Gestenarchetypen des Kommunikationsverhaltens von Radfahrern erzielt. Dies unterstreicht die Bedeutung der Einbeziehung von Merkmalen des Kommunikationsverhaltens in die Methoden zur Vorhersage des menschlichen Verhaltens im Rahmen der automatisierten Fahrzeugforschung. Das Verhalten von Radfahrern im Verkehr ist prinzipiell unvorhersehbar. Eine genaue Quantifizierung und Bewertung der Unsicherheit ist für die sichere und effiziente Auflösung von Verkehrsinteraktionen zwischen automatisierten Fahrzeugen und Radfahrern unerlässlich. In einem zweiten Schritt wird das entwickelte Deep-Learning-Modell um eine Methode zur Quantifizierung der Vorhersageunsicherheit und zur Selbsteinschätzung seines Vertrauens bei der Prädiktion anhand bestimmter Leistungsmetriken erweitert.

Der durch das Vorhersagemodell gewonnene Informationsmehrwert wird in einer Methode integriert, die darauf abzielt, die Interaktionen zwischen RadfahrerInnen und AVs an einer nicht signalisierten Kreuzung so zu lösen, so dass gleichzeitig die Verkehrssicherheit gewährleistet und die Verkehrseffizienz optimiert wird. Insbesondere wird ein MILP-Optimierungs-Framework entwickelt, das die Unsicherheit des Radfahrerverhaltens in die Steuerungsmaßnahmen zur Optimierung der Verkehrsleistung einbezieht. Die Methode berücksichtigt die individuellen Verhaltensmerkmale der Radfahrer, indem sie das automatisierte Fahrzeugverhalten entsprechend anpasst und die Anforderungen der Fahrgäste ausgleicht. Das vorgeschlagene Konzept wird in die bestehenden allgemeinen Verkehrsvorrangsregeln integriert, die den Verkehrsablauf an unsignalisierten Knotenpunkten durch die Anpassung der Anfahrgeschwindigkeit und die Generierung akzeptabler Zeitlücken für RadfahrerInnen der untergeordneten Verkehrsströme optimiert.

Die Ergebnisse der Simulationsauswertung mit SUMO, wobei typische Verkehrsinteraktionsszenarien berücksichtigt wurden, zeigen, dass die entwickelte Methode die Zeitverluste und Wartezeiten für Radfahrer bei mäßiger bis hoher Verkehrsnachfrage im Vergleich zum "Basis"-Szenario, bei dem die Priorität durch die üblichen Verkehrsregeln geregelt wird, reduziert. Die daraus resultierenden Zeitverluste für die übergeordneten Verkehrsströme sind geringfügig im Vergleich zu den signifikanten Gewinnen für den Radverkehr. Es wird auch festgestellt, dass je höher die Komplexität des beabsichtigten Radfahrermanövers am Knotenpunkt ist, desto größer sind die Leistungsgewinne für den Radverkehr und desto größer ist die Bedeutung und der Einfluss des Manövervorhersagevertrauens. Dabei ist die Leistung des MILP-Optimierungs-Frameworks schlechter oder gleich dem "Basis"-Szenario für bewertete Szenarien mit geringer Verkehrsnachfrage. Die vorgeschlagene Methode entlastet also proaktiv die technischen Anforderungen für die interagierenden automatisierten Fahrzeugen, indem sie die Komplexität der Verkehrssituation, die sich aus dem unsicheren Verhalten von mehreren Radfahrern im Knotenpunktbereich ergibt, reduziert. Dadurch wird die Verkehrssicherheit weiter erhöht und die ununterbrochene Fahrautonomie gewährleistet.

# Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Motivation	1	
	1.2	State of the Art	2	
	1.3	Methodology	5	
	1.4	Contributions	9	
2	Lite	rature Review	11	
	2.1	Automated Vehicles	11	
	2.2	Road User Behavior and Interactions at Traffic Intersections	15	
	2.3	Road User Communication Behavior in Traffic	17	
	2.4	Road User Behavior Prediction	23	
	2.5	Review of Bicycle Simulator Research	25	
	2.6	Human-Machine Communication and Cooperation	35	
	2.7	Simulation of Road User Behavior	41	
		2.7.1 Simulation of Automated Vehicles	41	
		2.7.2 Simulation of Bicyclist Behavior and Evaluation of Traffic Performance	45	
	2.8	Traffic Flow Optimization at Intersections with AVs	47	
	2.9	Research Needs Assessment	52	
3	Pre	diction of the Bicyclist Maneuver Intention at Unsignalized Intersections	55	
	3.1	Overview	55	
	3.2	The Bicycle Simulator Setup at the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control .	56	
	3.3	Experimental Design	57	
	3.4	Data Collection and Preprocessing	61	
	3.5	Prediction of the Bicyclist Maneuver Intention at Unsignalized Traffic Intersec-		
		tions	63	
		3.5.1 Model Architecture Design	63	
		3.5.2 Data Preprocessing and Feature Selection	66	
		3.5.3 Training, Validation and Model Architecture Selection	69	
		3.5.4 Uncertainty Estimation Methods in Deep Learning	70	
		3.5.5 Model Performance Results	72	
		3.5.6 Uncertainty Quantification Results	75	
		3.5.7 Discussion	80	
л	0+	imization of AV and Ricyclict Interactions at Unsignalized Interactions	02	
4		Aversion of AV and Dicyclist Interactions at Onsignalized Intersections	00	
	т.1 Л Э	Methodology	86	
	4.2	A 2.1 Description of the Optimization System Architecture	00 20	
		4.2.1 Description of the Optimization System Architecture	00	

		4.2.2 Optimization Problem Formulation	100				
		4.2.3 Simulation Model Design	108				
		4.2.4 Integration of Optimization System Architecture with SUMO	110				
		4.2.5 Modeling Uncertainty for the Bicyclist Maneuver Prediction	111				
		4.2.6 Simulation of Road User Behavior	113				
		4.2.7 Simulation Scenario Definition	115				
		4.2.8 Definition of Traffic Performance Parameters	118				
		4.2.9 Simulation Studies Setup	119				
	4.3	Results and Analysis of Traffic Performance Indicators	120				
		4.3.1 Simulation Results	121				
	4.4	Discussion	138				
5	Conclusions		141				
	5.1	Summary and Conclusions	141				
	5.2 Limitations						
5.3 Outlook							
Acknowledgments							
List of Figures							
List of Tables							
Lis	t of	Terms and Abbreviations	155				
Prepublications							
References							
An	penc	lix	181				
ſ	1	Calibration of Bicyclist Behavior	181				
	2	Calibration of AV Behavior	182				
	3	Simulation Results Optimization Method: Figures	183				
	4	Simulation Results Optimization Method: Statistical Analysis	196				

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

This chapter presents the Motivation (Section 1.1) and an overview of the State of the Art (Section 1.2) of the present research in the fields of bicyclist behavior modeling and intention prediction, Automated Vehicle (AV) cooperation and traffic flow optimization. Section 1.3 summarizes the methodology followed to accomplish the research objectives of this work, while section 1.4 lists the main scientific contributions of this dissertation.

## 1.1 Motivation

AVs are a key component of future mobility. It is expected that the introduction of AVs will improve traffic safety and traffic efficiency and enhance travel convenience. Although, AVs are regarded to be the future of mobility, they remain one component of the entire mobility system, that also includes public transport and *non motorized road users*. Especially, the share of non-motorized modes of transport, such as bicycles, grows rapidly in urban networks mainly due to transport policy measures aiming to reduce the number of trips completed with motorized vehicles. Such policy measures usually include the construction of bicycle infrastructure, traffic regulation measures for motorized traffic and the development of intermodal services.

Lately, novel traffic control strategies are also being developed that foster non-motorized traffic. While AVs are expected in the future to interact with bicyclists in mixed traffic situations without human supervision and intervention, they are currently not capable to handle and resolve several of these situations safely and efficiently, especially those that require communication among road users.

In contrast to a highway environment where currently low-automation level AVs are able to navigate autonomously under human supervision, <u>urban streets have a higher degree of</u> <u>unpredictability and complexity</u> when it comes to interactions among road users. In urban traffic environments, <u>understanding</u> of the common traffic scenarios, <u>cooperation</u> with other road users and handling of safety critical situations are some of the key elements that an AVs is required to possess in order to navigate safely and efficiently. Sometimes, such situations are even resolved by *priority negotiation* among road users or with slight deviations from the strict adherence to the traffic rules [BOGDOLL et al., 2022]. AVs are therefore required to predict the behavior of other road users accurately, mitigate the effects of unpredictable situations and cooperate with other road users in order to resolve critical traffic situations with respect to traffic safety and traffic efficiency.

AVs are equipped with several different *sensors* that provide an abstract perception of their environment. This abstract information allows current experimental AVs to navigate in urban

streets safely and handle simple common traffic scenarios. The utilized sensor inputs provide present AVs with very basic and mostly non-contextual information of their surroundings. Currently, AVs are not able to predict road user behavior for the long-term with high accuracy or differentiate in some cases among different types of road users. Especially under mixed traffic flow conditions non-motorized user behavior can be unpredictable, as the non-motorized user intentions are not known to the AV and due to the inherent movement flexibility of non-motorized users, their behavior and their actual influence on the vehicle's path cannot be easily foreseen. As technology continues to progress, new types of sensor and data sources become available that can be potentially utilized for the optimization of automated vehicle brain units, in order to comprehend traffic situations. As AV sensor technology improves, the <u>comprehension of the road environment can become more accurate</u>. Additionally, as in the future the number of AVs on the roads is expected to rise, *information exchange* and *cooperation* among AVs can also become a way of resolving critical traffic situations more efficiently.

As a further step, the understanding of basic non-motorized user communication patterns is essential in increasing vehicle autonomy. Currently road users often communicate their intentions to other road users through *implicit and explicit communication cues*. AVs are currently unable to comprehend or even detect most of these communication methods. In this context, an additional way to establish communication among AVs and other non-motorized road users can be through Human Machine Interfaces (HMIs) or mobile electronic devices such as smartphones or wearables. These can provide further insight into the non-motorized user intentions or by introducing special archetypes of gestures that convey a specific information or command to interacting AVs. However, the most important outcome is that for the firsttime different types of road users finding themselves in the same traffic situation can exchange information on different channels. The biggest advantage of this *interconnection* comes from the data that is produced from all floating sources with high frequency rates and quality. The potential of the *utilization* of this data input and communication in urban intersections with mixed traffic flow conditions and the *fusion* of these data sources for resolving problematic traffic situations has not been thoroughly studied.

#### 1.2 State of the Art

Automated driving will become an important part of urban traffic in the future. For automated vehicles, different levels of automation have been defined based on the applied technology as well as the degree of human involvement during driving. The most well-known are provided by the ON-ROAD AUTOMATED DRIVING COMMITTEE (ORAD) [2021], the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration [NHTSA, 2013], and the Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen [GASSER and WESTHOFF, 2012]. The automated driving classifications start from manual driving, proceed with assisted and partially automated driving where the vehicle takes over part of the vehicle control and move up to fully automated driving, where the vehicle takes over complete control. In full-automated driving mode, no human control is normally required. However, the driver must be ready to assume control in a short period of time to respond to a complex traffic situation that the vehicle control can potentially be an overwhelming task for the drivers with potential drawbacks to traffic safety [INAGAKI, 2006; INAGAKI and

FURUKAWA, 2004], due to the fact that in fully automated driving the passenger is not required to supervise the vehicle driving operations and is allowed to perform other tasks. Thus, vehicle control algorithms and sensor technologies need to be optimized further in order to address traffic situations more safely and efficiently and eliminate the number and frequency of occurrences, where the control has to be handed over to the driver.

The prediction of road user intention has been the focus of extensive research in the fields of traffic safety, traffic control and automated driving. Especially AVs are required to interact with other human road users in interactive and cooperative decision-making processes. In this context, the intentions of other road users need to be deduced and integrated into a decisionmaking framework for AVs. Human Road Users (HRUs) (motorized and non-motorized human road users e.g. car and truck drivers, motorcyclists, pedestrians, bicyclists etc.) make use of different types of contextual information in their short-term and long-term decision-making process when interacting with other nearby road users. Sources of this type of information may include the dynamic, operational and tactical behavior features of nearby road users. Also, implicit (e.g. head movements, look direction, body posture) and explicit (e.g. hand gestures) communication features are often used by road users to indicate their intentions and are used both as a form of communication as well as subconsciously for decision making purposes. For example, bicyclists often utilize hand gestures to indicate a maneuver they will perform. Deceleration or acceleration processes can also hint a specific maneuver or driving action. Additionally, implicit communication cues such as head movements and eye contact are also part of the communication strategies often employed in traffic by road users to reveal their intentions to other road users, who in turn can use this information to forecast their behavior. For example, a pedestrian intending to cross the road would normally perform a visual check for oncoming vehicles before crossing the road. From the vehicle driver's perspective, this information is crucial as it serves as an indicator for forecasting the pedestrian's intentions.

In this context, special implicit and explicit characteristics of bicyclists' communication behavior may be used together with other behavioral features in forecasting their intentions in specific traffic situations. For human road users, such types of information may be understandable in a specific social and cultural context. However, for AVs, the understanding of bicyclist behavior is challenging in predicting the bicyclist intentions. Moreover, the behavior of bicyclists is inherently unpredictable and therefore the quantification and assessement of the prediction uncertainty is critical. AVs must be able to understand and predict the behavior of other road users with a certain degree of certainty in order to avoid safety critical situations and navigate safely in complex urban traffic environments. Additionally, resolving complex traffic interactions without passenger interaction with human-like behavior can further improve their acceptability among road users. Thus, the comprehension of the behavior of vulnerable road users such as bicyclists can play a crucial role for AVs in supporting their automated operation in urban road environments.

On the other hand, the social perception of automated driving will ultimately drive the acceptance of AV vehicles in traffic especially in urban areas where constant interactions with HRUs are expected. PYRIALAKOU et al. [2020] investigate the safety perception for automated vehicles from the perspective of drivers and Vulnerable Road Users (VRUs) (only non-motorized human road users, e.g. motorcyclists, pedestrians, bicyclists, e-scooter riders, etc.). Walking and cycling in shared spaces with AVs are identified as the most safety critical

types of interactions with AVs with the latter being perceived as the most safety critical due to the higher bicycle travel speeds compared to walking and the increased the severity of potential incidents. The main traffic problem that road users have to resolve in shared spaces such as intersections or straight road sections originates from the competition for critical traffic resources at the Critical Sections (CSs), which are road sections where different traffic participant trajectories intersect [ZHANG et al., 2013].

Present research on automated driving focuses primarily on resolving traffic situations for a singular vehicle with other motorized users or improving traffic efficiency at intersections or road sections though cooperation and communication with other AVs. At the same time, ongoing research on interactions among automated vehicles and non-motorized road users primarily focuses on improving detection technologies and methods and on the safer interaction with the non-motorized users. Little to none research has been found in the area of predicting bicyclist behavior and in resolving traffic situations with multiple bicyclists and AVs through cooperation and communication in shared space traffic environments.

The development of automated vehicle control algorithms that resolve traffic situations for AVs has already been undertaken by various researchers [BOURAOUI et al., 2006; BROWN et al., 2017; COLOMBO and DEL VECCHIO, 2012; K. DRESNER and P. STONE, 2004; FURDA and VLACIC, 2011; GRÉGOIRE et al., 2013; ZHANG et al., 2013]. These methods leverage the sensors and technologies integrated in an AV for further optimizing traffic flow. As part of these approaches, AVs can potentially cooperate and resolve these traffic situations by negotiating priority among each other or by considering the non-motorized users at signalized intersections [NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al., 2019; NIELS, MITROVIC, DOBROTA, et al., 2020; NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al., 2020; KURT DRESNER and PETER STONE, 2007] through reservation based and control optimization strategies.

A common element among these different methodologies, for optimizing traffic efficiency and safety is Vehicle-to-Everything (V2X) communication, which is a fundamental requirement for improving traffic efficiency in an automated vehicle environment [TAN, 2017]. At the same time, none of the existing scientific methodologies considers non-motorized road users at unsignalized intersections and mixed traffic flow conditions. Research on automated driving currently focuses primarily on the safety implications among AVs and non-motorized user interactions [DIXIT et al., 2016; GANDHI and TRIVEDI, 2007; GORDON et al., 2016; LEVINSON et al., 2011; LITMAN, 2014] in shared spaces. In addition, communicating intentions among road users is important for resolving even common traffic situations, often relying in a mixture of a complex culturally guided series of interactions, including facial expressions and gestures. Thus, AVs are required to be able to comprehend and interpret this communication forms [SANDT et al., 2017]. Google prototype automated vehicles are able to detect and recognize bicyclists and respond to common riding behaviors that are observed on test tracks or on the road. Using machine learning, vehicles are taught to remember and recognize the bicyclists' explicit gestures and correlate them with specific bicyclist behavior [GOOGLE INC., 2016; KRETZSCHMAR and J. ZHU, 2015]. However, the proposed method makes use only of the explicit communication behavior of the bicyclists and specifically the hand gestures to adjust the vehicle driving behavior. It does not comprehend and consider implicit communication behavior features that potentially carry critical intention information. Eventually, bicyclists are not required to perform explicit gestures to communicate their maneuver intentions in traffic.

Additionally, no form of communication or collaboration with other AVs or the bicyclists is implied. Establishment of communication and collaboration among AVs and bicyclists can potentially provide the basis for improving traffic efficiency and safety on the traffic environment. SANTA et al. [2017] investigate the potential of integrating two wheelers (bicyclists and motorcyclists) within the future cooperative intelligent transportation system network. The embedded communication node for the two-wheelers includes software to warn the rider about the approaching of a vehicle through audio and visual notifications. Moreover, a counterpart for cars has also been developed. Based on the identified research gaps, the follwonig primary research question may be formulated that frames the scope of this disseration:

#### How can we resolve complex traffic situations at intersections among bicyclists and fully automated vehicles by optimizing traffic efficiency and utilizing information generated by automated vehicle sensors and bicyclists?

The primary research question can be further analysed and broken down into four research questions that define the framework for this present dissertation.

- 1. How can we predict the bicyclist maneuver intentions?
- 2. How can we quantify and assess the confidence for the bicyclist intention prediction?
- 3. How can we resolve bicyclist interactions with AVs through cooperation?
- 4. How can we optimize mixed AV and bicycle traffic flow?

#### 1.3 Methodology

This section summarizes the methodology that will be followed in this work. Figure 1.1 presents the methodology steps followed. First a thorough review of related scientific work is undertaken. The scientific literature review will establish the basis for the development of the scientific methodology proposed to address the targets of the present dissertation topic and can be divided in three parts.

Section 2.1 will establish the framework for the present work from the AV perspective. It includes the definitions on the established AV automation levels and discusses the core components of the AV system architecture. Eventually, the methods that are developed as part of these work can be integrated with the respective core system components, assuming certain competences and limitations that are derived from the official automation level definitions.

The second part reviews the scientific literature investigating and modelling the behavior of VRUs and particularly bicyclists in the traffic environment. First, a review of related research on road user interactions is performed. The review will focus on identifying the most important aspects and characteristics of these interactions as well as the analysis of the behavior of road users, especially that of bicyclists. Additionally, a review of studies related to the road user communication strategies and behavior in the traffic environment will be performed to identify the key findings and characteristics related to explicit and implicit communication patterns and the methodologies applied to investigate and quantify explicit and implicit communication

behavior by traffic participants. As the bicyclist data collection is performed using a bicycle simulator, a review of bicycle simulator research is undertaken. Here, the literature review will focus on the design and implementation of bicycle simulators of other institutions, the available software as well as the methodology for conducting simulator studies with test subjects. This section will also discuss the competences, properties and use cases of bicycle simulators in test subject studies, as well as their strengths and limitations in scientific research. Finally, a review of the approaches proposed in the scientific literature to model and predict the behavior of bicyclists and non motorized road users will be performed.

The third and final section of the literature review initially focuses on the investigation of related scientific research and present developments in AV technologies and methodologies developed for the cooperation among different agents focusing on solutions for human machine interaction. It highlights studies on the optimization of traffic flow at traffic intersections, the methodologies applied, the results and the evaluation tools utilized, especially with respect to solutions developed primarily for AVs or V2X technologies. An effort will also be made to include relevant research with respect to unsignalised intersections as well as methodologies developed for the optimization of mixed motor vehicle and/or bicycle traffic flow. The methodologies will be reviewed in order to examine the most common scientific approaches for optimizing the traffic flow at traffic intersections and to identify the most often utilized traffic efficiency indicators used in the development of such approaches.

Finally, based on the literature review a research needs assessment will be conducted to clearly define the research questions and the substantial contribution of the present doctoral thesis.

The findings of the literature review contribute in establishing the methodology followed to accomplish the research goals of the doctoral thesis. The target of this work is to develop a scientific solution for resolving complex traffic situations among fully automated vehicles and bicyclists through communication and information exchange among bicycles and fully automated vehicles. The scientific methodology will rely on the long-term prediction of the bicyclists' maneuver intention at the intersection's wider area. This prediction will be based on the information input by the vehicle sensors of fully automated vehicles and on common communication techniques used by bicyclists. Based on the maneuver intention prediction, a spatiotemporal model of the wider intersection area can be developed for predicting the short-term behavior of bicycles and fully automated vehicles. However, in contrast to the AV behavior, the bicyclist behavior is inherently uncertain. In order to quantify the prediction uncertainty, the prediction model is expanded with a method for assessing the prediction confidence. Given the identified traffic situation and the uncertainty quantification, an objective function is then optimized that utilizes information from all road users to implement the most optimal solution in terms of traffic efficiency that resolves the present traffic situation for any number and composition of bicycles and AVs at the intersection approaches. This method is governed by an established cooperation framework among bicycles and automated vehicles that regulates their interactions by conditionally prioritizing bicyclists on minor traffic streams over AVs on major traffic streams. A set of constraints and rules are also determined that ensure safe and conflict free interactions among all road users.

In this context, first a scientific method for the prediction of the bicyclist intentions at the intersection is developed. The scientific method will focus on identifying the bicyclist

maneuver at the intersection area and the present traffic context. As the target is to improve the traffic efficiency, specific study cases at traffic intersections, where through cooperation among automated vehicles and bicycles, the traffic flow can be improved, are defined. For the use case of an unsignalized intersection, common traffic scenarios are modeled in a bicycle simulator [ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2018], where test subjects are instructed to accomplish pre-specified maneuvers in the presence of other vehicles, while adhering to traffic rules. Specifically, the case study of a bicyclist performing the three most common maneuver types at an intersection (left turn, crossing, right turn) is selected and the complexity is reduced to the core question through assumptions and simplifications of the defining problem parameters. Under these assumptions, the broader critical traffic situation is reduced to more specific and clearly defined traffic scenarios involving different number of interacting vehicles and priority rules. The bicycle simulator allows the efficient, safe and cost-effective study of the behavior of multiple test subjects in a controlled environment with entirely identical traffic scenarios and without the influence of external environmental factors. Test subjects ride through the simulated traffic scenarios and generate trajectory data. Using an Intel® RealSense<sup>™</sup> Depth Camera D435, skeleton data including hand gestures, body and head movements of the test subjects are recorded in parallel and classified into gesture archetypes. The scientific methodology for identifying the bicyclist intentions is then developed using the bicyclist trajectory data combined with the implicit and explicit communication data collected during the simulator studies. The proposed prediction model is subsequently coupled with a method for quantifying prediction uncertainty and assessing the prediction confidence.

As a second step, an operational framework for bicycle traffic and AV cooperation is developed using the knowledge gained from the scientific literature review and the developed scientific methodology for the prediction of the bicyclist intentions. The framework defines the behavior of the AV in cases of bicyclists and AV interactions at an unsignalized intersection and intents to improve traffic efficiency for all interacting road users. This work also discusses the communication tools for establishing a communication among the AVs and the bicyclists that will regulate the cooperation of the AVs and bicyclists in the selected study cases.

In particular a method is developed that can serve as a platform for analysing and forecasting the intersection traffic state and conditionally prioritizing bicyclists on minor traffic streams. Based on the traffic state estimation at the intersection approaches for the involved road users, the control strategy decides on the specific control actions at the intersection. The method includes functions for prioritizing bicyclists by creating acceptable gaps between a leading and a following AV for bicyclists to pass through or to merge in traffic. The decision-making process for the prioritization is formulated as a multi objective optimization problem for minimizing the expected delays and number of stops for all road users, based on the prediction probabilities for the intended maneuver of the incoming bicyclists for each traffic stream. Scenarios with varying information accuracy levels and traffic demand are compared and examined in order to assess the efficiency and sensitivity of the developed methodology at different deployment scenarios. The developed algorithm is then evaluated in simulation scenarios with simulated bicyclists in a fully automated vehicle simulation environment. Additional sensitivity studies may be undertaken in order to identify the limitations of the proposed solution.

#### 1 Introduction



Figure 1.1: Methodology flowchart.

## **1.4 Contributions**

The main goals of this work is first to develop a model that predicts the maneuver intentions of bicyclists at intersection approaches. The added information value gained through the prediction model is then integrated into a method that aims to resolve the interactions among bicyclists and AVs at an unsignalized intersection, while ensuring traffic safety and optimizing traffic efficiency. The following points summarize the key contributions of this dissertation for scientific research linked to the research questions defined in section 1.2.

- 1. This work introduces a novel deep learning model based on Bidirectional Long Short Term Memory Networks (B-LSTMs) that predicts the intention of a bicyclist for a specific maneuver class (left-turn, right-turn, straight) at an intersection approach and before entering the intersection area. The behavioral data used for the prediction model development was generated in a physical bicycle simulator through test subject studies. (Research Question 1)
- 2. The developed deep learning model with the best prediction performance results successfully combines features of the dynamic and operational bicyclist behavior with preclassified implicit and explicit gesture archetypes of the bicyclist communication behavior. All evaluated model versions that used bicyclist communication behavior information performed significantly better than the evaluated model version that only utilized dynamic and operational bicyclist behavior features. This work demonstrates the importance of the inclusion of the communication behavior features in the prediction method. Therefore, the findings are transferable for the development of equivalent VRU behavior prediction models for automated driving research. *(Research Question 1)*
- 3. The deep learning model is expanded with a method for quantifying the prediction uncertainty. Therefore, the model is able to self-assess its confidence using certain performance metrics. This combined comprehensive novel approach for resolving the bicyclist maneuver prediction problem has not been previously presented so far (to the best of the author's knowledge) in any relevant scientific research in the fields of human action prediction or automated driving research. (*Research Question 2*)
- 4. The development of an optimization framework for resolving traffic interactions at unsignalized intersections among AVs and bicyclists, by improving traffic efficiency and considering traffic safety. The proposed method demonstrates the importance and the future potential, while identifying limitations for considering VRUs in shared spaces, in a fully automated vehicle traffic environment. (*Research Questions 3 and 4*)

# Chapter 2

## **Literature Review**

This chapter presents and discusses the most important and relevant contents of present scientific research that contributes to the aims of this scientific work. In this context, first section 2.1 outlines and defines the critical functions and system components of AVs and establishes the framework and limitations for the subsequently developed methods. Eventually the developed methods rely on the competences and properties of present AVs and can be potentially integrated in AVs as part of their core functions. Subsequently, sections 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 present the most important developments in the fields of road user behavior analysis, communication behavior and methods for predicting road user behavior in the context of automated vehicle research. The review focuses primarily on bicyclists and additionally includes research that applies to other VRU types, as these findings are also deemed as relevant and transferable to the goals of this dissertation.

A novel approach in this work is the use of behavioral data from a bicycle simulator setup in order to develop a prediction method for bicyclist intentions. In this context, section 2.5 summarizes the most important work in the field of bicycle simulator research, presents the most recent and important bicycle simulators developed by researchers worldwide and discusses their key features, competences and limitations.

Subsequently, this work aims to resolve interactions among AVs and bicyclists. in this context, section 2.6 discusses the most important aspects in the fields of human machine cooperation and communication. Section 2.7 highlights the approaches followed for simulating the driving behavior of AVs and bicyclists. These findings are extensively used later on in the development of the simulation model for the evaluation of the proposed optimization framework. Section 2.8 presents the most important research in the field of traffic flow optimization in fully automated and connected traffic environments. Finally, section 2.9 summarizes and discusses the most important findings from the literature review, determines the research gaps and their implications for the development of the methodological approach and the aims of this dissertation.

#### 2.1 Automated Vehicles

AVs will play a significant role in shaping and defining the future of mobility, logistics and urban transport. Automated vehicle research is expanding in the recent years in an effort to develop automated vehicle functions that increase traffic safety, accessibility, traffic efficiency and reduce environmental emissions and mobility costs. According to ON-ROAD AUTOMATED DRIVING COMMITTEE (ORAD) [2021], six levels of driving automation may be defined

from no driving automation (Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) Level 0) to full driving automation (SAE Level 5). In the lower vehicle automation levels (SAE Level 1 and 2), the driver is required to monitor the driving environment and is assisted by the vehicle for performing either the lateral or longitudinal motion control actions (SAE level 1) or both (SAE level 2). In SAE level 3, the automated driving system performs all dynamic driving tasks but the driver should be ready to take control of the vehicle at any time. In SAE Level 4 and 5, the automated driving system performs all driving tasks in certain (e.g. in highways; SAE level 4) or in all conditions (SAE level 5). Therefore the different levels of automation define different sets of requirements and expectations for the automated vehicle manufacturers, driver, passengers and interacting HRUs. Figure 2.2 presents the descriptions of the different levels of Automated DRIVING COMMITTEE (ORAD), 2021]:



Figure 2.1: Levels of vehicle automation [On-ROAD AUTOMATED DRIVING COMMITTEE (ORAD), 2021].

PENDLETON et al. [2017] defines three key functional elements for AVs: Perception, Planning, Control and presents their interrelations. Perception enables the AV to gather critical information from its environment through the fusion of information generated by multiple sensors. Typically, an AV is equipped with multiple sensors such as LIDAR, radar, cameras or ultrasonic sensors used to extract contextual information from its environment. The architecture and placement of these sensors on the vehicle body is of extreme importance for accurately capturing the vehicle's surroundings and detecting nearby road users [KATRAKAZAS et al., 2015]. Especially in the case of VRUs such as pedestrians and bicyclists, AV vehicle sensors must be able to capture key features of the VRU dynamic and operational and communication behavior and predict their short-term intentions. The importance of this additional information source has already been highlighted in own past research [A. KELER et al., 2020; MALCOLM et al., 2021].

In a second step, the information gathered from the sensors is transferred to the planning system component of the AV that performs decision making actions according to the vehicles higher objectives. AV decision making is a critical area in the automated driving research. PENDLETON et al. [2017] defines three planning sub-components. The mission planner that considers high level objectives, the behavioral planner, which uses a predefined set of rules to make decisions on how to properly interact with other agents and in this process generates local objectives, and the motion planner that generates acceptable paths and/or sets of actions to achieve local objectives. Eventually these problem formulations are typically reduced into a generalized problem description on how to reach a certain position while avoiding possible collisions.

Most AV research focuses on how to resolve the path generation problem based on scenario oriented approaches. DE BEAUCORPS et al. [2017] propose a human-like decision-making algorithm for navigating at unsignalized intersection approaches in the presence of another vehicle. The algorithm is trained using human driver recordings and is based on reference speed profiles for certain interaction scenarios. WANG [2020] suggest an AV decision making framework for identifying the right of way at unsignalized intersections and adjusting the vehicle driving behavior for crossing the intersection area efficiently and safely. HANG et al. [2021] present a decision making framework based on the Stackelberg game and grand coalition game approaches optimized through model predictive control Model Predictive Control (MPC) for the scenario of motion planning in an unsignalized roundabout. NÉMETH and GÁSPÁR [2021] present an optimization method that is based on a reinforcement learning approach that handles the motion of an AV at an unsignalized intersection with other vehicles. The optimizer is trying to minimize the difference between the control input and learning control, while considering constraints regarding acceleration and deceleration, safe distance keeping and collision free motion. DESHMUKH et al. [2022] present in their review more sophisticated approaches based on deep learning methods for training an AV to learn driving policies using the Waymo dataset in specific driving scenarios. Finally, the Control component executes the actions decided by the planning component for the vehicle. Figure 2.2 presents the typical components of an automated vehicle system [PENDLETON et al., 2017].

CAMPBELL et al. [2010] and PENDLETON et al. [2017] additionally highlight a fourth component: "Communication" that has the potential to further improve the performance of the basic three AV system components through the sharing of perception information and cooperation with other road users by communicating the decisions of planning and the state control actions. Also KATRAKAZAS et al. [2015] identify communication and the incorporation of transport engineering aspects in planning as a promising area for further optimizing and improving AVs functions. It is a fact, that already for HRUs, even common traffic scenarios



Figure 2.2: Overview of the typical automated vehicle system components and their interdependencies by PENDLETON et al. [2017].

can be highly complex to resolve as they are required to adjust their behavior according to different often contradicting factors such as their goals, traffic rules and the intentions of other road users. PERDOMO LOPEZ et al. [2017] propose a methodology for AVs to establish a scenario interpretation by defining primary situations, which in turn are based on potential conflicts with other road users. In their methodology they define a set of critical tasks, among which are the intention prediction of other road users and handling occlusions. Fulfilling both of these tasks comes with uncertainty especially as due to occlusion of other road user or other critical elements, the AV might not have accurate estimation of the traffic state.

Communication and cooperation with other AVs in such situations through information sharing offers a solution to handling traffic situation estimation uncertainties and improving the perception and behavior planning of AVs. HUSSEIN et al. [2018] assessed the added benefits of Vehicle-to-Vehicle (V2V) and Pedestrian-to-Vehicle (P2V) communication and cooperative information sharing between two AVs (leader and follower) in a conflict scenario with a VRU. In all study cases with communication active, the AVs demonstrated more efficient driving behavior as the VRU detection was faster while the braking decision was also faster and less aggressive. The utilization of multiple sensor inputs and a collaborative resolution of detection, mapping and the path and motion planning problems for a group of AVs has a also been proposed by SCHWEIZER et al. [2019]. HUBMANN et al. [2018] propose a method for reducing the uncertainty of path planning for AVs that profits from V2V communication, where robots do not always opt for the collision free path but rather assume the cooperation, of humans in the efficient resolution of the motion planning problem.

In conclusion, methods developed in this work, need to be seamlessly integrated within the existing typical AV system modules, while leveraging the available sensors and technologies. Requirements are also established with respect to the autonomy and human supervision and intervention are established. Maintaining the automated status in critical traffic situations is

a driving factor for increased traffic safety and social acceptance. AV Communication and cooperation with other road users is also identified as a critical system component for the future adoption and integration of AVs in urban traffic.

# 2.2 Road User Behavior and Interactions at Traffic Intersections

The decision making of road users in traffic is largely influenced by the traffic rules according to the German Traffic Regulations (Straßenverkehrs-Ordnung) (StVO) [BUNDESMINISTERIUM FÜR VERKEHR UND DIGITALE INFRASTRUKTUR, 2013]. Based on the StVO, an analysis of the legal driving behavior and the interaction with the surrounding road users and the right-of-way regulations at unsignalized intersections is carried out. According to the traffic regulations of the StVO, different priority orders of right-of-way are defined for individual traffic streams. Due to the hierarchy of the right-of-way, each subordinate traffic stream has to consider one or more superordinate traffic streams. The designation and classification of the traffic streams is presented in the following figure for a unsignalized intersection. For bicycle traffic flows on the roadway, the respective designations of the vehicle flows apply.



Figure 2.3: Official designation of traffic streams according to the German Highway Capacity Manual (HBS) [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] at a) an unsignalized intersection with rightof-way signs, b) an unsignalized entry with right-of-way signs. Pedestrian streams are marked with F.xx. Figure adapted from [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015].

Based on Figure 2.3, the hierarchy of superordinate (major) and subordinate (minor) traffic streams can be defined. The ranking of the respective traffic streams indicates how priority is assigned. Based on this hierarchy, interaction scenarios and priority rules between bicyclists and

motorized vehicles may be defined. The scenarios can be defined depending on the respective participating traffic streams and are divided into interaction scenarios within a traffic stream and interaction scenarios among different traffic flows.

Table 2.1: Official priority ranking of traffic streams according to the German Highway Capacity Manual (HBS) [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHR-SWESEN (FGSV), 2015] at a) an unsignalized intersection with right-of-way signs, b) an unsignalized entry with right-of-way signs.

Maneuver	Intersection		Entry	
	Traffic Stream	Rank	Traffic Stream	Rank
Straight on the major road	2, 8	r=1	2, 8	r=1
Right turn from major into				
the minor road	3, 9	r=1	3	r=1
Left turn from major into				
the minor road	1, 7	r=2	7	r=2
Right turn from minor into				
the major road	6, 12	r=2	6	r=2
Straight on the minor road	5, 11	r=3	-	-
Left turn from minor into				
the major road	4, 10	r = 4	4	r=3

The StVO as well as the corresponding traffic regulations in the respective countries might provide the basic framework and ruleset with which interactions among road users are formally handled. Yet in real traffic, different factors associated with the operational and tactical behavior or road users co-influence their behavior and actions. Especially in the case of VRUs, this problem becomes even more complex due to their inherent flexibility in space and their ability to change infrastructure, compared to motorized users. For example a bicyclist might have multiple path options when crossing an intersection. Depending on the available road infrastructure, the bicyclist may choose to perform the crossing maneuver using an available bicycle lane or using the pedestrian sidewalk and the pedestrian crossing. Given the immense variability of traffic scenarios, the variability of traffic infrastructure and personal and social factors large number of possible outcomes and choices for the same fundamental traffic scenario can be observed.

TWADDLE and BUSCH [2019] studied the behavior of bicyclists at signalized intersections. They identified 43 independent features describing situational factors, strategic behavior and prior tactical choices and associated them to specific bicyclist maneuver types observed at signalized intersections. Based on these features tactical behavior choices of bicyclists such as rule breaking behavior, infrastructure selection and maneuver type might can be predicted using regression models.

For the case of crossings at unsignalized intersections a probabilistic framework (based on discrete choice theory) is proposed that models the decision making process of a driver to yield for an incoming bicyclist. For this problem formulation the estimated time of arrival at the conflict point, the vehicle speed and the proximity of the bicyclist to the conflicting zone are the most important factors for modeling the decision process [SILVANO et al., 2016]. In

another study, traffic infrastructure, bicycle volume and traffic control related factors are also found to be associated with bicycle accidents [SAAD et al., 2019].

Therefore, it becomes apparent that the road user behavior during interactions is probabilistic and is accompanied with an inherent lower or, depending on the situation, higher level of uncertainty. Traffic regulations in this case serve not only as a fundamental framework for handling these interactions but also define the probability for specific behavior outcomes of the road users, assuming a universal compliance with the respective traffic rules. Still the behavior of road users in the traffic space remains probabilistic and complex traffic situations often arise.

One method to navigate through and resolve complex traffic situations, is the collaboration with other road users and the communication of road user intentions. Road users communicate their intentions with others in such situations using various informal nonverbal communication cues such as adjusting their dynamic driving behavior (e.g., speed adjustment, acceleration/deceleration) and forms of explicit or implicit gestures (e.g., eye contact, hand movements, head movement) in order to, coordinate joint actions and resolve the traffic situation. For example, bicyclist hand gestures are acknowledged as a formal gesture by the German Traffic Regulations [ALLGEMEINE VERKEHRSREGELN, 2019]. However, the effects of informal communication on road user decisions are not yet fully understood. One relevant study analyzed pedestrian-driver interactions inside a parking area. Results highlighted the importance of non-verbal communication during road user interactions as the use of the head movement and head direction, the use of vehicle-based signals were bevioral features used for negotiating priority among the different user groups. The absence of established non-verbal communication was linked to the driver proactively slowing down [UTTLEY et al., 2020]. This finding clearly illustrates how the absense of communication may lead to the delayed or not optimal-resolution of a traffic interactions.

Thus, the development of automated driving functions has to take into account these informal nonverbal communications with surrounding road users. This is expected to have a positive impact on overall traffic safety and efficiency in mixed traffic with AVs, as well as increasing the level of automation in AVs. Taking into account the communication-based decision making of road users in relevant situations, AVs also need to communicate their intentions. To achieve this goal, it is first important to understand how informal nonverbal communication cues influence road users' decisions and trust, and in which traffic scenarios they occur. In the context of this work, the development of a cooperation framework among AVs and bicyclists need to be able to understand the bicyclist intentions. As interactions with bicyclists are inherently probabilistic, the development of a method that predicts the bicyclist intentions and reduces or quantifies the uncertainty in their future behavior is a crucial component in the context of this work.

#### 2.3 Road User Communication Behavior in Traffic

One of the main causes of safety critical interactions between motor vehicle and bicycle traffic is the lack of cooperation. Cooperation is defined as a joint action in which two or more parties work together for a common benefit or goal. In the case of road transport, this goal describes an accident-free process. In the UR:BAN research project, DOTZAUER et al. [2018]

attributes this to bad experiences with the other of these two road users and the mutual power struggle in traffic.

In addition to official traffic regulations, informal rules and communication among road users result improve traffic safety [FUEST et al., 2017]. Road users use informal and formal means of nonverbal communication that can indicate an intent for a specific action. Informal means of communication are unofficial signals, which result from the shared experience of the road users and the prevailing social norms. These may include "looking around", eye contact or driving dynamics [BRUDER and WINNER, 2019]. Additionally, nonverbal means of communication can be separated into explicit and implicit behaviors [FUEST et al., 2017]. Informal means of communication are unofficial signals, which result more from experience and the prevailing social norms [PORTOULI et al., 2014]. Figures 2.4-2.7 present typical examples of implicit and explicit communication behavior of cyclists as manually selected from video data collected at traffic intersections in Freiburg and Munich, Germany as part of past research [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, KHABIBULIN, et al., 2021; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022]. The images showcase typical examples of bicyclist communication behavior revealing their intentions with respect to their planned maneuver.



Figure 2.4: Study intersection Eschholz-/ Lehenerstraße (Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany) Bicyclist right arm hand gesture (explicit communication) (1) Bicyclist head rotation (implicit communication) (2).



Figure 2.5: Study intersection Oberanger / Rosental / Rindermarkt (Munich, Germany) Bicyclist left arm hand gesture (explicit communication) combined with a stop inside the intersection area for a conditionally compatible left turn maneuver (1).



Figure 2.6: Study intersection Eschholz-/ Lehenerstraße (Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany) Bicyclist left arm hand gesture (explicit communication) before moving from the right side to the left side of the lane and perform a left turn maneuver at the intersection (1).



Figure 2.7: Study intersection Eschholz-/ Lehenerstraße (Bicyclist left arm hand gesture (explicit communication) combined with a left overshoulder look (implicit communication) while performing a lane changing maneuver combined with road infrastructure change (bicycle lane to motor vehicle traffic lane) (1).

So far, there is still too little work that specializes in communication methods of bicyclists [STANCIU et al., 2018]. However, this topic is becoming increasingly important in relation to automated driving. The long-term goal is to completely hand over the communication and the interaction resolution task to the AV, so that the passenger(s) are no longer required to either supervise or intervene during the driving process. In order to be able to develop such systems, it is important to understand the interaction between bicyclists and AVs beforehand and be able to predict the intentions of the bicyclists [DOTZAUER et al., 2018]. Human prediction of intent is largely based on a single strong indicator, e.g. that the bicyclist makes a clear head movement or a certain hand gesture. Several weaker features, which combined could serve as a strong indicator, are likely overlooked or too complex to be handled by humans in real time. Six implicit communication instructions are decisive for the prediction of the bicyclist's behavior: head movement, speed, speed adjustment, leaning, position and pedaling behavior [HEMEREN et al., 2014].

Several scientific studies have determined that hand gestures [DRURY and PIETRASZEWSKI, 1979; STANCIU et al., 2018; VASARDANI et al., 2016; WALKER, 2005; WALKER and BROS-NAN, 2007], eye contact and head movements [STANCIU et al., 2018; HEMEREN et al., 2014; WALKER, 2005; WALKER and BROSNAN, 2007; WESTERHUIS and DE WAARD, 2017] can be decisive explicit and implicit communication cues that reveal a bicyclists intentions and therefore they can be used for developing a method for predicting the behavior of the bicyclists. Additionally, a patent has been filed for predicting the behavior of bicyclists through the analysis of their implicit and explicit communication cues [KRETZSCHMAR and J. ZHU, 2015]. The communication cues can be extracted from the bicyclist using a skeleton-based detection and tracking algorithm [DENG et al., 2018; YAGI et al., 2019]. How drivers interpret implicit and explicit communication cues of bicyclists to predict their behavior has been the focus of some studies [DRURY and PIETRASZEWSKI, 1979; Y. M. LEE and SHEPPARD, 2016; WALKER, 2005].

These studies suggest that implicit and explicit communication cues can be used for the prediction of road user behavior. In the case of executing maneuvers, bicyclists often perform hand gestures to indicate their intended movement direction. As a part of the execution of a maneuver, a bicyclist might execute a sequence of implicit and explicit communication cues. These cues can fall into any of the categories defined by WILBRINK et al. [2018] and can be different cues for different traffic situations and road users. Table 2.2 summarizes a classification of past scientific publications according to specific features of implicit and explicit communication. These features, as defined in scientific research, are the main behavioral features that bicyclist use to reveal their intentions and can be potentially associated with the prediction of bicyclist behavior. In conclusion, the communication behavior of bicyclists in traffic has the potential to provide an additional source of information in predicting their long-term intentions. Moreover, a cooperation framework among AVs and bicyclists that relies on these inherent behavioral traits and does not require from bicyclists any sort of explicit special communication gestures or the use of equipped devices by the bicyclists has the potential to be more accessible and acceptable by all road users.

Feature	Communication Feature Type	References		
Hand gesture	explicit	VASARDANI et al. [2016], DRURY and PIETRASZEWSKI [1979], WALKER [2005], WALKER and BROSNAN [2007], STANCIU et al. [2018], DENG et al. [2018], YAGI et al. [2019], HOU et al. [2020], MALCOLM et al. [2021], ANDREAS KELER, MALCOLM, et al. [2021], and ROBERT [2021]		
Bicycle direction	implicit	MEIJER et al. [2017]		
Eye contact	implicit	WALKER [2005], WALKER and BROSNAN [2007], STANCIU et al. [2018], HEMEREN et al. [2014], WESTERHUIS and DE WAARD [2017], CHALOUPKA-RISSER and FÜSSL [2017], and ROBERT [2021]		
Head movement	implicit	WALKER [2005], WALKER and BROSNAN [2007], HEMEREN et al. [2014], WESTER- HUIS and DE WAARD [2017], DENG et al. [2018], HOU et al. [2020], MALCOLM et al. [2021], and ANDREAS KELER, MALCOLM, et al. [2021]		
Leaning	implicit	HEMEREN et al. [2014] and MALCOLM et al. [2021]		
Lane position	implicit	HEMEREN et al. [2014]		
Pedalling behavior	implicit	HEMEREN et al. [2014]		
Speed	implicit	HEMEREN et al. [2014] and MEIJER et al. [2017]		
Speed adjuste- ment	implicit	[HEMEREN et al., 2014; WESTERHUIS and DE WAARD, 2017; MEIJER et al., 2017]		

Table 2.2: Previous research on the definition of explicit and implicit features of bicyclist communication behavior.

#### 2.4 Road User Behavior Prediction

The prediction of road user intention has been the focus of extensive research in the fields of traffic safety, traffic control and automated driving. Especially AVs are required to interact with other human road users in interactive and cooperative decision-making processes. In this context, the intentions of other road users need to be deduced and integrated into a decisionmaking framework for AVs. HRUs make use of different types of contextual information in their short-term and long-term decision-making process when interacting with other nearby road users. Sources of this type of information may include the dynamic, operational, and tactical behavior of nearby road users. Also, implicit and explicit communication are often used by road users to indicate their intentions and are used both as a form of communication as well as subconsciously for decision making purposes. For example, bicyclists often utilize hand gestures to indicate a maneuver they will perform. Deceleration or acceleration processes can also hint a specific maneuver or driving action. Additionally, implicit communication cues such as head movements and eye contact are also part of the communication strategies often employed in traffic by road users to reveal their intentions to other road users, who in turn can use this information to forecast their behavior. For example, a pedestrian intending to cross the road would normally perform a visual check for oncoming vehicles before crossing the road. From the vehicle driver's perspective, this information is crucial as it serves as an indicator for forecasting the pedestrian's intentions.

In this context, special implicit and explicit characteristics of bicyclists' communication behavior may be used together with other behavioral features in forecasting their intentions in specific traffic situations. For HRUs, such types of information may be understandable in a specific social and cultural context. However, for AVs, the understanding of bicyclist behavior is challenging in predicting the bicyclist intentions. AVs must be able to understand and predict the behavior of other road users in order to avoid safety critical situations and navigate safely in complex urban traffic environments. Additionally, resolving complex traffic interactions without passenger interaction with human-like behavior can further improve their acceptability among road users. Thus, the comprehension of the behavior of VRUs such as bicyclists can play a crucial role for AVs in supporting their automated operation in urban road environments.

Several approaches have been proposed for the intention prediction of human actions in the area of automated driving and road user behavior research. Most proposed approaches address either the trajectory and sequence prediction problem or the classification problem of specific actions that will be performed by road users in a future time horizon. Most recent scientific work on this topic relies on Ensemble Methods, Artificial Neural Networks (ANNs), Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs), Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) and Long Short Term Memory Network (LSTM) based models or combinations of these approaches tailored to address different properties and limitations of the respective research question. POOL et al. [2019] propose a RNN network for bicyclist path prediction trained on a dataset that includes 51 tracks of a bicyclist approaching an intersection with the possibility to perform a left turn or continue straight. They also utilize the bicyclist hand gestures as an additional feature and achieve an average prediction error of 33 cm when predicting the future position one second into the future. Random forest classifiers in conjunction with functional discretization have been

used to analyze the trajectories of cars approaching an intersection and predict the intended maneuver [BARBIER et al., 2017]. Their dataset is a hybrid of real (20%) and simulated data (80%). Results show an 82% prediction accuracy in longitudinal maneuver classification and 80% accuracy on driving direction classification. SCHNEEGANS and BIESHAAR [2018] develop a Deep Residual Neural Network (ResNet) model (ResNet expands the standard CNN) for predicting bicyclist initial movement classes (waiting, starting and moving) using accelerometer and gyroscope inputs from the bicycle sensors/ They achieve a mean f1-score of 95% for the classification of the respective classes.

Several researchers propose LSTM based methods for human action prediction and classification. LSTM models have proven successful in learning and generalizing properties found in sequential data. An approach is proposed by LOSING et al. [2017] for the bicyclist start intention detection utilizing their head trajectories based on LSTM cells able to handle sequences of different lengths. In their work, 206 cases of stop and move actions of bicyclists are investigated and with an input sequence length of 1.0 s, an f1-score of 96.2% on average is achieved 0.680 s after the first movement of the bicycle.

A B-LSTM and a LSTM with two stacked layers that use bicyclists' sequential positions data to predict their future trajectories is proposed in [SALEH et al., 2018]. The researchers evaluate their approaches using 130 trajectories from the Tsinghua-Daimler Cyclist Benchmark (TDC Benchmark) dataset for two prediction horizons (5 or 15 steps ahead) of the bicyclists' trajectories as well as against baseline approaches. Results show significant gains over the tested baseline approaches with more than 50% in mean error score averaged over all the tested bicyclists' trajectories.

An intention prediction model for pedestrians based on a CNN for the pose estimation and a LSTM for the intention recognition is proposed in [FANG and A. M. LOPEZ, 2019]. The f1-score for pedestrian intention recognition on stopping and crossing classes ranges from 71% and 72% to 87% and 85% for the prediction horizon 1/16 second and 1 second respectively.

Z. HUANG et al. [2021] propose a LSTM framework, that uses bicylist motion input along with information on the bicyclist interactions with the road and other users to predict the bicyclist trajectory. The proposed method manages to reach an average prediction error of 0.41m, while the prediction error is 0.86m for a 2.4 second prediction horizon.

The NGSIM Dataset is used by BENTERKI et al. [2020] to train a hybrid approach for an automated vehicle that integrates maneuver classification using ANNs and trajectory prediction using LSTM networks to identify the future positions of nearby vehicles. The proposed approach can predict driver intention to change lanes on average 2.2 seconds in advance. Three maneuver classes are defined, Lane Change to the Right (LCR), Lane Change to the Left (LCL) and Lane Keeping (LK). The classification accuracy is 86.2%. for 3s sequences and reach up to 97.49% for 6s sequences.

Xu et al. [2017] combine a LSTM temporal encoder with a fully convolutional visual encoder to predict discrete and continuous driving actions. For predicting the discrete driving action classes straight, stop, left turn, right turn, they test different model architectures and types and size of data input and reach a maximum prediction accuracy of 84.6% for the temporal convolution as the temporal fusion mechanism (TCNN9). The CNN-LSTM approach also achieves a comparable performance as TCNN9 (84.5%).

Finally, a LSTM-based model is presented by KHAIRDOOST et al. [2020] that predicts driver

maneuvers. They utilize driver cephalo-ocular behavioral information (driver gaze information, head movements, etc.) and vehicle dynamics as features to train their model. The model demonstrates 84.2% and 82.9% precision and recall accuracy respectively for the prediction of five maneuver classes.

In summary, the scientific approaches found in the literature are not easily comparable with each other in terms of their performance. All approaches are addressing different prediction or classification problems. They are also developed tailored to their given dataset, where depending on the data input type specific types of neural networks are preferred. In the case of image or video data input, CNN or CNN-LSTM based models are proposed, while in the case of trajectory data input mostly LSTM based models are proposed. However, most of the found scientific approaches are based partially or entirely on LSTM models or their variations. Also, performance comparisons against other proposed models show that LSTM based architectures outperform other common types of neural networks in the classification and prediction of human behavior. Additionally, none of the reviewed models include a method that addresses the uncertainty problem of the prediction estimation. These literature review findings are important for the further development of the AV and bicyclist cooperation framework as they support the use of artificial neural network types that are capable of handling sequential data for predicting road user intentions. Additionally, they identify significant research gaps in the present scientific research in the field of bicyclist behavior prediction for automated driving solutions, as the topic of the long term prediction of the bicyclist maneuver intention has not been sufficiently addressed, whereas similar problem definitions do not fully consider the bicyclist communication behavior features.

#### 2.5 Review of Bicycle Simulator Research

This section presents the most important findings on present research regarding bicycle simulators. In comparison to field observations and experiments, simulator studies have the potential to research human behavior efficiently, consistently and systematically in safe, repetitive, and controlled environments. Specifically bicycle simulators can be used for reveal insights on the bicyclist behavior, assessing traffic infrastructure, evaluating communication concepts and testing traffic control solutions. Based on the targets and research focus objectives of the respective researchers, bicycle simulators can have a variety of properties and special features used explicitly to model or gather data on specific areas of bicyclist behavior.

A starting property of differentiation among the different bicycle simulators is their ability to simulate bicycle stabilization dynamics and physics. Typical examples are the KAIST Interactive Bicycle Simulator [KWON et al., 2001] and the the DLR bicycle simulator [MARTINEZ, 2021].

The KAIST Interactive Bicycle Simulator integrates a motion generation system that integrates a Stewart platform, that consists of 6 linear actuators and upper and lower platforms. It provides 6 degrees of freedom motion to the bicycle, handle and pedal resistance systems which are attached to the handlebars and the rear wheel. A dynamics module calculates the location and the velocity of the bicycle and reactive forces. The visual and motion cues and reactive forces are then fed back to the test subject [KWON et al., 2001]. Similarly, BRUZELIUS and AUGUSTO [2018] designed a bicycle simulator on top of a motion platform with 8 degrees of freedom. The motion platform provides motion feedback that replicates the experience of a real bicycle ride. MARTINEZ [2021] use a simpler approach, where a stationary bicycle frame is mounted on a motion platform with two degrees of freedom that reproduces the pitch and roll movement. Here the main purpose is to simulate road inclination, lean angle, external forces acting on the bicycle and different road surfaces. A headwind simulator is integrated in this setup that creates wind airflow for immersion while riding at different velocities. Figure 2.8 presents a selection of simulators with integrated bicycle dynamics and physics simulation capabilities.



(a) The KAIST Interactive Bicycle Simulator [KWON et al., 2001]



(b) The DLR Bicycle Simulator [MARTINEZ, 2021]



- (c) The VTI Bicycle Simulator [BRUZELIUS and AUGUSTO, 2018]
- Figure 2.8: Typical examples of bicycle simulators focusing on the simulation of bicycle dynamics and physics.

These simulators are able to capture and replicate bicycle dynamics in high detail, however

they remain highly complex. Most bicycle simulator research focuses on traffic safety, bicyclist behavior in traffic and the evaluation of bicycle infrastructure, where the integration of bicycle dynamics is not regarded of high importance with respect to the study objectives [SCHRAMKA et al., 2017; HUEMER et al., 2022; ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2018; COBB et al., 2021; X. GUO et al., 2022]. Such simulators are more modular comprising of a physical bicycle mounted on a trainer [SCHRAMKA et al., 2017; HUEMER et al., 2022; ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2022; ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2018; X. GUO et al., 2022] or a stationary platform [COBB et al., 2021], where sensors are attached to the front wheel and the rear wheel in order to extract information on the speed and riding direction of the bicyclist. A special additional attribute of the bicycle simulator by X. GUO et al. [2022] is that an adaptive, real-time indoor bicycle grade simulator is attached to the front fork of the bicycle that inclines the bicycle body front depending on the simulated road grade. Such bicycle simulator setups are in turn easier and more cost-efficient to design and operate as they do not rely complex mechanical modules and setups that are necessary for simulating bicycle dynamics.

When it comes to the simulation environment, most simulators rely on well established opensource 3D graphics platforms such as Unity or Unreal Engine. KWON et al. [2001] however use their own developed visual engine, while ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al. [2018], COBB et al. [2021] and HUEMER et al. [2022] utilize commercial solutions. Certain deviations are identified in the case of the simulation of road user behavior. Respectively, simulators either rely on scripting and predefining the behavior of other road users or some integrate and couple with microscopic traffic simulation software such as PTV Vissim [SCHRAMKA et al., 2017] or Simulation of Urban Mobility (SUMO) [ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2018]. However, SCHRAMKA et al. [2017] uses PTV Vissim to model only the surrounding traffic and infrastructure, while there is no consideration for modeling interactions realistically between the test subject and other road users. Unless the behavior of other road users is not scripted, road users won't interact with the test subject.

In contrast, the bicycle simulator by ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al. [2018] integrates this additional feature as other road users are controlled by SUMO, while the bicycle simulator inputs are communicated to SUMO via the Traffic Control Interface (TraCl) which allows for realistic and unscripted interactions between the simulated road users and the test subject. Thus, it is possible to model complex traffic situations with multiple road users as that may have a variety of different outcomes depending on the personal characteristics of each test subject.

Finally, the visualization and the feedback of the 3D environment back to the test subject typically relies on the use of monitors [ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2018; HUEMER et al., 2022; COBB et al., 2021; SUN and QING, 2018], projection screens [KWON et al., 2001; SUN and QING, 2018; BRUZELIUS and AUGUSTO, 2018], head mounted display KWON et al. [2001] or VR glasses [SCHRAMKA et al., 2017; KWON et al., 2001; SUN and QING, 2018; BRUZELIUS and AUGUSTO, 2018; MARTINEZ, 2021; X. GUO et al., 2022]. SUN and QING [2018] are also able to vary the visualization component depending on the research objectives. Figure 2.9 presents a selection of examples of the 3D simulation environments used by bicycle simulators.



Figure 2.9: Examples of bicycle simulator simulation environments.

SUMO

So far bicycle simulators have been used in a variety of studies that are mainly assessing bicycle infrastructure, traffic safety and study bicyclist behavior in specific traffic situations. The OSU bicycle simulator [COBB et al., 2021] has been deployed in several simulator studies. It has been used to quantify the factors influencing bicyclist perceived level of comfort with varying surrounding traffic conditions M. G. ABADI and HURWITZ [2018]. COBB et al. [2021] used the bicycle simulator to study the effect of traffic infrastructure on bicyclist behavior using the speed, horizontal displacement, and physiological responses tracked by a Shimmer3 GSR + Sensor. In another study JASHAMI et al. [2022] measured the bicyclist physiological response and eye tracking at vehicle loading zones of varying dimensions in order evaluate alternative engineering design alternatives and propose solutions for the dimensioning of vehicle loading zones. SCOTT-DEETER et al. [2022] assessed different intersection traffic engineering treatments (bike box, mixing zone, bicycle signal control) for defining which solution is the most effective at mitigating turning vehicle-bicycle collisions at signalized intersections. Their analysis was based on several parameters including the lateral position in lane, eye-tracking fixations, level of stress as well as questionnaire survey results.

NAZEMI et al. [2021] used the ETH bicycle simulator [SCHRAMKA et al., 2017] to assess the perceived level of safety on bicycle infrastructure with different types, dimensions and color treatments depending on varying ambient pedestrian and motor vehicle traffic volume in an effort to understand the needs of existing and potential bicyclists. HUEMER et al. [2022] used
their simulator to evaluate different types of on-street markings for road sections with and without bicycle lanes adjacent to longitudinal parking lanes.

THORSLUND and LINDSTRÖM [2020] used the VTI bicycle simulator [BRUZELIUS and AUGUSTO, 2018] in order to study the behavior of bicyclists crossing an intersection and coming into confict with right turning vehicles. In the bicycle simulator study, they varied the vehicle type, the lane markings and lane width, in order to understand how different traffic and infrastructure rleated characteristics affect the behavior of bicyclists and their perceived safety and comfort. For that they analyzed the test subjects trajectories, speed and positioning along the lane.

LINDNER, GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, et al. [2022] used their coupled AV-bicycle simulator [LINDNER, ANDREAS KELER, et al., 2022] to assess a mobile application-based communication concept for resolving bicyclist and AV interactions at intersections using a smartphone for the bicyclist and an Internal Human Machine Interface (iHMI) for the AV passenger. The aim of the study was to increase safety at interaction points with AVs and increase acceptance and trust towards AVs in real traffic. The bicyclist would turn left at the intersection, while the AV would approach from the opposite direction. The bicyclist then receives instructions from the AV when approaching the intersection area regarding the right-of-way regulation. The AV state and decision is also communicated to the AV passenger (another test subject) via the iHMI. In certain scenarios the AV passenger is also prompted to use iHMI and decide how the priority should be handled. Overall the application increased the perceived safety when interacting with an AV.

The bicycle simulator of ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al. [2018] has been also deployed in several studies for investigating bicyclist behavior as well as assessing bicycle infrastructure treatments. H. KATHS, ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al. [2019] used the bicycle simulator to assess the trajectories from the test subjects and compare them with real trajectories from video observations. H. KATHS, ANDREAS KELER, GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, et al. [2021] also evaluated different dimensions and designs for urban bicycle highways using the bicycle simulator. In a follow-up study, they used the bicyclist trajectory data from H. KATHS, ANDREAS KELER, GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, et al. [2021] to calibrate the Wiedemann 99 car-following model for bicycle traffic [H. KATHS, ANDREAS KELER, and BOGENBERGER, 2021] as collecting this type of data in reality is extremely difficult. MAL-COLM et al. [2021] have used the bicycle simulator to analyze the bicyclist communication behavior in common traffic situations. Table 2.3 summarizes the most important properties of bicycle simulators found in the scientific literature.

In conclusion, bicycle simulators have been extensively used for studying bicyclist behavior efficiently, consistently and systematically in safe, repetitive, and controlled environments. In contrast field tests or real traffic observations are complex and cost-intensive, while their outcomes might not be representative depending on the research aims. As part of this research a model that predicts the bicyclist maneuver intention needs to be developed. Thus, the generation of a bicyclist behavior dataset is an important step towards the development of a data driven model for the bicyclist behavior prediction. Equivalently to the controlled field experiments that are often used in the context of AV research in the generation of data and the development of of automated vehicle functions, a bicycle simulator can provide the opportunity for the generation of a high detail dataset through safe, repetitive, controlled and cost-efficient

experiments. Also in contrast to field experiments, bicycle simulator test subjects will have to opportunity to experience identical traffic scenarios, without external environmental factors influencing their behavior. Finally, the laboratory setup will enable the extraction of highly accurate behavioral data, free from sensor noise and environmental effects as would be the case in real world experiments.

Туре		Simulation Soft- ware	Visualization	Research Objec- tives	Special Features	Reference
Physical Simulator	Bicycle	SILAB 6.0	2 x 3 monitors	bicycle infrastruc- ture	5.1 surround sound system	HUEMER et al. [2022]
Physical Simulator	Bicycle	ZouSim	projection screens with projectors, virtual reality (VR) goggle, large screen monitors, stereoscopic 3D monitors	bicycle infrastruc- ture, bicycle traf- fic control, traffic safety	Multiple display options depend- ing on research objectives	SUN and QING [2018]
Physical Simulator	Bicycle	Unity coupled with PTV Vissim	VR glasses	bicycle infrastruc- ture	Resistance unit for modelling slopes and other physical forces	Schramka et al. [2017]

Table 2.3: Bicycle simulators in scientific research.

Туре	Simulation Soft- ware	Visualization	Research Objec- tives	Special Features	Reference
Physical Bicycle Simulator	Different versions have been imple- mented: DYNA4, DYNAanimation, CARLA (Unreal Engine), Unity. All versions are cou- pled with SUMO for simulating road user behavior	1 to 4 monitors	Bicycle infrastruc- ture, traffic con- trol infrastructure, traffic safety, bi- cyclist behavior in traffic	Depth camera for communication behavior detec- tion, non-scripted realstic simulated user behavior and interactions using SUMO, a large variety of avail- able simulation environments	Andreas Keler, J. Kaths, et al. [2018]
Coupled AV- Bicycle Simulator	Unity	1 monitor	AV-Bicyclist inter- action, HMI evalu- ation	Coupled AV- Bicycle Simulator, depth camera for communication behavior detec- tion, mobile device interconnection	LINDNER, AN- DREAS KELER, et al. [2022]
Physical Bicycle Simulator	Kitten Visual Simulator (self- developed)	Beam Projector or Head Mounted Display	Bicycle Dynamics Simulation	Full motion gener- ation and force re- action system	Kwon et al. [2001]

Table 2.3: Bicycle simulators in scienti	fic research.
--	---------------

Simulation Soft- Visualization Туре **Research Objec- Special Features Reference** tives ware Physical Bicycle Not defined VR glasses infrastruc- -HERN et al. [2017] Road Simulator ture design, traffic safety Physical Bicycle SimCreator Soft- 1 monitor Surround COBB et al. [2021] Road infrassound Simulator speakers, Galvanic tructure design. ware traffic safety, Skin Response (GSR) bicyclist behavior sensor and physiological integration responses Bicycle VTI SimIV Physical Projection screen Bicycle Dynamics Motion platform Bruzelius and Simulator with 8 degrees of Simulation, road AUGUSTO [2018] infrastructure defreedom and THORSLUND and LINDSTRÖM sign, traffic safety, bicyclist behavior [2020] Bicycle Dynamics Physical Bicycle Unreal Engine 4 VR glasses Motion platform, MARTINEZ [2021] Simulator Simulation, road VR gloves, headinfrastructure dewind simulator sign, traffic safety, bicyclist behavior

Table 2.3: Bicycle simulators in scientific research.

Table 2 3 <sup>.</sup>	Bicycle simulators	in scientific research
Table 2.5.	Dicycle simulators	in scientine research.

Туре	Simulation Soft- ware	Visualization	Research Objec- tives	Special Features	Reference
Omni-Reality and Cognition Lab Bi- cycle Simulator	Unity	VR glasses	Bicyclist behavior and physiological responses	Front body inclina- tion, eye tracker, headwind simula- tor	X. GUO et al. [2022]

### 2.6 Human-Machine Communication and Cooperation

This section summarizes and presents results from the literature review on human-machine cooperation. It is assumed that for vehicles in full-automated driving mode, no human control is required [INAGAKI, 2006; INAGAKI and FURUKAWA, 2004]. Therefore in the context of this research, the AV is responsible to interact, cooperate and resolve the traffic situation presented with other HRUs (human drivers, pedestrians, bicyclists). Present research in the field of human-machine cooperation and automated driving focus in two main research areas. The first area of research adresses the development of cooperation frameworks among humans and robots or AVs and the modeling of human machine interactions. The second research field is directed towards the development and evaluation of solutions that enable humanmachine communication. These are implemented through the use of HMIs that either reveal the intentions of the AV in certain interaction scenarios or relay a message to the human interacting with the AV for undertaking a specific action. Finally, the literature review in this section aims to present the most important research in the fields of human and robot or AV and findings on HRU and AVs communication through the use of HMI concepts and solutions. In this effort, the review will not only focus on bicyclists as not sufficient research has been found that can fully cover the respective research areas. Especially, research in the fields of human and machine collaboration and the development of cooperation frameworks is not generalized for humans without differentiating in different types or categories. Also some research findings in the areas of HRU and AVs communication are transferable for bicyclists as in their core they involve human and AV interactions.

LICHTENTHÄLER and KIRSCH [2016] present a comprehensive literature review of findings, assumptions and methods for developing legible robot behavior. They define robot behavior as legible if a human observer or "interactor" is able to comprehend the robot's intentions, which means that a human can predict the robot's objective, its trajectory and the meaning of a communication gesture or message. Secondly, the robot behavior should meet the expectations of the human observer or "interactor". The motion and actions of a robot are also considered legible when they are human-like, stereotypical, efficient, as visible as possible, and take into account social constraints and human preferences. These definitions can be expanded to AVs, as they are essentially robots interacting with HRUs in a shared space environment.

According to KRUSE et al. [2010], the generation and execution of action plans for human and robot collaboration imposes additional challenges with respect to social rules and legibility and differentiates in domains with static and moving humans. In their work they present the concept of optimistic planning by adding cost functions in predictive human motion planning so that a robot does not identify humans in the vicinity as static obstacles. Therefore, in their motion planning solutions, robots do not always opt for the collision free path but rather assume the cooperation of humans in the efficient resolution of the motion planning problem. They finally propose the use of explicit communication for communication the robot's intentions in possible deadlock situations.

SALEH et al. [2017] consider the behavior of VRUs as unpredictable and highlight the importance of facilitating trust in their interactions with AVs. They proceed to propose a framework for the trust modeling of VRUs that is integrated in a typical AV system architecture. The most important components of their model are the short-term and long-term intent prediction of the VRUs that is used to understand their goals, the behavioral executive component that decides behavior of the vehicle in the given situation and the intent communication interface that relays the decision of the vehicle to the VRUs through a suitable interface. Using this workflow, trust is established among the relevant parties based on a shared intent understanding. HRU intent recognition and prediction is therefore an important component in facilitating AV and HRU collaboration. The significance of explicit auditory and visual communication from the AV to the HRU and the recognition of HRU detection for different AV driving behavior states is also highlighted by MERAT et al. [2018].

Based on the work of  $K_{RUSE}$  et al. [2010] and the discussed principles on human and robot cooperation an example for a communication and cooperation framework for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions at complex traffic situations is described in Figure 2.10.



Example of the cost function modeling of moving and standing human for the motion planning process adapted for the use case of a cooperation and communication framework for AVs and bicyclists at an unsignalized intersection.

**Red** to **Green** gradient for bicyclists shows the cost function modelling depending on the path planning of the respective AV (v1,v2). The cost function assumes different shape and size depending on the bicyclist movement.

Stopped left turning bicyclists **Red** have to provide priority to the major traffic stream users.

#### i) Initial State:

- 1. v1 plans its motion path. Assuming that there is some form of communication or collaboration framework with bicyclists b1 and b2, they might opt to move to the right side and free up space for the faster and more efficient motion of v1.
- v2 is hindered by the high number of waiting bicyclists inside the intersection area and cannot proceed before they clear the area. Motion planning is either to complex or not possible to be resolved.

# ii) Intersection Communication and Cooperation Framework:

Assuming a communication and cooperation framework among human and AV users exists, v1 may decide to adjust its speed or path and provide priority to the waiting left turning bicyclists. The priority right is communicated explicitly from the AV to the bicyclists. This decision...

- effectively reduces the complexity of the motion planning process both for itself as well as for v2.
- Optimizes traffic performance on the system level as multiple bicyclists are prioritized and v2 can move forward as the bicyclist queue dissolves.
- Improves safety as it reduces the probability that the AV prompts the passenger or an external teleoperator to assume control and resolve the traffic situation.
- Figure 2.10: Presentation of an AV-bicyclist cooperation and communication framework for resolving the motion planning problem for AVs. Figure partially adapted from KRUSE et al. [2010].

FUEST et al. [2017] present in their work a taxonomy for traffic situations, for assessing communication and cooperation solutions between AVs and HRUs. They identify a series of features that have a significant influence on the communication among the relevant counterparties. These include the driving speed, the right-of-way, the intentions of the AVs and the HRUs regarding the right-of-way, the HRU type, the lateral and longitudinal distance between the interacting parties, the travel speed, the AV driving direction, the AV perspective, the state of attention of the HRU during the interaction and the impairment of the perception of the HRU. Most importantly, in their taxonomy, they identify the right-of-way as a negotiation parameter between AVs and HRUs, while they consider speed as an attribute that affects the understanding of the HRUs of the situation. In this sense a degree of cooperation is expected

among HRUs and AVs in traffic. Another research suggests that in scenarios, with right-ofway negotiation, the AVs should initiate the communication, communicate the right-of-way explicitly and implicitly through their dynamic behavior while not changing their maneuver to ensure safety and increase efficiency. The combination of implicit and explicit communication was rated as highly comprehensible, increased traffic safety during the interactions, increased traffic efficiency and reduced decision time [RETTENMAIER, DINKEL, et al., 2021].

Finally, addressing the correct road user group in a cooperation scenario is also significant. HÜBNER et al. [2022] investigated the safety, efficiency and legibility in a multi-agent road crossing simulator scenario where an AV addressed a human driver and a pedestrian. The communication concept of the automated vehicle consisted of combined implicit communication by using the speed profile and lateral offset within the traffic lane, and explicit communication an External Human Machine Interface (eHMI). They identified a learning effect for pedestrians, when distinguishing the correctly addressed partner (themselves or the human driver). This did not apply to the human drivers as they did not detect the pedestrian in time and felt misaddressed. Misaddressed pedestrians on the other hand, proceeded to cross the road which led to safety critical interactions. Finally, traffic efficiency parameters improved for test subjects with correct behavior sequences. Results, highlight the importance that HMI design characteristics should integrate solutions for addressing the correctly intended users. All users should first understand that they are not being addressed and subsequently can imply and predict the behavior of all users in a given scenario.

VINKHUYZEN and CEFKIN [2016] highlight the importance that AVs should interact and collaborate with HRUs in socially acceptable manners. They additionally signify the importance of contextual information during the driving task. For example, a human driver driving on an empty road with kids playing in the surrounding might preemptively reduce the vehicle's speed. They also discuss the social acceptability that in certain traffic situations formal driving rules have to be partially breached or overlooked in order to resolve traffic situations in a socially acceptable manner. They conclude that the integration of social practices and contextual information into automated driving algorithms is a required step towards the social acceptance of automated driving. The social perspective of human and AV interactions are also explored by ROBERT [2021]. Context information, the adoption of social norms, the consideration of individual characteristics should be considered together with rule and guideline compliance in AV design.

When it comes to facilitating the communication and collaboration of HRUs and AVs, the majority of recent research focuses on development of solutions based on eHMIs [KASS et al., 2020]. VINKHUYZEN and CEFKIN [2016] proposed an eHMI concept named the Intention Indicator that uses a blue light strip running along the sides and front of the car, as well as a display in the window that are used to display the intention of the AV in traffic interactions. HOU et al. [2020] developed a series of interface designs for assisting AV-cyclist interactions. These interfaces include a laser projection on the pavement in front of the interface bicyclist, a car window screen, a bicycle Heads-Up Display (HUD), a helmet verbal audio, a helmet nonverbal audio, and handlebar vibration. They identified that such interfaces can improve the bicyclist confidence during lane merging scenarios. However they also found that bicyclists relied on the communication cues instead of visual interpretations of the vehicle

behavior to make merging decisions, which might result in safety critical situations in mixed traffic. The developed interface concepts for bicyclist and AV communication are presented in Figure 2.11.



Figure 2.11: Interface concepts that were implemented and tested in the virtual reality bicycle simulator study conducted by HOU et al. [2020]: (A) Laser Projection, (B) Car Window Screen, (C) Bicycle Heads-Up Display (HUD), (D) Helmet Verbal Audio, (E) Helmet Nonverbal Audio, (F) Handlebar Vibration.

eHMIs are found to increase the efficiency of HRU and AV interactions [PAPAKOSTOPOULOS et al., 2021]. In a field experiment with an AV equipped with an eHMI, pedestrians crossed the road faster with a higher speed than when the vehicle was not equipped with an eHMI. They also rated higher their ability to infer the yielding behavior of the vehicle. SoNG et al. [2018] studied different eHMIs types used to communicate the intention to give right-of-way to pedestrians through an online survey. Results suggested slight tendencies within the eHMI types and significant differences were identified between implicit (no eHMI) and explicit (with eHMI) communication in the crossing frequency and the reaction time of the survey participants.

JOISTEN et al. [2021] proceeded a step further and focused their research additionally on the investigation of intercultural aspects in the efficiency of eHMIs for AV and pedestrian interactions. In an online video survey they introduced a German (N = 126) and Chinese (N = 79) group of participants and evaluated their response to a crossing scenario with an interacting yielding AV. They concluded that the "walking person" eHMI had more consistent effects in improving crossing willingness and trust against AVs for both samples compared to a "smiling face" sign and a no eHMI symbol. Similar results are presented by BAZILINSKYY et al. [2022]. In their study they investigated the decision making of a bicyclist to cross or to brake in the presence of an automated on human driven vehicle, at different Time-to-Collision (TTC) levels and with or without an eHMI. In the presence of the eHMI with the "GO" sign on the vehicle rooftop, a significant majority of study participants decided not to break proactively in contrast to all scenarios without the eHMI.

At the same time WINTER and DODOU [2022] argue whether eHMIs are crucial for the the efficient and safe interaction among HRUs and AVs. They present a comprehensive review of present scientific research as well as the results from research projects and conclude on

a series of main argument point against and in favor of the use of eHMIs. Among other arguments they highlight the fact that vehicle movement actually communicate the intentions of the vehicle and, overreliance, that there is a great variation of eHMI concepts that lead to confusion. On the other hand, positive traits of eHMIs include that they complement implicit communication as it can also be not understood and lead to confusion and most importantly they can communicate the level of automation or the automation status of the AV, which can set the framework for trusted and safe interactions with HRUs. KASS et al. [2020] focused their research in assessing whether eHMIs are useful for supporting AV and bicycle interactions. In a bicycle simulator study 20 test subjects encountered different interaction scenarios with an AV. Results showed that the eHMI increased efficiency for bicyclists when the AV braked. However, the eHMI also provoked safety-critical behavior during some interactions, where the vehicle continued to drive.

Some studies have therefore focused on solely using the vehicle dynamic behavior for developing implicit communication strategies for resolving HRU and AV interactions. ACKERMANN et al. [2019] used the deceleration and speed of the vehicle as a form of informal implicit communication cue. Significantly shorter reaction times for higher deceleration rate and lower speed are observed. They propose that future communication among AVs and pedestrians can be based on the vehicle dynamic driving behavior by applying a smooth and early deceleration. BENGLER et al. [2020] define this as the Dynamic Human Machine Interface (dHMI) and suggest that such behavior can be part of both external and internal communication. Conventional driving dynamics and specially designed trajectories may be used to communicate the intentions of the vehicle. RETTENMAIER and BENGLER [2021] developed and tested solutions for yielding the right-of-way or to taking over the right-of-way using only the vehicle dynamics. Specifically in a driving simulator study in bottleneck scenarios with an AV and a human driver, they adjusted the AV speed (maintain speed, one-step deceleration, two-step deceleration) and the lateral offset of the AV (no offset, close offset, distant offset) to indicate whether the AV will yield or maintain the right-of-way. Results showed that test subjects had a better anticipation of the AV intention and its future behavior due to the change in the lateral offset. They also evaluated the lateral offset as significantly more comprehensible than speed adjustment, while the absence of the lateral offset resulted in less comprehensible AV movements.

Literature findings from the field of human-machine communication and cooperation highlight the importance of considering human factors in the design of automated driving functions. Cooperation and communication solutions among AVs and HRUs have to rely on the assumption that not only the vehicle but also the interacting human will cooperate in resolving a complex interaction often to the AV's benefit. In this context the AV behavior has to be legible in the context of the respective traffic interaction. Additionally, the AV state and intention has to be communicated accurately to the respective road user group. According to previous research, communication from the side of the AV should optimally rely on an appropriate combined eHMIs and dHMIs solution. These findings are important considerations for the development of a cooperation framework for AVs as the solution design has to consider these factors for the definition of the specific AV functions as well as for the rules and assumptions that will regulate the AV and bicyclist interactions. These will ultimately result in requirements and limitations for the proposed method.

### 2.7 Simulation of Road User Behavior

### 2.7.1 Simulation of Automated Vehicles

With the ever increasing scientific interest and development of automated vehicle technologies, the simulation of AVs and their functions is an essential step towards accelerating the development and the evaluation of new automated vehicle technologies as well as measuring and understanding the effects of the future introduction of AVs in real traffic. A variety of methodologies have been adopted by researchers in the fields of AV research, intelligent transportation systems and traffic engineering in an effort to simulate and develop models of automated vehicles to simulated automated vehicle functions. Two comprehensive literature review studies present and discuss the different approaches [GORA et al., 2020; DO et al., 2019]. It is found that the method selection for the simulation and modeling of AVs and their functions primarily relies on the requirements regarding the level of accuracy in the representation of AV functions and modules as well as the use case for which the model is developed for. Do et al. [2019] highlight that as no adequate empirical data of the use of AVs in real traffic are available, the calibration of the AV parameters in simulation models is mostly relying on assumptions. As there is a lack of standardized methods and real world datasets that can be used to model automated vehicle functions both papers highlight the difficulty in comparing results from different scientific studies, the importance of method standardization and creating repositories with real-world that can be used to develop and benchmark AV functions [GORA et al., 2020; Do et al., 2019]. Therefore, the scientific approaches that are found in the literature for simulating automated vehicles can be grouped in two main categories:

- 1. Approaches that couple vehicle simulator models such as vehicle dynamics simulation software (e.g. CARLA, CarSim, CarMaker) or specially designed and dedicated for automated driving simulation environments with traffic simulation software.
- 2. Approaches that rely on scripting automated vehicle functions in traffic simulation software and/or modifying/calibrating the car-following and lane changing behavior parameters in existing traffic simulation models for replicating the AV behavior.

TETTAMANTI et al. [2018] present a Vehicle-In-the-Loop (VIL) test environment that couples the microscopic traffic simulation software SUMO with a test vehicle equipped with AutoBox a tool for using the dSPACE real-time system. Signals from the test vehicle are transmitted via CAN bus and Matlab to SUMO using TraCl that simulates surrounding traffic and infrastructure. Subsequently, these model inputs are transmitted back to AutoBox using CAN messages. The framework architecture is a typical example for coupling a simulation environment with an external component that can be either a physical vehicle or device, a physical simulator or another simulator environment. In this example, Matlab serves as the common interface of communication between the CAN bus of the test vehicle and TraCl as it is able to both translate and create CAN messages as well as to convert them in understable inputs for SUMO using the TraCl API.

Similarly CARLA, the open-source simulator for automated driving research, that is used to develop, train and assess automated driving systems  $[{\rm DOSOVITSKIY}\ et al.,\ 2017]$  has been coupled with SUMO and PTV Vissim, in order to enable users to benefit from both

simulators. CARLA comes with pre-installed simulation models for automated vehicle detector technologies, vehicle dynamics and models for simulating different environmental conditions, while SUMO includes microscopic models for simulating the behavior of road users and traffic infrastructure. Also, the Python Interface in CARLA and in SUMO TraCl allows for the combined integration and the modeling of automated vehicle functions in development such as V2X and V2V communication. For example, AOKI et al. [2020] additionally integrated a CNN object classifier and use the simulator environment to train, test and evaluate their occlusion and cooperative perception method for detection reliability and compare it against a baseline protocol. In a similar approach, C. WU et al. [2022] first developed FLOW a modular learning framework , which uses deep reinforcement learning to address complex traffic dynamics and coupled it with SUMO. They proposed this method in order to develop data driven control models for AVs that learn and adopt control laws through traffic simulation scenarios.

Methodologies that couple existing dedicated automated vehicle simulators with microscopic simulation software provide advantages primarily for the development and evaluation of methods integrated in the sub-microscopic level of automated vehicles, such as object detection methods, decision making modules and motion planning algorithms. They are less complex and more efficient for testing specific automated vehicle functions independent of other vehicle modules. They can also be used for data generation and data augmentation for designing, training and testing models and methods for detection and motion planning, as they can be sued to reproduce and replicate scenarios and situations that are not easily observable in real traffic. KLISCHAT et al. [2019] coupled their software framework CommonRoad with SUMO to test motion planning of automated vehicles in an effort to efficiently test their approach without integrating it into typical vehicle simulator software that covers the whole vehicle workflow and physics.

Despite the high accuracy and detail that coupled simulation methods provide, they still remain highly complex. In cases where the microscopic, mesoscopic and macroscopic effects of AVs and automated vehicle functions on traffic networks are assessed or control strategies for optimizing the AV traffic flow are developed, researchers mostly proceed to model automated vehicle functions in traffic simulation software using scripting tools and interfaces and/or adjust the behavior parameters of the motor vehicles for replicating the AV behavior.

Typically in microscopic traffic simulation software such as AIMSUN, SUMO and PTV Vissim road user behavior is simulated using different components (models) for the longitudinal and lateral motion behavior. In AIMSUN the longitudinal behavior is modeled using the Gipps car following model [PETER G GIPPS, 1981], which is a safety distance model. In PTV Vissim, the longitudinal behavior is modeled using the psycho-physical car-following models of Wiedemann (versions 74 and 99) [WIEDEMANN, 1974] [PTV AG, 2016]. SUMO [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018] utilizes the car following model of KRAUSS et al. [1997] which is also a safety distance model. However SUMO also integrates a variety of other car following models [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018] including the Wiedemann models (versions 74 and 99), the Intelligent Driver Model (IDM) [TREIBER and HELBING, 2002] and Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC) models [MILANÉS and SHLADOVER, 2014; XIAO et al., 2017] that can also be used to model car following behavior.

Excluding the ACC models, the car-following models used typically in microscopic traffic

simulation rely also on stochastic or probabilistic behavior parameters in order to account for the human drivers' imperfection during driving. MAHMASSANI [2016] defines two main factors for modeling the car-following behavior of AVs: First, their ability to constantly monitor other vehicles in their vicinity, which should result in a deterministic behavior in dealing with other road user behavior; and secondly their ability to react instantaneously to any changes in the driving environment. Therefore, the stochasticity of car-following models has to be eliminated so that they can be used to model AV car-following behavior.

PTV Vissim lane chaning behavior is modeled based on the model of SPARMANN [1978] with modifications and enchancements [WEYLAND et al., 2021]. Aimsun uses the lane changing model proposed by Gipps [PETER G GIPPS, 1986; P G GIPPS, 1986] that models the user's lane chaning behavior as an objective driven decision making process. Similarly to AIMSUN, SUMO [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018] models the lane changing behavior as a hierarchical decision making process by defining: the strategic, cooperative, tactical change and regulatory lane change decision layers [ERDMANN, 2015]. This model version is referred to as LC2013. Subsequently an expanded version of the LC2013 model, referred to as SL2015, is used to support sublane changing behavior in SUMO, [SEMRAU and ERDMANN, 2016]. The SUMO Sublane Model was developed in an effort to support research in Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) and extends the lateral resolution of a traffic lane in SUMO so that multiple vehicles may use the same lane on the lateral dimension (e.g. drive side by side). The Sublane model expands the modelling capabilities of SUMO, as it more accurately simulates the coexistence of different road users of different dimensions in the same traffic lane, the overtaking maneuvers on the same lane for bicyclists and the lateral road user dynamics. The respective model parameters can be modified by the user to a great extend [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018].

When it comes to simulating road user behavior at intersections, intersections in PTV Vissim are modeled by creating connections among the corresponding intersection links. The intersection points between these connections are then identified by the software and the user is required to setup and adjust the respective priority rules and the gap acceptance parameters that will apply to the road users at each intersection point seperately [PTV AG, 2016]. In SUMO the intersection model creation is in comparison faster as the user is only required to join the edges that form the intersection area. The intersection and the respective traffic stream connections are then generated automatically by SUMO using preset parameters. This enables the fast and automated modeling of intersections as the user is not required to manually define all connections and then establish the conflict and priorirty rules for each intersect position. The SUMO junction model subsequently defines behavioral parameters for the simulated road users for adjusting their behavior at the intersection. Priority rules and other attributes, such as for example the stop position for subordinate traffic streams and the connection form can be further adjusted and more accurately defined by the user in NETEDIT [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019]. However, in contrast to PTV Vissim, SUMO does not allow for the individual adjustment of priority rules and intersection behavior for each intersect point between the junction connection.

Scripting and the modification of the running traffic simulation is possible in AIMSUN, SUMO and PTV Vissim through their respective scripting interfaces. AIMSUN uses the using the Python-based AIMSUN API, PTV Vissim uses the COM Interface, while SUMO relies on the TraCl interface [WEGENER et al., 2008]. SUMO provides the highest degree of freedom

when modifying the simulation, as the majority of the behavior of SUMO elements can be retrieved and adjusted online. PTV Vissim in comparison is more limited, especially when it comes to modifying road user behavior. Both software solutions have been used extensively in the evaluation of the effects of automated driving in traffic. ARIA et al. [2016] used PTV Vissim to assess the effects of AVs on driver behavior and traffic performance. They modeled high automated vehicle behavior using findings from their literature review. The modified parameters in PTV Vissim included setting adjusting the headway time (CC1) to 0.3s, defining the distribution of the maximum speed to a narrow value range of  $\pm 2km/h$  and activating cooperative lane change for both left and right sided overtaking.

 $M\ddot{U}$ LLER et al. [2016] used AIMSUN to evaluate their Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MILP) intersection control strategy for AVs traffic. However, they did not make major adjustments to the respective vehicle behavior models and used the default values provided by the software. The parameters that were modified were ultimately only the parameters that controlled the behavior of the vehicles at intersections and the parameters that were part of proposed control method. Therefore, they only proceeded to adjust the minimum transversal headway  $h_T$  to 0.6s and the longitudinal headway as  $h_L$  to 1.2s, while the maximum acceleration and deceleration values were set to  $a_{max} = 3m/s^2$ ,  $a_{min} = -4m/s^2$  respectively. MAKRIDIS et al. [2018] used the Gipps Model in AIMSUN combined with the Aimsun API to deploy the Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control (CACC) model by MAHMASSANI [2016]. Subsequently, for modeling the cooperation component between the leader and the follower the CACC algorithm decided using a set of constraints if the cooperation should be established, while at all times the CACC was not responsible for changing the lateral driving behavior. Otherwise, the default Gipps model was used to model the car-following behavior. In terms of adjusted behavior parameters for the connected vehicles, a 0.3s reaction time was used in comparison to 0.8s for human drivers and 0.5m for the minimum safe gap. The maximum comfortable deceleration and acceleration was set to  $a_{min} = -3m/s^2$  and  $a_{max} = 2m/s^2$  respectively based on literature review findings. A common characteristic between the studies by MÜLLER et al. [2016] and MAKRIDIS et al. [2018] is that both studies simulated only specific automated functions in their models, while the rest aspects of the vehicle behavior were governed by the default AIMSUN models. Additionally they adjusted only the relevant behavior parameters, while they used the default model parameters of values from past research for all remaining behavior properties that were not part of the evaluated functions.

LU et al. [2020] used SUMO to assess the effect of AVs on urban traffic network capacity. The modified the Krauss car following model to replicate AV driving behavior. In comparison, to their non-automated vehicle parameters, they set the minimum gap value to 0.5m, and the time headway to 0.6s instead of 0.9s under the assumption that AVs in contrast to human drivers, should be able to drive closer to one another. Respectively as the AV driving control function are assumed to perfectly steer and control the vehicle the sigma parameter of the Krauss model that defines driver imperfection was set to 0. FERNANDES et al. [2010] also used SUMO to develop solutions for cooperative and automated communication-enabled vehicles, with platooning capabilities modifying the integrated IDM car-following model and vehicle driving behavior using TraCl. However, in their work, they do not specify the adapted vehicle behavior parameters.

OLSTAM et al. [2020] used PTV Vissim to model the behavior of different AV automation

classes (basic, intermediate and advanced). Each class differentiates in terms of operational design and driving aggressiveness, while adapting its behavior with respect to the driving environment complexity: driving on a motorway, on an arterial, on an urban street or a shared space. They proceeded to implement the driving logics in PTV Vissim by by adjusting the Wiedemann 99 behavioral model parameters. Most importantly they turned off the implicit stochasticity of the driving behavior and assume perfect deterministic automated driving, narrow speed distributions at the speed limit, no reaction time, cooperative lane changing and advanced merging. They proceed to provide reference values for all Wiedemann 99 carfollowing and lane changing parameters (CC0 - CC9) depending on the automation level.

Overall, it is found that the method selection for the simulation and modeling of AVs and their functions primarily relies on the requirements regarding the level of accuracy in the representation of AV functions. In the context of this research, the aim is to evaluate the effects of a cooperation framework for AVs and bicyclists on the system level of the unsignalized intersection. Therefore, the appropriate approach would include the modeling of the respective functions in a microscopic traffic simulation software. Finally, the proposed AV behavior parameters for microscopic models found in scientific research provide an ideal basis for modeling the AV in the context of this work.

### 2.7.2 Simulation of Bicyclist Behavior and Evaluation of Traffic Performance

Microscopic traffic simulation tools are developed to model the behavior of road users in traffic and provide a method for the evaluation of traffic measures and the effects of using transport infrastructure. The modeling of bicycles in microscopic traffic simulation tools relies on modified motor vehicle or pedestrian models [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018; TWADDLE, SCHENDZIELORZ, et al., 2014]. Thus, most of the scientific research in the field strives to provide extensions to current models and software for the replication of bicyclist behavior. Efforts focus primarily on the description of the tactical behavior of bicyclists [L. HUANG and J. WU, 2009; SCHÖNAUER et al., 2012; TWADDLE and BUSCH, 2019], the modeling of bicycle infrastructure [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019] in microscopic traffic simulation tools, as well as the modeling of the dynamic characteristics of bicycle behavior [ANDRESEN et al., 2014; HAIFENG et al., 2013; TWADDLE and GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, 2016; G. GRIGOROPOULOS et al., 2019].

The bicyclist tactical behavior includes the decision of bicyclists to perform short-term maneuvers in order to resolve specific traffic situations, such as the bicyclist path in traffic and stop positioning [MICHON, 1985]. Bicyclists are found to adapt their behavior according to their intended maneuver, the traffic state [ANGENENDT et al., 2005; TWADDLE and BUSCH, 2019] and the bicycle infrastructure state and dimensions [KULLER et al., 1986; ALRUTZ et al., 2009; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022].

The bicyclist operational behavior, comprises of subconscious actions to control the bicycle within the environment, including speed control, acceleration, deceleration, gap acceptance, and spacing [MICHON, 1985]. Several studies address the definition of the bicyclist desired speed as a function of the respective traffic infrastructure used by the bicyclist and its dimensions. The bicyclist desired speed is found to be affected by the type and dimensions of the

bicycle facility [OPIELA et al., 1980; ALRUTZ et al., 2009; SCHLEINITZ et al., 2017; TWAD-DLE and BUSCH, 2019; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, H. KATHS, et al., 2020; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022]. Results across all these studies suggest that bicyclists travel with a higher speed on on-road bicycling facilities, such as bicycle lanes and in mixed traffic, while the lowest speeds observed on sidewalks. These findings provide a basis for the calibration of the bicyclist speed choice in microscopic traffic simulation models as they define the bicyclist desired speed as a function of the respective available infrastructure.

The same applies to the modeling of gap acceptance for bicyclists in microscopic traffic simulation, where empirical findings are also transferable. When crossing a prioritized traffic stream, bicyclists are found to accept time gaps of 3 - 4 seconds on average [KWIGIZILE et al., 2017; OPIELA et al., 1980]. Motor vehicle drivers crossing a prioritized bicycle traffic stream are found to accept average time gaps of 6 - 7s between crossing bicyclists [PETZOLDT et al., 2017]. Gap acceptance is a critical parameter for accurately modeling bicyclist and vehicle interactions at intersections as the accurate definition of the gap acceptance behavior for both motor vehicles and bicyclists has a major influence in the respective estimation of the Level of Service (LOS) for the intersection traffic streams.

The design of microscopic traffic models often combines the use of both empirical data and data from past research for the model calibration and validation. The relevant bicycle behavior parameters are extracted from empirical data and used for the calibration and validation of microscopic traffic simulation models. Specifically, the bicycle traffic behavior is calibrated by adjusting the car-following and lane-changing model attributes. This methodology is introduced primarily as part of research focusing on the assessment of new types of infrastructure [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOS-SEINI, et al., 2021], the effect of new categories of bicyclists such as cargo bikes and e-bikes on traffic flow [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOSSEINI, et al., 2021] or the development of models for quantifying the effects of bicycle traffic flow [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022] for traffic scenarios that are not easily or at all observable in real traffic.

Bicycle traffic disrupts the movements of partially conflicting streams of motor vehicles [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] and is therefore decisive for estimating the LOS for motorized traffic. The LOS for non-motorized traffic is based on the maximum waiting time for the complete crossing of an intersection approach. For modeling these effects both the German Highway Capacity Manual (HBS) [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] and the American Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) [NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL, 2016] use adjustment factors which are a function of the expected occupancy duration of the conflict zone among vehicular and bicycle traffic streams.

J. CHEN et al. [2014] developed a platoon width model and a polynomial regression model, which can be used to generate the adjustment factor for the saturation flow rate calculation in the HCM for left-turning motor vehicles. [X. CHEN et al., 2009] proposed a methodology for calculating capacity considering the influence of bicycle blockage, waiting bicyclists in partially conflicting streams, traversing bicyclists and bicyclists waiting inside the intersection. A similar approach in which models are developed to quantify the effects of bicycle traffic on the saturation flow rate of the turning vehicles by defining different stages of bicycle movements is

proposed by Y. GUO et al. [2012]. The HCM [NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL, 2016] uses a LOS for non-motorized traffic based on multiple parameters describing the traffic performance and intersection characteristics. This method is limited to intersection approaches with less than a 2 % gradient.

Additionally, bicycle traffic delay is calculated and assessed independently of the LOS score and applies only for dedicated bicycle facilities. It is assumed that bicycles in mixed traffic experience the same delay as vehicular traffic. As a result, no dedicated thresholds for bicycle traffic LOS are provided for unsignalized intersections. Also these models are developed for specific use cases and consider only specific evaluation parameters. Therefore they are limited in their application with respect to large variety of interactions that exist among vehicular and bicycle traffic flow.

In conclusion, sufficient research is already available for the calibration of bicyclist behavior in microscopic traffic simulation. Additionally, relevant traffic performance indicators for bicycle traffic are identified. In the context of this work it is important not only to consider these factors for the evaluation of the proposed cooperation framework but also integrate them in the proposed approach as critical factors for the interaction optimization. Eventually, these factors are already being utilized by traffic authorities for dimensioning and evaluating traffic performance in existing road networks. Therefore, the integration of these factors as part of the cooperation framework is aligned with our overarching goal of providing an acceptable and integrative solution for resolving bicyclist and AV interactions.

### 2.8 Traffic Flow Optimization at Intersections with AVs

This section discusses scientific methods that have been proposed to optimize the traffic flow and traffic performance at controlled or uncontrolled intersections with AV traffic. In contrast to HRU traffic, the anticipated future introduction and expansion of AVs in urban traffic unveils a significant potential in introducing novel traffic control solutions that take into advantage the controlled and predictable driving behavior of AVs, while assuming a sufficient level of interconnectivity and cooperation among all agents. In HRU traffic, the control and regulation of traffic flow relies primarily on traffic signals, traffic signs and sets of common traffic rules that regulate the priority of different traffic streams along traffic lanes and at intersections. However, this type of control takes place on the traffic stream level, meaning that rules or control signals apply for all road users belonging to a certain stream and it is assumed that all road users follow the given rules without exceptions. Considering the predictable and preregulated driving behavior of the AVs it is possible to further control and optimize the traffic flow by controlling and micro-managing the driving behavior aspects of individual users on the agent-level. GHOLAMHOSSEINIAN and SEITZ [2022] categorizes AV traffic intersection control architecture Vehicle-to-Infratructure (V2I) and V2V and a hybrid mode where one vehicle undertakes the intersection control for the short-term.

KURT DRESNER and PETER STONE [2006] review Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAVs) traffic control methods and describe the most promising methodological approaches for addressing the multiagent optimization problem for Autonomous Intersection Management (AIM). They propose the development of reservation based systems based on the segregation of the intersection area in reservation tiles, with the intersection manager optimizing the

allocation of the tiles to the different agents based on the First Come First Serve (FCFS) concept. The minimization of the delay and of the tile allocation cost should be the core objective of the multi-agent optimization problem. In their follow up work KURT DRESNER and PETER STONE [2007] propose solutions for the integration of HRUs in AIM by combining the input from the normal traffic lights with the FCFS policy and regulating traffic using lane-based signal policies for each traffic lane direction. The proposed method requires that a single dedicated lane is assigned to each travel direction and a signal head is then assigned to each lane communicating the control state of the lane to the HRUs. Connections between lanes are then successively given dedicated green phases for accommodating the HRUs, while CAVs are reserving space and connections using the FCFS policy. Figure 2.12 presents the control approach KURT DRESNER and PETER STONE [2007] for integrating HRUs in AIM.

i) All Lanes Model: Successive green light activation for each travel direction. AVs are free to turn right in all green phases.



ii) Single Lane Model: The first half-cycle of the Single Lane light model. The green phase is successively activated for each lane. For all other conflict free connections, AV movements are allowed. Optimal in case of extremely low number of HRUs.



Figure 2.12: Description of the Light Model Control Method. Figure adapted from KURT DRESNER and PETER STONE [2007].

Y. WU and F. ZHU [2021] proceed to evaluate the FCFS policy for intersections and roundabouts and compare it against the typical traffic control methods: signal control and priority rule based traffic regulation respectively. it is found that intersections with signal control have the largest capacity in comparison to FCFS based approaches, however this is highly dependent on the acceptable safety gaps that are defined for the FCFS policies. Also the unsignalized FCFS policies outperform signal based control in low traffic demand. In terms of capacity, the roundabout coupled with FCFS outperforms all other on signalized FCFS policies. Thus, in future FCFS control policy implementations for CAVs, roundabout setups should be considered instead of intersection layouts.

Most of the present scientific work focuses on the optimization of traffic flow with (connected) AVs at signalized or unsignalized intersections and roundabouts. With respect to unsignalized intersections different control concepts for CAVs have been proposed. Typically, traffic control in unsignalized intersections relies on established traffic rules and traffic signs, that basically regulate the traffic flow for conflicting traffic streams. (Connected) AV control approaches start with remodeling the intersection area for control operations. The remodeling is performed following different methods. In the case of the spatio-temporal reservation the intersection area is divided into a set of tiles that can be spatially and time based reserved for vehicle passage. In the case of the trajectory planning approach, specific trajectories linking the intersection approaches are defined for all vehicle streams. Vehicles use the pre-defined trajectories to cross the intersection [GHOLAMHOSSEINIAN and SEITZ, 2022].

Solutions assume communication among vehicles and rely on cooperative resource reservation that relies on time- and tile- based FCFS intersection area reservation policies, virtual traffic lights that basically emulate the signalized intersection control framework on an agent level and vehicle trajectory planning [L. CHEN and ENGLUND, 2016]. Vehicle trajectory planning is then performed following with different approaches. Vehicle trajectories are planned and scheduled simultaneously if they do not come into conflict (safe pattern), by identifying vehicle paths and adjusting vehicle speed profiles to avoid collisions path (priority graph) and by formulating a maximal robust controlled invariant set problem for collision avoidance (collision region) [L. CHEN and ENGLUND, 2016].

Furthermore, the majority of research also considers primarily intersections and control scenarios with only CAV traffic. They do not consider the presence of HRUs, with the exception of the work by NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2019], NIELS, MITROVIC, DO-BROTA, et al. [2020], and NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2020] that study and integrate pedestrians and bicyclists in novel control methods for signalized intersections with CAVs. QIAN et al. [2017] suggest the inclusion of bicyclists and pedestrians in AIM only through dedicated crossing time slots. Nonetheless VRUs are only considered as part of traffic safety and not as part of traffic performance optimization solutions [L. CHEN and ENGLUND, 2016].

CAI et al. [2014] present an unsignalized cooperative optimization control method based on speed adaptation and information exchange among agents. They use the vehicle delay and the number of stops as their optimization objectives. They proceed to optimize the traffic flow by generating virtual green time windows for the different traffic streams and thus emulating the control concept of a signalized intersection. They manage to achieve significant improvements in average delay, stops, queue length and speed across different traffic flow scenarios in comparison to actuated control. However, their study case and the developed control concept can closely be related to a signalized intersection.

Game theory approaches have also been developed for coordinating traffic at uncontrolled intersections. ZOHDY and RAKHA [2012] present a game theory solution for regulating CAV traffic at an uncontrolled intersection that significantly reduces delays in comparison to stop sign control. In another work ELHENAWY et al. [2015] suggest a game-theory-based algorithm for controlling CAV motion at uncontrolled intersections. The approach is based on the chicken game and assumes that all vehicles follow the Nash equilibrium solution. The method achieves an average travel time delay reduction of 49% and 89% delay reduction compared to the all-way stop sign unsignalized intersection. Both presented approaches assume connection and cooperation among the agents, while player actions are translated into inputs in the CACC system. ZOHDY and RAKHA [2012] and ELHENAWY et al. [2015].

MAVROGIANNIS et al. [2020] propose a method for regulating traffic flow and resolving traffic interactions at an unsignalized intersection through a decentralized planning algorithm that generates actions aimed at reducing the uncertainty of the multi-agent behavior. The

method collectively rejects unsafe intersection crossings and assumes no communication among the agents. Each agent trajectory is predicted using a probabilistic model that relies on spatiotemporal braids. The resolution of the collision free agent passage is provided by a decisionmaking mechanism that reduces overall uncertainty based on a set of actions. Although in their approach they significantly reduce detected collisions and reduce overall uncertainty, the travel time is increased as agents take on safer actions. In another work, researchers propose a decentralized navigation function for coordinating approaching and intersecting CAVs at intersections based on the vehicles' Estimated Time of Arrival (ETA), speed and desired speed. Their evaluation is based on energy consumption, which is improved compared to the control scenario [MAKAREM and GILLET, 2012].

T. WU et al. [2020] propose a reinforcement learning approach based on the multi-agent reinforcement learning algorithm. Specifically, they expand the Multiagent Deep Deterministic Policy Gradient (MADDPG) to account for non static environments and cooperation among agents. MADDPG is an adaptation of actor-critic methods which considers action policies of other agents and can learn policies that require complex multi-agent coordination. T. WU et al. [2020] adjust the gradient of the expected return to account for uncertainty and the cooperative effects among the different agents and through the selection of the largest impact vehicles according to their space distance, where only the closest interacting vehicles are considered. Their method reaches a 39.28% improvement in travel times compared to a reference method.

NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2019] adopt suggestions from the work of [KURT DRESNER, 2008] and present reservation based control strategies that consider pedestrians as part of AIM based on FCFS control and showcase that such strategies already have the potential to improve traffic performance for pedestrians. The pedestrian(s) either reserve the entire intersection or the respective crossing legs. Results show that pedestrians benefit from the proposed control strategies. For the CAVs results indicated that they benefited from AIM compared to the base scenario with two-phase signal control with a fixed cycle. They proceed to expand their work by also considering dynamic lane reassignment for vehicles approaching the intersection. traffic performance results are better for CAVs across all traffic demand scenarios (low to high) when compared to the base scenario of actuated signal control. Pedestrian waiting times are similar for scenarios of low to medium traffic demand compared to the basis scenario with actuated signal control. However pedestrian waiting times improve in the case of the high demand scenario [NIELS, MITROVIC, DOBROTA, et al., 2020]. This suggests that their approach expands the potential gains for pedestrians primarily in high traffic demand situations. NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2019], NIELS, MITROVIC, DOBROTA, et al. [2020], and NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2020] additionally argue that optimization based control can further improve the traffic efficiency in comparison to FCFS control.

NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2020] applied similar strategies only for bicyclists at a signalized intersection. Here they additionally consider the problem of the bicyclist maneuver intention in two separate control scenarios. In the first control scenario they implement the all-directions-green strategy for bicyclists. In the second scenario signal control detects the bicyclists but is unaware of the bicyclist maneuver intention. They proceed to resolve this uncertainty by assigning both a crossing and a left turning phase to the bicyclists. In the third

scenario they assume full and certain knowledge of the bicyclist maneuver intention. Overall, results are mixed with respect to the improved performance for the different road user types across all control scenarios and vehicle demand variations. It is found that the knowledge of th bicyclist intention leads to better performance for the vehicle traffic as there are no unnecessary activations of the left turn phase. Specifically for bicyclists, traffic performance improves with the first two control scenarios, while with the third control scenario bicyclist waiting times increase.

Optimization based approaches have been extensively used to optimize CAV traffic flow. J. LEE and PARK [2012] formulate the intersection control as a constrained nonlinear optimization problem for coordinating the vehicle trajectories by minimizing the overlapping of all conflicting vehicles. Conflicts are derived from a phase conflict map mapping all conflicting intersection maneuvers. Their approach is evaluated using PTV Vissim and motor vehicle travel times are reduced by 33% compared to the base scenario of actuated traffic control. A great reduction of 99% is observed for total waiting stop time as the optimizer schedules the vehicle arrivals and the vast majority of vehicles are therefore not required to come to a full stop. MIRHELI et al. [2018] present an algorithm for maximizing intersection throughput, by minimizing the vehicle ETA to the destination over the planning horizon. They also proceed to use the Monte Carlo tree search in order to reduce the solution state space. Significant reductions in travel time in comparison to fixed-time (-59.4%) and fully-actuated control (-83.7%) are observed.

In the context of optimization methods, MILP approaches are also quite popular in resolving the CAV intersection control. MÜLLER et al. [2016] presents a MILP approach for intersection control with CAVs using vehicle delay as the minimization target for the objective function. In their approach they schedule the vehicle arrivals at the intersection by calculating their ETA and subsequently adjusting their speed profiles in order to minimize their exit time after the intersection and thus resolving the motion planning problem for all CAVs. Results suggest a significant reduction in vehicle delays. FAYAZI and LUCKOW [2017] and FAYAZI and VAHIDI [2018] in turn formulate the CAV arrival scheduling problem with a cost function by minimizing the latest access time assigned to a crossing vehicle, while constraining the vehicle delays through the definition of an individual maximum arrival time. Safety gaps between vehicles and the maximum acceleration rate and the speed limit are defined as constraints of the optimization problem. Results show significant reductions in average travel time and stop delay time per vehicle. ASHTIANI et al. [2018] in a follow up work expanded their approach to multiple intersections.

Overall, scientific literature findings indicate that MILP optimization based approaches are highly efficient in for CAV traffic optimization solutions. Also the majority of research considers primarily intersections and control scenarios with only CAV traffic, without integrating HRUs in their approach. In the few exceptions found, important topics for consideration in the development of integrative CAV-HRU cooperation frameworks are discussed. The importance to tackle the problem of uncertainty and unpredictability of human intentions is highlighted. Although, in the context of signalized intersections this issue is partially or fully resolved by assigning dedicated CAV or HRU routes, while estimating the HRU intentions through external devices or their traffic lane position, this cannot be the case in mixed traffic flow at unsignalized intersections which is the focus area of this dissertation. Nevertheless, the combined findings and conclusions from sections 2.1-2.6 provide a solid basis for the path towards the development of a cooperation framework for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions at unsignalized intersections with mixed traffic conditions.

### 2.9 Research Needs Assessment

This section highlights and discusses the key findings from the literature review and bridges them with the scientific goals of the present dissertation. The development of technologies that will enable future AVs to operate autonomously without human supervision or intervention remains a vivid area of research, where steady and continuous progress is made. Nevertheless, as the overarching goal of automated driving is the introduction of AVs in urban traffic, the safe and efficient interaction with VRUs is critical for their acceptance and adoption. So far research focuses mostly on one-to-one interactions between an AV and a VRU, whereas most of the research focuses on the prediction of pedestrian behavior, as well as the interaction, cooperation and communication between a AV and a pedestrian. In comparison, little research is found, that considers bicyclists in the context of their interactions with AVs. With the future introduction of AVs in urban traffic, AVs will have to share the road and interact with bicyclists mixed traffic conditions. Bicycle traffic is a significant part of daily urban traffic in Europe and in Asia, where it is often not segregated from motor vehicle traffic with dedicated infrastructure.

In this context, first, the intention comprehension and prediction bicyclist behavior is crucial for AVs for adjusting their driving behavior and ensuring safe and efficient interactions. Bicyclists and VRUs behavior in general, is inherently and up to a certain extend unpredictable. However, certain features of their dynamic, operational and communication behavior can be used and exploited in order to derive a assumptions for their behavior and their future intentions. Especially, dynamic operational features have been used extensively for predicting VRU behavior in the context of automated driving research, however only for short-term trajectory predictions and not long-term intention prediction problem formulations. Despite the significant amount of research in the analysis of the communication behavior of bicyclists (see Table 2.2), little scientific work is found that considers bicyclist communication behavior for the prediction of their future behavior in traffic [GOOGLE INC., 2016; KRETZSCHMAR and J. ZHU, 2015; POOL et al., 2019]. Additionally, in their work, researchers only consider explicit bicyclist communication behavior (hand gestures) for predicting the bicyclist behavior. Implicit communication behavior features were not considered so far in any prediction method. Yet, as discussed in section 2.3, implicit and explicit communication features have the potential to provide an additional significant source of information for more accurately estimating bicyclist intentions. A model based on LSTM neural networks has the potential to provide a solution towards the long-term prediction of the bicyclist intentions and can also be seamlessly integrated with the existing AV system component setup while leveraging typical AV sensor technologies. (Research Question 1).

With respect to interactions with VRUs, present AV research predominately considers interaction scenarios with pedestrians and little research is found for bicyclists. In urban traffic, VRU and AV interaction scenarios will be common. In these cases a certain form of cooperation and communication among all agents will be required. However, these studies are contacted primarily in simple mostly one-to-one scenarios, where the main focus of the study lies on evaluating the communication method, in terms of safety, acceptance, comprehensiveness and compliance from the VRU perspective. In terms of communicating to VRUs, eHMIs are found to serve this role adequately, while the simultaneous changes in the dynamic vehicle behavior also carries information for the VRUs (dHMI) and its combination with an eHMI is ideal for successfully conveying specific message to VRUs. Nevertheless, the effects of such cooperation and communication concepts on the traffic system have not been evaluated, as these studies typically consider one-to-one interactions. the aggregation of these effects on other road users or on the traffic performance on the urban network section, where these interactions take place are mostly not being considered in present research *(Research Question 3)*.

At the same time issues arise as to which VRU(s) are addressed and how the system can verify compliance and should react in case of non-compliance. In any case, VRU is not controllable and therefore VRU behavior always carries a level of uncertainty. VRU intention cannot be accurately derived as no steady exchange on information exists. In the case of bicyclists, previous research considers the use of mobile devices and wearables [HOU et al., 2020; LINDNER, GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, et al., 2022] as a means for facilitating communication and cooperation between bicyclists and AVs. However it is safe to assume, that such devices are optional for users, while in no case will bicyclists be required to equip such devices for interacting with AVs. As in present human driven motor traffic, AVs will be solely responsible for correctly detecting and interacting with VRUs. Specifically, for bicyclists and in the context of this research, the estimation of the confidence for the prediction of the bicyclist behavior is crucial, first in terms of traffic safety and secondly in terms of efficiency and acceptance from the AV perspective. Therefore, in the context of this research, the bicyclist maneuver prediction model must be fully integrated with a mechanism that quantifies and evaluates the uncertainty of the predicted bicyclist behavior. Additionally, the proposed cooperation framework has to consider the inherent behavior unpredictability of bicyclists through limitations and rules that are easily comprehensible and legible by the interacting bicyclists. (Research Questions 2 and 3).

Additionally, the limitations deriving from the uncertainty of the VRU behavior and its proper consideration in any method for optimizing traffic flow at intersections are also not being properly considered during the development of such methods. Especially in urban areas, traffic at unsignalized intersections can often be chaotic and complex interactions may arise. In contrast to pedestrians, that typically use the sidewalk, bicyclists will have to share the road and interact with AV, especially in areas with no bicycle infrastructure. In ensuring the seamless integration of AVs in the urban transportation system, it is crucial to develop methods and solutions that ensure the safe, proper, unsupervised and uninterrupted autonomy of such vehicles, as well as their acceptance from other HRUs, such as bicyclists, especially in shared spaces and in mixed traffic *(Research Question 2, 3 and 4)*.

AVs can leverage their equipped sensors and communication technologies for innovative approaches that can potentially improve traffic conditions for all road users. In contrast to human driven motor traffic, AVs are fully controllable and will be able to communicate and share among each other crucial information for their surroundings. This includes information on the intended behavior of other road users, the traffic state, as well as the possibility to coordinate their driving actions in order to resolve traffic situations and improve traffic perfor-

mance. As highlighted in section 2.8, most of the present research, considers exclusively AVs. VRU requirements are not substantially considered. Only few solutions for the VRU integration and consideration in a AV traffic environment are proposed, with the exception of the work by NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2019], NIELS, MITROVIC, DOBROTA, et al. [2020], and NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2020], who consider VRUs at signalized intersections with AV traffic. Still no scientific work yet considers bicyclists at unsignalized intersections with AV traffic. In this context, MILP based optimization models have proven to be robust in supporting methods for the optimization of AV and VRU traffic flow *(Research Questions 3 and 4)*.

# Chapter 3

# **Prediction of the Bicyclist Maneuver Intention at Unsignalized Intersections**

Parts of this chapter have been published as part of the following authors' publications, but are further expanded here.

GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, PATRICK MALCOLM, ANDREAS KELER, HEATHER KATHS, et al. [2021]. "Bicyclist Maneuver Type Prediction using Bidirectional Long Short-Term Memory Neural Networks". In: *TRB 100th Annual Meeting*. Washington DC, USA, (virtual, poster presentation only)

GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, PATRICK MALCOLM, ANDREAS KELER, and FRITZ BUSCH [2022]. "Predicting Bicyclist Maneuvers using Explicit and Implicit Communication". In: 8th Road Safety and Simulation Conference. Athens, Greece: National Technical University of Athens Road Safety Observatory (NRSO)

### 3.1 Overview

This section presents a method to address the problem of predicting the maneuver intention of a bicyclist at an unsignalized intersection. Based on the literature review, methods that have already been proposed in this field mostly focus on resolving the problem of the short-term trajectory prediction of a bicyclist. This is sufficient for traffic safety applications, as well as for the safe motion planning of AVs. However this is not the case for traffic flow optimization applications, as the optimizer needs a longer sufficient time interval to react and communicate its decisions to all critical road users.

Additionally, it is found that most developed approaches do not fully consider the bicyclist communication behavior. The combination of the explicit and implicit communication cues with other bicyclist behavioral features, may add an additional valuable source of information for predicting the bicyclist intentions. Also, the added value deriving from the inclusion of the communication behavior has not been assessed, and no evaluation of which implicit and explicit communication cues are important to consider as part of a prediction model has been performed.

# 3.2 The Bicycle Simulator Setup at the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control

In order to study the behavior of bicyclists in traffic, a bicycle simulator introduced at the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control at the Technical University of Munich is used [AN-DREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2018]. The bicycle simulator has the purpose of collecting trajectories of test subjects experiencing traffic scenarios and interacting with other simulated road users and transport infrastructure. Based on the targets and research focus objectives of the respective researchers, simulators can have a variety of properties and special features used explicitly to model or gather data on specific areas of bicyclist behavior.

The bicycle simulator consists of a physical bicycle fitted with speed and steering sensors connected to a microcontroller, which sends the measurements to a model (MATLAB Simulink) within the driving simulation software DYNA4 from the company TESIS (now part of Vector Informatic GmbH, the corporate merger was completed at the end of 2020). Other road users in the simulator environment are simulated using the microscopic traffic simulation software SUMO [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018] via a bridge module between SUMO and DYNA4. Since SUMO is used to model the simulated road users, the test subject can experience realistic traffic interactions in the simulator [H. KATHS, ANDREAS KELER, J. KATHS, et al., 2019], as the simulated road user behavior is not scripted and is governed over the respective SUMO simulation modules and functions. This provides an additional advantage over real traffic studies where multiple external factors and the complex nature of traffic interactions can heavily influence the outcome of traffic scenarios so that road users can rarely experience the exact same traffic situation unfolding more than once. The test subject riding the physical bicycle experiences the simulation and interacts with the simulator environment over four 50-inch monitors. Three monitors are positioned on the left side, center and right side in front of the test subject and provide a  $180^{\circ}$  degree front view of the simulation environment. The fourth monitor is positioned in the back, adjacent to the front left side monitor. This configuration enables the test subject to have a left overshoulder view of the surrounding simulation environment. The test subject can the use this monitor in order to check for incoming traffic from the back before performing an overtaking or lane changing maneuver.

An Intel® RealSense<sup>™</sup> Depth Camera D435 is used to collect the implicit and explicit communication behavior features as well as the body movements and posture of the test subject. PoseNet [PAPANDREOU et al., 2017] is used for extracting the skeleton of the test subjects. Arm gestures (left arm gesture, right arm gesture) are detected and classified using k-means classification. Head movements are detected using a helmet marker and the head movements (right glance, left glance, left over shoulder glance) are then classified using a threshold value method. The experimental setup is presented in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: a) Bicycle simulator setup, b) skeletal points extraction and depth field detection, c) 3D simulator environment.

### 3.3 Experimental Design

The bicycle simulator at the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control is deployed in order to study the bicyclist behavior during the execution of typical bicyclist maneuvers at an itersection approach. In comparison to field observations and experiments, simulator studies have the potential to research human behavior efficiently, consistently and systematically in safe, repetitive, and controlled environments, in contrast to field test or real traffic observations where it is extremely complex, difficult and cost-intensive to replicate the exact same research conditions. Additionally, the simulator setup enables the extraction of high precision implicit and explicit communication features of the test subjects which is currently not possible reach in real world experiments.

The bicycle simulator study consists of six scenarios, which require test subjects to perform the three typical maneuver types at an intersection approach of a four-arm intersection: 1) left turn, 2) straight and 3) right turn. Scenarios are varied according to the priority assignement for the bicyclist, the presence of surrounding vehicle traffic and the positioning of the bicyclist at the intersection approach before performing a left turn maneuver. The aim for the variations is to study and consider the influence of these factors on the dynamic, operational and communication behavior of the bicyclist and retrieve a reliable dataset for the further model development. Three scenarios are examined for left turns, two scenarios for the crossing and one scenario for right turns. In all the scenarios, the test subject approaches a four-way intersection of two-lane roads, at which traffic must follow the right-before-left rule. Each traffic lane is 3.3 meters wide. No special markings or dedicated traffic lanes are provided for turning traffic. Adjacent to the traffic lanes, a 2-meter-wide parking lane and then a 3-meter-wide sidewalk are placed. The speed limit on all the streets is set to 30 km/h. The infrastructure layout and traffic lane widths at each intersection were established based roughly upon those at the intersection of Oberanger and Rosental in the city center of Munich.

The simulation of the behavior of the other road users is facilitated using SUMO [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018]. The simulated road user traffic flow and behavior are controlled using

the TraCl Application Programming Interface (API) [WEGENER et al., 2008]. Instructions are given to the test subjects using on-screen messages appearing at the bottom right corner of the front screen. Each message graphic appears when the test subject is 200m away from the intersection and disappears when they are approximately 100m away of the intersection.

Bicycle Maneu- ver	Description	Scenario Setup
Left turn	Test subject is impeded by several vehicles driving straight in the opposite di- rection and therefore must yield to them and wait to proceed	
Left turn	Test subject is not impeded by any other vehicles	2
Left turn	Test subject must perform a left turn preceded by lane change from right side of ap- proach lane to left side, with a vehicle following behind	3

Table 3.1: Test scenarios.

Bicycle Maneu- ver	Description	Scenario Setup
Straight	Test subject is not impeded by any other vehicles	4
Straight	Test subject is impeded by a vehicle approaching from the right with the right-of- way and therefore must yield to them	5
Right turn	Test subject is not impeded by any other vehicles	6

Table 3.1: Test scenarios.

Bicycle Maneu- ver	Description	Scenario Setup	
Legend			
Bicycle (Ego/Test Subject)	Interaction-Critical Vehicle		
Desired Direction	Non-Critical Vehicle		

Table 3.1: Test scenarios.

### 3.4 Data Collection and Preprocessing

Thirty-one test subjects participated in the simulator study (Male = 21, Female = 10). From these, two were under the age of 18, one between the ages of 18 and 24 and three over the age of 60. The rest of the subjects were between 25 and 59 years old. The sample size is sufficient according to the work of FAULKNER [2003] and NIELSEN and LANDAUER [1993] who estimate that a test subject sample sizes greater than 20 are sufficient for high certainty outcomes. Additionally a test subject sample size equal or greater than 30 fullfills the Central Limit Theorem, as the sampling distribution of the mean approaches a normal distribution [ROSENBLATT, 1956; KWAK and KIM, 2017]. All test subjects were informed about the objective of the simulator study. Test subjects were instructed to behave as they would in real traffic. They were also explicitly informed about the bicycle simulator setup capabilities of detecting gesture and communication behavior. At the beginning of the simulator study, the test subjects are asked to cycle a test track in the simulated environment to familiarize themselves with the simulator. At the end of the simulator test, all test subjects completed an online questionnaire, where they also evaluated the experimental study. Among other questions, test subjects evaluated how "immersive" or "realistic" various aspects of the simulator were. Results are presented in Figure 3.2.

Most of the test subjects evaluated different aspects of the bicycle simulator as "completely" to "somewhat" immersive/realistic. Negative evaluations of the bicycle simulator immersiveness remain under 26% for all the evaluated aspects. The overall simulation was assessed as "very" immersive/realistic by 53% of the test subjects. Results suggest that most of the test subjects are confident that the bicycle simulator can simulate traffic situations at a high level of realism and that the test subjects felt immersed in the simulation during the study. All test subject behavior data are treated equivalently in the further steps of this research, regardless of the respective individual test subject simulator evaluation.

The lateral and longitudinal coordinates, speed and front wheel angle of the test subjects, lateral and longitudinal coordinates, speed and driving angle of the simulated motor vehicles are recorded with a 0.1s resolution from SUMO. The lateral and longitudinal coordinates and angles are transformed and projected into a new singular coordinate system. The explicit



How immersive / realistic did you find the following aspects of the simulation?

Figure 3.2: Evaluation of the bicycle simulator immersiveness by the test subjects [MALCOLM] et al., 2021].

and implicit communication cues of the test subjects are recorded in parallel using the depth camera. With respect to the skeleton detection of the test subjects, the right and left arm longitudinal and lateral angles, the right and left elbow angles, the shoulder twist angle and the body lateral and longitudinal angles are processed and extracted as independent skeleton joint angle metrics. With respect to the head movement, the head yaw angle is extracted via helmet marker detection. A total of 411 implicit (n = 357, 86.9%) and explicit (n =54, 13.1%) gestures are detected using the k-means classifier for the hand gestures and body posture and threshold values for the head movement respectively. The explicit gesture classes include the left and right arm signal, and the implicit gesture classes include the left, right and left-over shoulder look and the forward, back, left and right body lean. In the driving maneuvers performed, explicit gestures with an average frequency of less than 2 gestures per test subject are given before turning maneuvers are carried out, however not all test subjects perform explicit gestures in the corresponding scenarios. Non-mutually exclusive implicit and explicit communication cues might also take place at the same time. In no case was an incorrect hand gesture (e.g. arm gesture during crossing maneuver, left arm gesture during right turn) performed. An average number of 5.2 implicit and/or explicit communication cues were performed by the test subjects in every scenario. The resulting driving data from SUMO, the extracted skeleton features and the implicit and explicit communication cues are merged into a single dataset using the respective timestamps. In a final processing step, all entries at 20m away from the respective intersection approach stop line and immediately after the stop line are filtered out in line with the purposes of the prediction. A total of 154 (46% left turns, 16% right turns and 38% crossing maneuvers) distinct sequences are extracted and can be used for the model building process.

A more extended and detailed analysis of the bicyclist implicit and explicit communication behavior as part of the bicycle simulator study is part of a joint publication [MALCOLM et al., 2021].

# 3.5 Prediction of the Bicyclist Maneuver Intention at Unsignalized Traffic Intersections

#### 3.5.1 Model Architecture Design

The bicycle simulator study dataset is used to develop, train and validate a model for the prediction of the type of maneuver a bicyclist intends to perform at an unsignalized four-arm intersection and explore the potential of using the additional information coming from the implicit and explicit communication behavior alongside the detected dynamic and operational bicyclist behavior. Every bicyclist exhibits a unique set of behavioral patterns in traffic scenarios. In addition, not all bicyclists use explicit communication cues to reveal their future behavior, however implicit communication cues may have the potential along with other data sources to hint the bicyclists' intent. The development of such a model may prove beneficial for the behavioral and motion planning layers of AVs and for avoiding deadlock situations where a passenger or a remote human controller may have to intervene. It can also improve traffic safety and control at intersections where computer vision-based technologies for traffic monitoring purposes are installed.

LSTM models have proven to be a robust approach for learning and generalizing properties of temporal sequential data and they have been extensively used in motion prediction und human action recognition applications [BENTERKI et al., 2020; SALEH et al., 2018; VIKTOR KRESS et al., 2019; XU et al., 2017]. LSTM is considered to be a superior type of RNN architecture capable of memorizing long-term dependencies [HOCHREITER and SCHMIDHUBER, 1997]. In contrast to the simple cell structure of RNNs, where information is conveyed over a single network layer, an LSTM cell contains four interacting layers, the cell state layer  $c_t$ , the forget gate layer  $f_t$ , the input gate layer, with the  $i_t$  (sigmoid) and  $\tilde{c}_t$  (tanh) subgates, and the output gate layer  $o_t$ . The cell state conveys information across all the cells of the LSTM layer. The three gate layers or gates are responsible for controlling the cell state in each cell. The gates decide which information to pass forward to the next LSTM cells (important information) and which information must be dropped (not important information). The gates are composed of sigmoid and tanh activation layers for regulating the information inflow and outflow.

Figure 3.3 presents the LSTM architecture based on the work of HOCHREITER and SCHMID-HUBER [1997].



Figure 3.3: The LSTM architecture adapted from OLAH [2015].

The respective sigmoid and tanh activation functions are presented in equations 3.1 and 3.2.

$$\sigma(x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-x}}$$
(3.1)

$$tanh(x) = \frac{e^x - e^{-x}}{e^x + e^{-x}} = \frac{1 - e^{-2x}}{1 + e^{-2x}}$$
(3.2)

Equations 3.3–3.8 are based on HOCHREITER and SCHMIDHUBER [1997], OLAH [2015], and GRAVES [2013] and describe the operation of the LSTM cell in the hidden layers as defined by the LSTM architecture in Figure 3.3 for each input time step t.

For a given LSTM cell, its cell state  $c_t$  and output  $h_t$  are determined as a function of the previous hidden state output  $h_{t-1}$ , previous cell state  $c_{t-1}$  and input  $x_t$  by the sequence of the following operations.

First, the previous hidden state output  $h_{t-1}$  and current input  $x_t$  are processed by the forget gate layer  $f_t$  using a *sigmoid* neural layer that decides which input information is irrelevant and does not need to be considered for the current (new) cell state  $c_t$ . Equation 3.3 defines the output of the forget gate, where  $W_{xf}$  and  $W_{hf}$  are the respective weight matrices for the given states and  $b_f$  is the variable bias vector.

$$f_t = \sigma \left( W_{xf} x_t + W_{hf} h_{t-1} + b_f \right)$$
(3.3)

In a second step, the input gate (see Figure 3.3) determines which information from the previous hidden state output  $h_{t-1}$  and current input  $x_t$  is important for the current cell state  $c_t$ . The input gate consists of two sub-gates that perform different functions,  $i_t$  (sigmoid)
and  $\tilde{c}_t$  (tanh). First the  $i_t$  gate defines how much new information from previous hidden state output  $h_{t-1}$  and current input  $x_t$  will be passed to the new cell state. Secondly, the hidden state output  $h_{t-1}$  and current input  $x_t$  are passed through the tanh function to determine which candidate values will be added to the new state cell state  $c_t$  by creating the new vector  $\tilde{c}_t$ . Equations 3.4 and 3.5 define output functions of the two sub-gates  $i_t$  and  $\tilde{c}_t$  that form the input gate, where  $W_{xi}$ ,  $W_{hi}$ ,  $W_{xc}$  and  $W_{hc}$  are the respective weight matrices for the given states and  $b_i$  and  $b_c$  the respective bias vectors.

$$i_t = \sigma \left( W_{xi} x_t + W_{hi} h_{t-1} + b_i \right)$$
(3.4)

$$\widetilde{c}_t = tanh\left(W_{xc}x_t + W_{hc}h_{t-1} + b_c\right) \tag{3.5}$$

The current cell state  $c_t$  is then composed by dropping the not important information from the previous cell state  $c_{t-1}$  using the forget gate output  $c_t$  and adding the most important information as determined by the input gate through the  $i_t$  and  $\tilde{c}_t$  outputs (Equation 3.6).

$$c_t = f_t c_{t-1} + i_t \tilde{c}_t \tag{3.6}$$

The previous two steps are performed for updating the current cell state  $c_t$ . The current hidden state output  $h_t$  of the LSTM cell is finally determined by combining the output from the output gate  $o_t$  with a filtered version of the current cell state  $c_t$ . The output gate decides which information may be passed directly forward to the hidden state  $h_t$  from the previous  $h_{t-1}$  and current input  $x_t$  using a *sigmoid* function. Equation 3.7 defines the output gate  $o_t$ , where  $W_{xo}$  and  $W_{ho}$  are the respective weight matrices for the given state vectors and  $b_i$  and  $b_c$  the respective bias vectors.

$$o_t = \sigma \left( W_{xo} x_t + W_{ho} h_{t-1} + b_o \right)$$
(3.7)

Finally, the current cell state  $c_t$  is passed through a tanh function and is combined with the output gate  $o_t$  to define the final current hidden state output  $h_t$  of the LSTM cell ((Equation 3.8). The current hidden state output  $h_t$  is passed forward together with the current cell state  $c_t$  to the subsequent LSTM cell (t+1). Additionally, the hidden state output  $h_t$  is passed to the subsequent neural network layer.

$$h_t = o_t tanh\left(c_t\right) \tag{3.8}$$

In conventional LSTMs, also known as Unidirectional Long Short Term Memory Networks (U-LSTMs), information is processed only in the forward direction. B-LSTMs are a variation of U-LSTMs that can process information in positive and negative time directions and are thus more capable in understanding their input information [SCHUSTER and PALIWAL, 1997].

Based on the conclusions of previous research, the model is developed using stacked B-LSTM layers for the advantages it provides over stacked unidirectional LSTM and taking advantage of the long-term memory, an inherent weakness of RNN layers. However, in the context of this research work, additional versions of the proposed architecture with unidirectional and bidirectional layers and different types of neural network layers (LSTM,Gated Recurrent Unit (GRU),RNN) will be assessed. This investigation is performed in order to identify whether

the use of bidirectional neuron layers provides an increased performance over a unidirectional approach. Additionally, GRUs are a more recent and simplified version of LSTMs that may possibly provide better results compared to the latter. Simple RNN layers are also used primarily to assess the importance of long-term correlations in the bicyclist behavior data.

The novel neural network is built using TensorFlow [M. ABADI et al., 2016]. All tested versions of the model based on unidirectional and bidirectional versions of the LSTM, GRU and RNN layers use the respective default classes defined by the TensorFlow Keras layers API. Scikit-learn [VAROQUAUX et al., 2015] is used for supporting operations.

### 3.5.2 Data Preprocessing and Feature Selection

The input to the model is the sequential positional bicyclist data and speed, the sequential skeleton joint metrics derived from the skeleton detection, the explicit arm gestures, the head movement and the body pose of the bicyclists. As the dataset consists of differently scaled features, one hot encoding is applied on all categorical features and min-max normalization on the continuous features to improve the training process efficiency of the model. The features used for training and the output classes are described in Table 3.2.

Input variable	Feature type	Feature class		
X (m)	Continuous	Dynamic		
Y (m)	Continuous	Dynamic		
Speed (m/s)	Continuous	Dynamic		
left hand gesture (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (explicit)		
right hand gesture (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (explicit)		
left look (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
left overshoulder (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
right look (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
back lean (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
forward lean (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
left lean (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
right lean (-)	Boolean	Gesture archetype (implicit)		
lateral left arm angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
longitudinal left arm angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
left elbow angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
lateral right arm angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
longitudinal right arm angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
right elbow angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
shoulder twist angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
head yaw angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
lateral body angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
longitudinal body angle (°)	Continuous	Skeleton joint metric		
Output variable	Туре	Output class		
Left turn	Boolean (One-Hot encoding)	Maneuver archetype		
Right turn	Boolean (One-Hot encoding)	Maneuver archetype		
Straight	Boolean (One-Hot encoding)	Maneuver archetype		

Table 3.2: Input features (dependent variable) and output (independent variable).

Additionally, as different sets of features are available for training, the effect that the use of these different features can have on the prediction performance is investigated. Most similar approaches found in the literature use only dynamic data for the prediction task, while a few also incorporate pose detection data. However, no analysis is performed that investigates the added value that the inclusion of pose detection can have on the prediction performance. Therefore, the performance of alternative versions of the proposed model are investigated, where along with the bicyclist dynamic data, either the descriptive classes (archetypes) of explicit and implicit communication or only the skeleton joint metrics are used as features. A final test case is also investigated where only the pre-classified skeleton poses and the skeleton joint metrics are used to predict the maneuver type. These comparisons are performed in order to assess the added value that the bicyclist skeleton joint metrics and the pre-classified explicit and implicit communication cues provide towards performance. Finally, the added value of the pre-classification of explicit and implicit communication archetypes over the use of skeleton joint angle values as descriptive features for the bicyclist explicit and implicit communication behavior is also assessed. The five test cases are listed in Table 3.3.

Case Number	Case Name	Features Combination Descrip- tion	Number of Fea- tures
1	Bike Positions $+$ Speed	Bike XY coordinates, bike speed (Base comparison scenario)	3
2	All Features	Bike XY coordinates and bike speed, pre-classified body posture archetypes, hand gesture archetypes, head direction archetypes, skeleton joint angles	22
3	Bike Positions $+$ Speed $+$ Skeleton Joint Metrics	Bike XY coordinates, bike speed, skeleton joint angles	13
4	Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses	Bike XY coordinates, bike speed, pre- classified body posture archetypes, hand gesture archetypes, head direc- tion archetypes	12
5	Classified Skeleton Poses + Skeleton Joint Metrics	Pre-classified body posture archetypes, hand gesture archetypes, head direction archetypes, skeleton joint angles	19

Table 3.3:	Model	Training	and	Testing	Feature	Group	Cases.
		0		0			

### 3.5.3 Training, Validation and Model Architecture Selection

The training dataset is split into k = 5 equal subsets using stratified k-fold cross validation. We then proceed on training and validating our model using the k-fold samples. First, we need to investigate and determine the optimal model architecture and hyperparameter values. Due to the different sets of features used in the different test cases the optimal network architecture and hyperparameter values may vary depending on the input features. Thus, the optimal model settings for all cases are separately investigated

Different model architectures are tested, where starting from one and up to four B-LSTM layers are progressively stacked together to determine the optimal network architecture. A fully connected layer follows the B-LSTM layers and outputs the prediction probabilities for our multi-class classification problem. One downside when designing and training LSTM networks is the required fixed shape and size of the data input which must be defined in advance and remains constant during training and prediction. It is found that the optimal batch size is 128. Dropout [MELE and ALTARELLI, 1993] is used as the regularization strategy and the position of dropout layers and dropout probability value are investigated. It is found that the optimal performance is achieved by inserting a dropout layer between each set of two consequent neural network layers. The optimal dropout probability value is 0.5. With respect to activation functions, the default sigmoid and tanh for the B-LSTM layers and the softmaxfunction for the fully connected layer, that converts the output into a probability distribution are utilized as it is appropriate for multi class classification tasks. The Adam optimizer with a learning rate of 0.0005 is used for training the model and updating model weights, as during training it produced better performance in comparison to the Stochastic Gradient Descent (SGD) optimizer that was also tested.

Finally, categorical cross entropy is the optimal loss function for classification task. The network architecture with the best performance for test cases 1,4,5 is presented in Figure 3.2. For test cases 2: All Features and 3: Bike Positions + Speed + Skeleton Joint Metrics the best prediction results are produced using 512 (2x256) instead of 256 (2x128) units in theB-LSTM layers. This is attributed to the increased data complexity resulting from the inclusion of the raw skeletal joint metrics in the feature set. All other hyperparameters and network architecture were found to remain identical to the rest test cases.

In order to assess the model performance and select the optimal model architecture, appropriate evaluation metrics have to be used. in the context of the given model case *Accuracy* (Equation 3.9) assesses the ability of the model to classify the validation sample maneuvers correctly and is the ratio of correctly classified maneuvers (both true positives and true negatives) to all predicted maneuvers. *Precision* (Equation 3.10) is the ability of the model to correctly classify a specific bicyclist maneuver in a class over all classified bicyclist maneuvers of that same class. On the other hand, *Recall* (Equation 3.11) is the share of correctly classified bicyclist maneuvers actually belonging in that same class.

Thus, *Precision* is the preferred performance metric when the costs of false positives is high, whereas *Recall* is the preferred performance metric when the cost of false negatives is high. The *f1-score* (Equation 3.12) is a measure of relative performance between *Precision* and *Recall* that summarizes the two performance measures into a single metric. It is computed using the harmonic mean of *Precision* and *Recall*, which means that the *f1-score* weighs more

lower values and therefore can be used as the single performance metric as both the cost of false positives and false negatives is equally high for this classification task. Thus, the model evaluation will be based on the *f1-score* and the *Accuracy* score metric.

$$accuracy = \frac{Tp + Tn}{Tp + Tn + fp + fn}$$
(3.9)

$$precision = \frac{Tp}{Tp + fp}$$
(3.10)

$$recall = \frac{Tp}{Tp + fn} \tag{3.11}$$

$$f1 - score = \frac{2 * precision * recall}{precision + recall} = \frac{2 * Tp}{2 * Tp + fp + fn}$$
(3.12)

where:

- $y_i$  = The true value of the *i*-th test sample.
- $\hat{y}_i$  = The predicted value of the *i*-th test sample.
- $Tp = \text{The sum of correctly classified (predicted) test instances } \hat{y}_i$  in a maneuver type.
- Tn = The sum of classified (predicted) test instances not belonging to a maneuver type that are correctly classified.
- $fp = \text{The sum of incorrectly classified (predicted) test instances <math>\hat{y}_i$  in a maneuver type.
- fn = The sum of classified (predicted) test instances belonging to a maneuver type that are incorrectly classified.

#### 3.5.4 Uncertainty Estimation Methods in Deep Learning

Machine learning models will always provide a prediction independently of the quality of the provided input data. Thus, the proposed model will always consider the maneuver with the highest prediction probability as the "True" predicted maneuver. If a correlation with a human were established, in any given prediction task a human would always be able to provide a prediction output together with a self-defined subjective level of certainty for the provided prediction. The quantification of prediction uncertainty and the utilization of uncertainty assessment metrics for deep learning models is part of present research primarily in the scientific fields of image classification, Natural Language Processing (NLP) and computer vision for medical applications [ABDAR et al., 2021]. One exception is the work of HOEL et al. [2020], who integrated uncertainty in AV decision making through a bayesian reinforcement learning method. Simulation results in SUMO showed that trained agent can quantify the uncertainty of its decisions and identify unacceptable actions. Also the trained agent outperformed the agent trained with a standard reinforcement learning method (Deep Q-Network).

In the proposed bicyclist maneuver prediction model, problems with the input data might include unseen bicyclist behavior during model training, the absence of bicyclist behavior input data due to external factors limiting the detection or contradicting bicyclist behavior (e.g. raising the left arm indicating a left turn but moving straight or turning right). In an ideal scenario when it comes to model uncertainty, the probability difference among classes might be small, indicating high uncertainty. However, an evaluation metric or threshold is still required to assess the prediction certainty. Deep learning tools are not able to capture and quantify model uncertainty on their own [GAL and GHAHRAMANI, 2016].

Different methods have been proposed in order to assess the uncertainty for prediction tasks in deep learning applications. Monte Carlo Dropout (MC Dropout) is a regularization method that approximates training a large number of neural networks with different architectures in parallel. The key idea is to randomly drop units (along with their connections) from the neural network during training. This prevents units from co-adapting excessively on the training data [MELE and ALTARELLI, 1993]. In MC Dropout, dropout is used as a Bayesian Approximation. The neural network with arbitrary depth and non-linearities, with dropout applied before every layer, is mathematically equivalent to an approximation of a probabilistic deep Gaussian process [DAMIANOU and LAWRENCE, 2013; GAL and GHAHRAMANI, 2016]. Therefore, MC Dropout estimates the predictive mean and predictive uncertainty by collecting the results of N stochastic forward passes through the trained model.

In a second step, the prediction uncertainty for each bicyclist trajectory has to be quantified. The quantification of prediction uncertainty is part of current research, especially in the field of image classification and computer vision for medical applications. In the scientific literature, three metrics are primarily used to quantify forecast uncertainty of deep neural network models [SHADMAN ROODPOSHTI et al., 2019; ZARAGOZA et al., 1998; COMBALIA et al., 2020]. The relative entropy or Kullback-Leibler Divergence (KL Divergence), quantifies the distance between two discrete probability distributions defined on the same probability space. This is the primary metric used in scientific literature for uncertainty quantification. The closer the distribution of probabilities P to a uniform distribution Q, the smaller the prediction confidence.

$$D_{\mathsf{KL}}(P \parallel Q) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i \log\left(\frac{p_i}{q_i}\right)$$
(3.13)

The Bhattacharyya coefficient is a measure of the amount of overlap between two statistical samples or populations. It can be used to measure the separability of two classes in classification tasks.

$$BC(P \parallel Q) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sqrt{p_i q_i}$$
(3.14)

The prediction variance of the N predictions for each class, and the mean-variance of the probabilities over all prediction classes. The higher the variance of a class probability distribution p the higher the uncertainty.

$$\sigma^{2}(p_{N}(x)) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (p_{i}(x) - p_{N}(x))^{2}$$
(3.15)

The final proposed model architecture for the bicyclist maneuver prediction coupled with the application of MC Dropout at an intersection approach is presented in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: The Bidirectional LSTM model architecture coupled with the application of MC Dropout respectively for the bicyclist maneuver prediction and uncertainty evaluation of the estimated classification probabilities of the maneuver classes.

# 3.5.5 Model Performance Results

The best model results are achieved using feature group Case 4: Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses combined with B-LSTMs. The results in Figure 3.5 present the comparison for all neural layer types evaluated only for Case 4: Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses, as this feature combination produced the best prediction performance results. Here it is important to mention that Bidirectional Gated Recurrent Units (B-GRUs) almost reach the same performance as the B-LSTM model version. This is not a surprising outcome, as the GRUs is a newer and more simplified version of the LSTM. Additionally, the LSTM version significantly profits from the bidirectional information processing in comparison to the GRU version. The unidirectional GRU version significantly outperforms the unidirectional LSTM version, which exhibits comparable performance to the Bidirectional Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) version. In any case, it is also apparent that long-term memory networks are superior to the simple RNNs that suffer from the short-memory problem for the examined problem formulation.

Figure 3.6 shows the performance of all model cases using the average accuracy scores and f1-scores only for the case of B-LSTMs. As the f1-score penalizes false classifications based on the harmonic mean between model's precision and recall metrics, the f1-score values are smaller than the accuracy score values across all model cases. Results suggest that the best performance for the prediction of the bicyclist maneuver type is reached with Case 4:



Figure 3.5: Average f1-scores and accuracy scores across all k-folds for all different neural network layer types for feature group case 4: Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses.

Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses (f1-score 83,8%). The result is also consistent and comparable with results from the scientific work presented in the literature review section, where comparable classification tasks are addressed. The fact that the f1-score is almost equal to the accuracy-score (83,9%) showcases that the number of fp type and fn type classifications across all maneuver types is almost the same. Case 1: Bike Positions + Speed performed the worst compared to all other cases (f1-score 56,7%), which illustrates the high added value that the inclusion of bicyclist pose information has in predicting the maneuver at the intersection approach. All model cases used exclusively data collected before the intersection stop line. Depending on the characteristics of future applications, it might be possible to increase the data collection window and include bicyclist data collected after the stop line. In such case it is expected that the additional bicyclist dynamic data collected will increase the performance for model Case 1 or even provide an equivalent performance compared to other model cases.

Case 5: Classified Skeleton Poses + Skeleton Joint Metrics also achieved a better performance over Case 1, which shows that scientific models developed for the bicyclist maneuver intention prediction should also rely on bicyclist pose detection data. Case 2: All Features had the second-best performance (f1-score 78.6%). This shows that the increased data complexity and the added noise coming from the inclusion of skeleton joint metrics in the feature set reduces the model performance as the model fails to generalize on the added information from the skeleton joint metrics, whereas only the inclusion of pre-classified archetypes of implicit and explicit communication behavior and skeleton poses reduces the data complexity and simplifies the classification task for the B-LSTM network.



Figure 3.6: Average f1-scores and accuracy scores across all k-folds for all model cases.

Figure 3.7 presents the confusion matrices for all examined model cases. Model Case 4: Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses demonstrates overall similar accuracy values (>82%) for all maneuver types for the classification task. Additionally, the model can differentiate between the two turn maneuver types with a high degree of accuracy, as 1.5%of left turns are incorrectly classified as right turns and 4.0% of right turns are classified as left turns. All other incorrectly classified left and right turn maneuvers are then classified as a straight maneuver (13.2% and 12% respectively). A similar pattern can be observed for straight maneuvers, as 13.8% of straight maneuvers are incorrectly classified as left turns in comparison to only 3.4% being classified incorrectly as right turns. Also, in Case 5, the accuracy results are similar to those in Case 4 for left turns and straight maneuvers, while the model performed very poorly in the classification of right turns, showing that added information from the bicyclist dynamic data is important for the prediction of bicyclist right turns. This statement is also supported by the fact that the classification accuracy of right turns in model Case 5 is higher than that of model Case 1, where only bicyclist dynamic data were used for the classification task. For all other maneuver types, model Case 1 had by far the worst performance compared to all model cases. Finally, model cases 2 and 3, where skeleton joint metrics are used alongside the bicyclist dynamic data, demonstrate the highest classification accuracy for left turns (91.2% and 94.1% respectively), however this is attributed to the fact that both model cases are susceptible to predicting left turns over right turns and straight maneuvers. This is also supported by the fact that 34.5% and 31% of straight maneuvers are



incorrectly classified as left turns, while the same rate is only 13.8% for model Case 4.

Figure 3.7: Confusion matrix results for all examined model cases. For each model case, the respective confusion matrix depicts the prediction accuracy (predicted maneuver, x-axis) for each maneuver class (actual maneuver, y-axis).

### 3.5.6 Uncertainty Quantification Results

This section presents a selection of results from the test dataset where MC Dropout was implemented in order to quantify model uncertainty. For this part only predictions for each test sample are compared to the true maneuver classes in an effort to better understand the behavior of the uncertainty quantification metrics and suggest possible approaches and thresholds for differentiating between certain and uncertain predictions. Therefore, three bicyclist trajectories are selected from the test dataset to demonstrate the implementation and usability of MC Dropout for quantifying the uncertainty of the bicyclist maneuver prediction task. In

Figure 3.8 and Figure 3.9, the respective examples present a bicyclist trajectory where the model predicted the bicyclist maneuver correctly. Figure 3.8 presents the case with high prediction confidence and Figure 3.9 presents the case with a lower prediction confidence but still sufficient to qualify for a high certainty. In Figure 3.10, the example is from an incorrect bicyclist maneuver prediction, where also the model confidence is low. The aim of the evaluation is to better understand and evaluate the implementation of the prediction uncertainty quantification procedure. The prediction probability and the corresponding metrics for quantifying the prediction uncertainty are presented for the entire duration of the trajectory acquisition (Step: 0-127). These metrics include the distribution of the prediction probabilities of the MC Dropout (N=100) forward passes through the neural network, the respective variance of the prediction probabilities for all maneuver classes, the respective results for the Bhattacharyya coefficient and the relative entropy.



Figure 3.8: Example: Correct model prediction with increasing prediction confidence for the three maneuver classes Left Turn, Right Turn, Straight. (Top left: Distribution of prediction confidence across all maneuver classes, Bottom Left: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the Bhattacharyya coefficient, Top Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the prediction probability variance, Bottom Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using relative entropy).



Figure 3.9: Example: Correct model prediction with low prediction confidence for the three maneuver classes Left Turn, Right Turn, Straight. (Top left: Distribution of prediction confidence across all maneuver classes, Bottom Left: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the Bhattacharyya coefficient, Top Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the prediction probability variance, Bottom Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using relative entropy).



Figure 3.10: Example: Incorrect model prediction with low prediction confidence for the three maneuver classes Left Turn, Right Turn, Straight. (Top left: Distribution of prediction confidence across all maneuver classes, Bottom Left: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the Bhattacharyya coefficient, Top Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the prediction probability variance, Bottom Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty prediction uncertainty using relative entropy).

The comparison of the results among Figure 3.8, Figure 3.9, and Figure 3.10 suggests that high prediction uncertainty is linked to higher values of variance and relative entropy. Both the average variance and relative entropy provide a meaningful quantification and assessment of the model's predictive uncertainty. The variance evaluation of the different maneuver classes can additionally be used to evaluate the predictive uncertainty for the final prediction. Additionally, the Bhattacharyya coefficient offers the option to compare the probability distributions of two prediction classes and to evaluate their overlap. Thus, it becomes possible to conclude or exclude certain maneuver classes through the Law of Non-Contradiction (LNC). For example, examining the Bhattacharyya coefficient values together with the variance of the prediction confidence in Figure 3.10, it can be concluded that despite the high model uncertainty, the right turn maneuver can be safely excluded as a possible prediction class, due to the small overlap among the respective distributions and the small Bhattacharyya coefficient and variance values.

The combined assessment of the individual uncertainty quantification metrics has therefore the potential to further improve the usability of the predictions for the respective maneuver classes especially when the respective predictions are used from the AV for adapting its driving behavior in response to the intentions of bicyclists. The exclusion of certain maneuver classes has the potential to further increase the efficiency of AVs as well as the traffic safety during AV and bicycle interactions. For example, in a scenario where a right turn bicyclist maneuver is excluded as a probable maneuver intention, AVs approaching the intersection from the opposite direction might still drive with a slower speed in anticipation of a probable crossing left turn maneuver.

Subsequently, the question of how to determine the threshold between a "certain" and an "uncertain" prediction arises. Based on the results of the uncertainty quantification in the test dataset, a statistical analysis is performed and the samples of the corresponding metrics for correct and incorrect classification are evaluated for each test trajectory. The results are presented in Figure 3.11. The analysis shows differences in the distributions of both the relative entropy and the average variance values between the "correct" and "incorrect" classified test samples. From the analysis, it can be observed that even correct predictions can be classified as "uncertain". Accordingly, by quantifying the prediction uncertainty, the quality of the model for bicyclist maneuver prediction increases. Thus, it is possible to define threshold values for both metrics for differentiating among "high certainty" and "low certainty" predictions. However, the application of such thresholds should still remain an area of future research and dependent on the criticality of the respective prediction in a case by case assessment.



Figure 3.11: Determination of the limits for the evaluation of the confidence of the model prediction. The blue line represents a possible boundary of the prediction uncertainty depending on the corresponding minimum (Variance) and maximum (Relative Entropy) value of "incorrect" predictions.

### 3.5.7 Discussion

A bicycle simulator is used to study the behavior of bicyclists and to collect data for developing a B-LSTM model that predicts the bicyclist intended maneuver type before an intersection approach. First the bicyclist dynamic behavior and the explicit and implicit communication behavior is recorded. Features describing the bicyclist behavior are extracted and associated with the respective maneuver types. A deep learning model based on B-LSTM is trained on

behavioral data from the bicycle simulator dataset. The performance of the proposed model architecture is evaluated using different sets of descriptive features. Five different model cases are investigated in order to identify the optimal input feature set and evaluate the added value from the inclusion of the bicyclist explicit and implicit communication behavioral data in the classification task. A maximum average f1-score value of 83.8% is reached with Model Case 4: Bike Positions + Speed + Classified Skeleton Poses, where preclassified archetypes of implicit and explicit communication behavior are used together with the bicyclist dynamic behavior data for the maneuver type prediction. The result is also comparable to other research found in the scientific literature in the field of human action classification and prediction in traffic environments. In comparison to the relatively poor performance of the Model Case 1: Bike Positions + Speed, where only bicyclist dynamic data are used, the results of the present research illustrate the importance of the inclusion of bicyclist body pose information in the development of predictive approaches for bicyclist behavior. Also the preclassification of bicyclist body poses has the potential to further improve model performance as the input data complexity is reduced. Possible application areas of the proposed model may include, but are not limited to, the expansion and support of existing models and functions in the field of automated driving and the improvement of traffic efficiency and safety through real-time monitoring and forecasting of bicyclist behavior at traffic intersections.

The deep learning model is developed using data from bicycle simulator studies. Overall, most test subjects evaluated the bicycle simulator positively. The biggest advantages of the experimental setup are the increased safety in contrast to real world experiments, the reduced cost in comparison to real traffic experiments and observations and that all test subjects experienced the same traffic situations with no other environmental factors affecting the scenario evolution over time other than the individual test subject's behavior. The model performance results are also comparable to the results of similar approaches found in the literature in the field of road user behavior prediction and classification that were trained on both naturalistic and simulated data. Future work may focus on expanding the simulator dataset with naturalistic data gathered in real traffic conditions or at test sites and investigating potential of the inclusion of simulator data in the methodological approaches for designing, training and testing of models in the fields of automated driving and human behavior prediction.

Finally, in the scope of this dissertation, the proposed model for the bicyclist maneuver prediction coupled with the mechanism for the uncertainty quantification and assessment can be used as a critical function that supports the development of an optimization method for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions at unsignalized intersections and adresses research questions 1 and 2 as they were defined in section 1.2. The proposed model can reveal the intended maneuver of a bicyclist before entering the intersection area with a measure for the prediction confidence. This information is not only valuable for motion planning and for adjusting the driving behavior of individual AVs but also for coordinating and optimizing the AV and bicyclist traffic flow at unsignalized intersections and resolving their interactions on the system level.

# Chapter 4

# **Optimization of AV and Bicyclist Interactions at Unsignalized Intersections**

# 4.1 Overview

As the share of bicycle traffic grows rapidly in urban networks, novel methods for resolving interactions among AVs and bicyclists in mixed traffic need to be developed. It can be expected that a significant number of such interactions will take place at unsignalized intersections in urban areas. In signalized intersections, only acceptable or conditionally acceptable traffic streams are served during each phase and therefore conflicts among traffic streams are efficiently regulated and resolved. However, in unsignalized intersections road users are individually responsible for following traffic priority rules, which, in turn, may lead to more complex and safety critical interactions. In this context, present research on intelligent traffic control focuses primarily on leveraging the potential of the introduction of AVs in traffic, through the exploitation of vehicle integrated sensor and communication technologies, for controlling the conflicting traffic streams not on the traffic stream level as the case is currently with HRUs but rather on the road user level through scheduling and controlling the vehicle driving paths at the intersection area. These approaches mostly assume full communication and cooperation among the AVs and full compliance with the control actions.

Apart from some exceptions [NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al., 2019; NIELS, MITROVIC, DOBROTA, et al., 2020; NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al., 2020] most research primarily focuses on AV intersection control and assumes no mixed traffic or interactions with VRUs. With respect to VRUs (bicyclists and pedestrians) NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2019], NIELS, MITROVIC, DOBROTA, et al. [2020], and NIELS, BOGENBERGER, et al. [2020] consider signalized intersections, where still the VRU traffic streams make use of dedicated signal controllers, signal phases and infrastructure. However, bicyclists in urban areas often travel in mixed traffic sections with motorized vehicles, where no bicycle infrastructure is present. In contrast to an AV, their driving intentions are mostly unpredictable, unless explicitly communicated. In Chapter 3, a deep learning model for predicting the maneuver intention of a bicyclist at an intersection approach is proposed. Additionally, a method for self-quantifying the prediction uncertainty is incorporated within the model architecture. This adresses the requirements for the developement of a method for resolving the interactions among bicyclists and AVs as described in the research questions 1 and 2 (section 1.2). Given

that the bicyclist maneuver intention is coupled with an uncertainty measure, it is possible, in a further step, to exploit this information for optimizing the traffic interactions of AVs and bicycle traffic at unsignalized intersections. The proposed model can thus be integrated into a method for resolving the interactions among bicyclists and AVs through cooperation (research question 3 section 1.2), while optimizing mixed traffic flow at an unsignalized intersection (research question 4 section 1.2). Such a method has the potential to improve traffic performance and contribute to the acceptance and seamless integration of AVs in urban traffic.

In contrast to signalized approaches, where a protected phase for VRUs is provided, in the case of mixed traffic flow and unsignalized intersection control, bicyclists have to adhere to certain traffic rules, exhibit different riding behaviors and are limited by their competences due to their individual traits and characteristics. Bicyclists in subordinate traffic streams have to provide priority to road users on superordinate traffic stream(s), unless a sufficient time gap between the prioritized road users is available. This time gap is different for each bicyclist [OPIELA et al., 1980]. The travel time for a bicyclist through the intersection cannot be accurately estimated as it relies on both the bicyclist desired speed and the current traffic situation. Also, there is the chance of observing bicyclists impeding superordinate road users for several reasons. These may involve false interpretation, misjudgment and estimation of the superordinate user behavior and speed from the bicyclists or intentionally impeding superordinate users due to impatience or the given traffic state at the intersection. In the case of AVs, the possibility of exploiting AVs by impeding their path exists. Bicyclists may always assume that priority will be handed over to them in any situation or that the AV will anyway stop or decelerate in order to avoid a collision. This is highly problematic, especially given the fact that the intersection layout, infrastructure and dimensions are defined and assessed according to the expected traffic flow given a set of priority rules that also considered as part of this process Forschungsgesellschaft für Strassen- und Verkehrswesen (FGSV) [2015] and NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL [2016].

Additionally, it can be assumed that bicyclists will be present along all intersection approaches at any given time and therefore any measure that assigns priority to a certain group of bicyclists or a bicycle traffic stream, has to always consider possible conflicts with other bicyclists on the higher rank traffic streams. As a result an additional question arises as to how to communicate to bicyclists the fact that they are allowed transverse through the intersection safely. At signalized intersections, this task is performed by the signal heads. At unsignalized intersections, bicyclists comply with the traffic signs and general traffic rules. However, here the aim is to regulate the priority among bicycles and AVs in order to optimize their interactions. Thus, special functions have to be developed for AVs that allow them to safely communicate and interact with bicyclists and adjust their behavior in order to resolve traffic interactions.

Therefore a method for resolving interactions among AVs and bicycle traffic at unsignalized intersections has to be able to address all the aforementioned challenges in the areas of behavior prediction, confidence quantification, traffic state estimation, communication, cooperation and safety. This chapter proposes a MILP based optimization method for optimizing the traffic flow of interacting bicyclists and AVs. The method considers the aforementioned challenges, by conditionally activating and deactivating prioritization functions in AVs that adjust their driving behavior, based on the estimated traffic conditions. Specifically, in the case of bicyclist

prioritization, AVs try to form acceptable time gaps for bicyclists to pass through the conflict points. First the developed method is presented in detail together with solutions with respect to the integration of the proposed method in the AVs system architecture. Also suggestions for the possible communication of the AVs system state to bicyclists are presented. Figure 4.1 presents the key properties and components of the proposed optimization framework.



Figure 4.1: The key properties and components of the proposed optimization framework.

In a second step, the proposed method is evaluated using the SUMO microscopic traffic simulation software. In this context, the approach for the modeling and integration of the optimization method, the AV prioritization function in SUMO are thoroughly described. Also details regarding the calibration of the AV and bicycle behavior in SUMO are provided.

In a final step, evaluation scenarios are defined for assessing the proposed optimization method against the "Base" scenario of without optimization, while considering different aspects including the traffic demand composition as well as the average bicycle maneuver prediction certainty. Finally, results are analyzed and discussed in the respective sections of this chapter.

# 4.2 Methodology

# 4.2.1 Description of the Optimization System Architecture

This section describes the proposed method for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions at unsignalized intersections. As discussed, the method has to address certain challenges that arise, due to the fact that the behavior of bicyclists is inherently unpredictable and, in contrast to AV vehicle behavior, cannot be fully controlled. Nevertheless, the method has to incorporate functions that communicate the control decisions to the respective road users. Finally, the optimization objectives have to be defined and an approach estimation for the respective optimization variables has to be defined.

# 4.2.1.1 Context

The proposed method addresses the optimization of the traffic flow at an unsignalized fourarm intersection with mixed traffic, a typical example of an unsignalized intersection for urban areas in Germany, according to the FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV) [2015]. With respect to traffic priority rules, these are defined according to Figure 2.3 and Table 2.1 for a four arm intersection. Despite that the proposed method aims to regulate the traffic flow, still a baseline of right-of-way rules has to be in place, primarily for regulating interactions among HRUs, especially when AVs are not present. Additionally, right-of-way rules in unsignalized intersections play a significant role during dimensioning and for the evaluation of traffic performance [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015]. The proposed method does not aim to completely substitute the common methods of right-of-way assignment due to the presence of HRUs, as this would be equal to transforming the unsignalized traffic control to signalized traffic control. The proposed method instead works in the middle ground between signalized and unsignalized traffic control.

### 4.2.1.2 Definition of Road User Types

The proposed method considers two types of road users: The AVs and the bicyclists. With respect to the AVs, it is assumed that they are SAE level 5 vehicles with full automation therefore can drive without a human present in the vehicle. The AVs fully comply with the traffic rules, are interconnected, exchange information and cooperate to resolve traffic situations. Given that there is full information exchange, all AVs at the intersection have a detailed overview of all road users present at the intersection at all times together with their intentions and future actions. Finally, they are equipped with the prediction model presented in Chapter 3 and can predict the intentions of nearby bicyclists with a certain level of confidence. Bicyclists ride on conventional bicycles are assumed to fully comply with traffic rules and that they do not impede users on a higher priority traffic stream. Here, bicyclists on special types of bicycles, such as cargo bicycles are not considered, as these exhibit different dynamic, operational, communication and tactical behavior that was not part of the research undertaken in Chapter 3 and therefore were not considered during the prediction model training and testing.

### 4.2.1.3 Prioritization Concept

At unsignalized intersections traffic performance is limited due to the reduced capacity of subordinate traffic streams. Aside from the dimensions and type of the traffic infrastructure at the intersection approaches, right-of-way rules play a significant role in the estimation of the LOS at intersections, as the capacity of the subordinate streams is further reduced due to the traffic flow on superordinate traffic streams FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV) [2015]. Eventually the right-of-way rules define how the occupation rights and time of the intersection points is allocated among different traffic streams. The higher the rank of a traffic stream the greater the right and the probability that it occupies the intersection points. Therefore, the problem of resolving the interactions can be viewed as a problem of optimal resource allocation, where the resource in this context is the time that a traffic stream can occupy the respective intersection points (space). The mechanism for distributing the allocation of the occupancy time is the prioritization of a traffic stream over the other. In present research, this problem has been addressed so far, only for the case of AV traffic, through scheduling the arrival time and speed of the road users and therefore creating conflict free paths for each road user. However, in the context of this research, bicyclists are being considered as a new user group. Their behavior cannot be fully controlled and thus may be unpredictable.

The proposed prioritization concept aims to integrate bicycle traffic into a method for optimizing traffic flow in a AVs traffic environment. The concept relies in its core on the present traffic and right-of-way rules as defined by the StVOs, that are assumed to be known and acceptable by both bicyclists and AVs and define the hierarchy of prioritization among the different traffic streams. Given that the priority rules are established for all users, the prioritization concept uses the base situation for estimating the traffic state. It assumes that both user groups will comply with the default priority rules, while interacting with each other. Users on subordinate traffic streams will provide priority and won't impede road users of super-ordinate traffic streams. Users on subordinate traffic streams to drive through the intersection. In this process, the interacting road users are identified and a prediction for their future behavior is derived.

In a second step the prioritization concept evaluates the possibility to provide priority to subordinate traffic stream(s) over superordinate traffic stream(s) based on future traffic state estimations. The estimation of the future traffic state however is difficult due to the uncertainty in the behavior of bicyclists. Even with the maneuver prediction in place, that resolves the problem of allocating a bicyclist to a specific traffic stream, still their behavior cannot be predicted with high certainty. Bicyclists also exhibit inherently a great variation of desired travel speeds, acceleration reaction times and gap acceptance due to their personal traits. Therefore a state estimation for bicyclists can only be derived based on certain assumptions. It is therefore assumed that:

User paths and intersection point definition and prediction: Based on the maneuver prediction intention, incoming users are assigned to a typical path for their intended maneuver that intersects with the typical path of other road users. It is important to note here that in the context of this dissertation no special method for predicting the

bicyclist path is proposed or used. In the context of this research it is assumed that this functions is already integrated with AVs. In a real world implementation separate paths with a given prediction confidence would be generated for each arriving bicyclist. However, still this prediction currently takes place only for the short-term time horizon (<2s) as discussed in Section 2.4. Therefore, it is safe to assume that the long term path prediction will still rely on a typical trajectory.

- Bicyclist ETA at intersection points of two traffic streams: Bicyclists will maintain their current speed as detected at any time step until arriving at the respective intersection point. It is assumed that no external factors or other road users influence this procedure. In real traffic, road users interact in multiple directions with each other. Especially bicyclists can freely navigate the traffic space without restrictions in contrast to motor vehicles that typically occupy a traffic lane to its entire width. Tracking the effect of these chaotic interactions is not entirely feasible neither in the simulation nor in reality. The methodology therefore only accounts for two-way, pairwise interactions between two road users each time (the AV and the bicyclist). It won't base estimations based on the effects of other users on the two-way interaction under investigation.
- **Bicyclist Gap Acceptance**: Bicyclists of subordinate traffic streams will accept only time gaps equal or greater than 4 seconds [OPIELA et al., 1980] and will never impede higher priority road users forcing the latter to decelerate. This value is fixed for all bicyclists regardless of their personal traits.
- Bicyclist behavior during prioritization: In case of prioritization, bicyclists are considered to make use of their assigned priority right and pass trough the intersection point with the higher priority stream, while accelerating to their desired speed. Influences from other road users are not considered as part of this research. Speed adjustment by bicyclists aiming to ride through the intersection point without coming to a conflict with an oncoming user or to a stop after another higher priority user has passed through are also not considered. Bicyclists riding past the intersection point are assumed to ride past the intersection area, while accelerating to their desired speed.

Figure 4.2 presents the user paths and intersection point definition and prediction modeling. The respective assumptions simplify the problem of traffic state estimation both for bicyclists and for AVs given the uncertainty of the bicyclist behavior. The decision making process of bicyclists is far too complex to model especially in the context of multiple interactions and influences with other road users.

Given the proposed assumptions, a function has to be developed that eventually decides on the prioritization of certain traffic streams given the estimated traffic state. The decision making process can be therefore formulated as a MILP optimization problem, with the objective to improve traffic efficiency. Subsection 4.2.2 presents and discusses the optimization problem in detail. The Optimizer regulates which traffic streams will gain priority over the others by comparing the estimated traffic state in the case of no prioritization against the case of prioritization.

In the context of the integration of bicycle traffic certain aspects need to be addressed. The first aspect, is how the prioritization of a bicycle stream should take place. It is proposed that



Figure 4.2: User path modeling and intersection point definition. Figure adapted from: FED-ERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION [2004].

in the case of prioritization, AVs form acceptable, bicycle-friendly time gaps so that bicyclists can safely drive through the superordinate traffic stream. The size of the acceptable time gap is set to 6s which is 2s greater than 4 seconds estimated by OPIELA et al. [1980]. The additional 2s are added to ensure that bicyclists accelerate conveniently to their desired speed and that also slower moving bicyclists are being considered. The concept for the generation of acceptable time gaps for bicyclists on the minor traffic stream is presented as a graphical representation in Figure 4.3. The decision for this approach lies on multiple reasons:

- Subordinate bicyclists already make use of acceptable time gaps for driving through a superordinate traffic stream in the present traffic context. It is also important to mention here that present research on the effects of AVs on traffic performance ARIA et al. [2016], MÜLLER et al. [2016], MAKRIDIS et al. [2018], LU et al. [2020], and OLSTAM et al. [2020] as presented in subsection 2.7.1 consider very small car-following time gaps between AV traffic (smaller than 1s). These time gaps are unacceptable for bicyclists [OPIELA et al., 1980] let alone for other motor vehicles. In the case of high AV traffic flow on the super ordinate traffic stream, it will become even more difficult for bicycles to pass through. The proposed method therefore ensures that given the traffic state and bicycle traffic demand at an intersection, bicycle-friendly time gaps can be formed if necessary. As a result, the proposed approach does not require for existing traffic rules to be altered or for special training from the bicyclist side and is easy to comprehend.
- AVs are not required to come to a full stop at the intersection approach and steady uninterrupted traffic flow on the super ordinated traffic stream in most



Figure 4.3: Graphical representation of the proposed prioritization concept based on the generation of acceptable, bicycle friendly time gaps between AVs on the super ordinated traffic stream. a) Deactivation of the prioritization (default state), b) activation of the prioritization.

situations is guaranteed. This ensures the acceptance or tolerance of the specific strategy from the AV passenger side and limits the expected negative efficiency effects on the super ordinate traffic stream as AVs continue to flow. From another perspective it additionally accounts for the uncertainty in the bicyclist intentions. Inherently, the evaluation of traffic performance following the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] or the HCM [NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL, 2016] considers that superordinate traffic streams require more capacity due to the increased traffic flow. The interruption of the traffic flow on a super-ordinate traffic stream will negatively affect LOS to the point that a different evaluation methodology for the LOS needs to be implemented. The proposed method aims to assist bicyclists in their interactions with superordinate traffic streams and improve their traffic efficiency without significantly deteriorating the traffic conditions for AV traffic flow.

The possibility that the priority state can be exploited by bicyclists in the expense of AVs is reduced while ensuring steady traffic conditions. It forces the bicyclists to either accept or deny a small but convenient time frame for them to pass through the intersection point. This is a more flexible and optimal solution in contrast to signal controlled approaches where bicyclists eventually have the possibility to react later to the signal head state as they are given a certain long green time period to pass through. This approach also limits oncoming bicyclists from riding with a slower speed knowing that they will pass through the intersection point. Such an implementation would actually be equivalent to introducing a form of "signalized control" at an unsignalized intersection and is out of scope of the present research.

Another aspect that needs to be addressed is how to resolve the interactions between bicyclists of conflicting bicycle streams in the context of prioritization. As the bicyclist behavior cannot be controlled, bicyclists are unaware of the intentions of other bicyclists in the intersection. Therefore, in the case that bicyclists are present on the superordinate traffic stream, it is not possible to prioritize bicyclists of a subordinate intersecting traffic stream in order to avoid possible collisions and critical interactions among bicyclists. This restriction eventually limits the activation time of the prioritization concept especially at intersections with high bicycle traffic flow, however it ensures safe and acceptable interaction among all road users.

A final aspect that needs to be addressed is the consideration of the bicyclist intention uncertainty. The primary problem for the optimization function is to correctly assign the involved road users in the correct traffic stream. In this case it is decided to introduce the bicyclist intention uncertainty as a weight factor for the respective traffic state estimation for each bicyclist belonging to a certain bicycle traffic stream. The higher the prediction confidence the greater the effect of the respective user estimated traffic state on the optimizer. At the same time, the weight factor is introduced for AV and is set equal to 1.0 as it is assumed that the AV driving direction is known. This ensures that AVs higher confidence of maneuver intention consistently outweighs lower confidence.

#### 4.2.1.4 AV Prioritization Functions

In order to enable the prioritization of bicyclists, AVs have to be equipped with special functions that adapt their driving behavior in order to generate the respective time gaps for bicycle traffic. In this process, AVs will form acceptable time gaps between each other or decelerate for prioritizing bicyclists. Given the predefined restrictions that traffic flow on the superordinate traffic stream should not be interrupted, AVs should not come to a full stop but rather maintain a minimum driving speed while driving towards the intersection point with the subordinate traffic stream. Additionally, only bicyclists that are past the intersection approach are considered by the optimizer as only for these bicyclists, a maneuver prediction is made. Therefore if the bicyclists indeed accept the provided time gaps and pass through the intersection point in time, the optimization needs to be deactivated. The same applies for the case where the maneuver prediction is false and bicyclists drive towards another direction.

However, as the acceptance of the time gap is not guaranteed, the prioritization has to remain active until the bicyclists have passed through the intersection point. This means that possibly bicyclists are going to accept a time gap by a following AV. Also, while prioritization is active, bicyclists will still be arriving at the intersection. It is therefore possible given that bicyclist travel with different speeds, that by the time the bicyclists are close to the intersection point, additional bicyclists have caught up and pass through the intersection. This means that in case of high traffic demand, bicyclists may eventually bring oncoming superordinate AVs to a stop as a long queue of bicyclists passes through the intersection.

Also, from the AV perspective it can be the case that by the time the prioritization is activated for the respective stream, the AV is so close to the intersection point that it can no longer safely and comfortably decelerate in time for the prioritization state. In such case, the AV needs to continue driving past the intersection point and the following AV has to prioritize the bicycle traffic. Therefore depending on AV position, speed, distance to the intersect point, and time gap to the leader AV different AV states need to be defined that describe how the

AV has to adjust its behavior depending on the traffic state. The decision making process for the respective AV, when the prioritization is activated is described below:

In case the optimizer activates the prioritization for bicycle traffic then, depending on the state of the AV on the traffic stream, each AV on the relevant route decides:

- Whether to create an acceptable gap to its leader AV.
- Whether to slow down and decelerate in order for the interacting bicycle(s) to pass through in case the AV is the leader of the platoon or the leader AV is past the intersection point.
- Whether to not adjust its behavior as it is not possible to create the time gap in time with a safe and comfortable deceleration rate.

In this context, supportive functions need to be developed that do not only adapt the AV driving behavior but also map the interactions with bicyclist of the minor traffic stream. Given the assumptions described in subsection 4.2.8, for the bicyclist and AV approach speed, AVs have to classify the interacting bicyclists and AVs based on the nature of their interaction. For each vehicle (AV / bicyclist) or *ego vehicle*, its *intersecting vehicle(s)* are defined in each simulation time step t. The pairwise mapping and classification of interactions takes place from the *ego* vehicle perspective for all vehicles of all intersection traffic streams depending on their maneuver prediction. Therefore AVs are considered at all times as their maneuver intention is known. Bicyclists are considered as soon as they arrive at the intersection area as the model for the prediction of the bicyclist maneuver intention has concluded its operation. All *intersecting vehicles* are assigned to a class depending on the type of their intersecting relationship to the *ego vehicle*. As a result all relationships among all road user pairs are mapped. The intersecting class defines if the two road users will come into an interaction while maintaining their current speed and by calculating their ETA to the intersect point. The classification considers the following properties:

- **Priority traffic stream:** This information is important in order to define the exact relationship between the vehicle pairs at the intersection points for the accurate estimation of the traffic state in case of activation and deactivation of the prioritization.
- **Stop status:** In case the lower priority vehicle is already stopped, it cannot be assumed that the vehicle will travel past the intersection point with its present speed. Therefore, the acceleration process towards the intersection point to its desired speed needs to be considered.
- **Time gap to leader for vehicles in higher priority traffic streams:** The investigation of interactions takes place pairwise for each two interacting road users. The size of the time gaps between vehicles on the higher ranked stream has to be considered as they might not be acceptable by the lower priority vehicles and therefore platoons are formed.

Based on these considerations, a pairwise investigation of the interaction of the *ego* user to all possible *int* (intersecting) users is performed. The investigation uses as basis their common intersect points *i*. The respective ETA of the *ego* user to each intersect points *i* in the users path is estimated using Equations 4.1 to 4.8:

As the main interest in the interaction analysis is to identify based on the default priority rules, until when a user will occupy each intersect point *i* and hinter the respective *int* subordinate users, the *ego* user has to cover a distance  $s_i^u$  that is given by Equation 4.1:

$$s_i^u = d_i^u + l_u \tag{4.1}$$

where:

 $d_i^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  The present distance of user u to intersect point i.

 $l_u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The length of user u.

The ego user has to cover the distance  $s_i^u$  in order to first occupy and subsequently free intersect point *i*. The arrival of the user is a function of its travel speed towards the intersect point *i*. Given the complexity and the high uncertainty in accurately predicting the long-term position of road users that is also influenced by external factors, certain assumptions have to be made in order to proceed forward with the ETA estimation. At any given time *t* each road user travels with a speed  $v_t^u$  and an acceleration rate  $a_t^u$ . It is assumed that the user will always strive to approach the intersect point *i* with its desired or maximum allowed speed  $v_{max}^u$ . Given this assumption, the distance  $s_i^u$  is consists of two separate parts: the acceleration part and the stable speed part, as defined in Equation 4.2:

$$s_i^u = s_a^u + s_s^u \tag{4.2}$$

where:

- $s_a^u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The acceleration distance of user u to its maximum allowed or desired speed towards intersect point *i*.
- $s_s^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  The stable speed distance of user u with its maximum allowed or desired speed towards intersect point *i*.

while based on Equation 4.2, the conditions in Equation 4.3 apply:

$$s_{i}^{u} = \begin{cases} s_{a}^{u} & s_{a}^{u} \ge d_{i}^{u} + l_{u} \\ s_{a}^{u} + s_{s}^{u} & s_{a}^{u} < d_{i}^{u} + l_{u} \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

The current acceleration of user u that will be used for the subsequent estimation of the ETA to the intersect point i at time step t is decided based on the conditions defined in Equation 4.4.

$$a_{c}^{u} = \begin{cases} a_{t}^{u} & v_{t}^{u} > 0\\ a_{max}^{u} & v_{t}^{u} = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

where:

- $a_c^u \in \mathbb{R}$  = The current selected acceleration rate of user u.
- $v^u_t \in \mathbb{R}^+ \quad = \text{Speed of user } u \text{ at time step } t.$
- $a_t^u \in \mathbb{R}$  = Acceleration rate of user u at time step t.
- $a_{max}^u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The maximum or desired acceleration rate of user u. It is assumed that if user u is stopped, the user intends to accelerate to the intersect point i with its maximum or desired acceleration rate.

In the pairwise investigation no contextual knowledge on the detected road user behavior is considered. Therefore, given the detected acceleration or deceleration rate it is not possible to accurately predict the intended target speed of user u. In the context of this approach, it is therefore assumed that in case of deceleration user u intends to come to a full stop (target speed = 0) and in case of acceleration user u intends to reach its desired or maximum allowed speed  $v_{max}^u$ . For the investigation of the acceleration distance  $s_a^u$ , first  $t_a^u$ , which is the time spend for user u accelerating or decelerating from its current speed  $v_c^u = v_t^u$  to its target speed, has to be determined (Equation 4.5).

$$t_a^u = \begin{cases} -v_c^u / a_c^u & a_c^u < 0\\ (v_{max}^u - v_c^u) / a_c^u & a_c^u \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

where:

 $a_c^u \in \mathbb{R}$  = The current selected acceleration rate of user u.

 $v_c^u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The current speed of user u.

 $v_{max}^u \in \mathbb{R} =$  The maximum or desired speed of user u.

Given the estimation for  $t_a^u$ ,  $s_a^u$  is calculated using Equation 4.6.

$$s_a^u = v_c^u t_a^u + \frac{1}{2} a_c^u t_a^{u2}$$
(4.6)

where:

 $v_c^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  The current speed of user u.

 $t_a^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  Time spend for user u accelerating or decelerating from its current speed  $v_c^u$  to its maximum allowed or desired speed  $v_{max}^u$ .

 $a_c^u \in \mathbb{R}$  = Current acceleration or deceleration rate of user u.

In case that  $s_a^u < s_i^u$  and  $a_c^u < 0$  the result of Equation 4.6 suggests that user u will come to a full stop before the intersect point i. In the context of this approach, it is assumed that the ego user u will first decelerate to a full stop during time period  $t_{ds}^u$  and then accelerate again past the intersection point i. Thus,  $t_a^u \rightarrow t_{ds}^u$ , while Equation 4.2 is transformed to Equation 4.7:

$$s_i^u = s_{a,new}^u + s_{s,new}^u + s_{ds}^u$$
(4.7)

where:

 $s_{a,new}^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  The new acceleration distance of user u to its maximum allowed or desired speed towards intersect point i from the previous stop position.

 $s_{s,new}^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  The new stable speed distance of user u with its maximum allowed or desired speed towards intersect point i from the previous stop position.

$$s_{ds}^u \in \mathbb{R}^+$$
 = The deceleration distance of user  $u$  to a stop before intersect point  $i$ .

 $t_{ds}^u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = Time spend for user u decelerating to a stop before intersect point i.

Subsequently, a new investigation that additionally considers the intermediate stop of user u need to take place for the accurate estimation of the ETA to the intersect point i using Equation 4.7 and then Equations 4.3-4.6 assuming that user u comes to a stop at distance  $s_{ds}^{u}$  and then immediately accelerates to its maximum allowed or desired speed  $v_{max}^{u}$  with its desired acceleration rate  $a_{max}^{u}$ . Finally, the estimated total travel time  $t_{s}^{u}$ , user u requires to travel distance  $s_{i}^{u}$  is defined using Equation 4.8.

$$t_{s}^{u} = \begin{cases} \frac{-v_{c}^{u} \pm \sqrt{v_{c}^{u^{2}} - 2a_{c}^{u}s_{i}^{u}}}{a_{c}^{u}} & s_{a}^{u} \ge s_{i}^{u} \text{ or } s_{a,new}^{u} + s_{ds}^{u} \ge s_{i}^{u} \\ \frac{s_{s}^{u} - s_{a}^{u}}{v_{max}^{u}} + t_{a}^{u} & s_{a}^{u} < s_{i}^{u} \text{ and } a_{c}^{u} > 0 \\ \frac{s_{s,new}^{u} - s_{a,new}^{u}}{v_{max}^{u}} + t_{a,new}^{u} + t_{ds}^{u} & s_{a}^{u} < s_{i}^{u} \text{ and } a_{c}^{u} < 0 \text{ and } s_{a,new}^{u} < s_{i}^{u} \end{cases}$$
(4.8)

where:

 $v^u_c \in \mathbb{R}^+ = \text{The current speed of user } u.$ 

 $t_a^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  Time spend for user u accelerating or decelerating from its current speed  $v_c^u$  to its maximum allowed or desired speed  $v_{max}^u$ .

 $a_c^u \in \mathbb{R}$  = Current acceleration or deceleration rate of user u.

- $s_s^u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The stable speed distance of user u with its maximum allowed or desired speed towards intersect point *i*.
- $s_a^u \in \mathbb{R}^+ =$  The acceleration or deceleration distance of user u to its maximum allowed or desired speed.

Respectively the following classes for mapping the nature of the interactions between two pairs of vehicles, the *ego vehicle* and the *intersecting vehicle*, are defined based on the comparison of their traffic stream rank and their respective ETA, following time gaps and position. to their common intersect point(s) *i*.

Irrelevant: Both vehicles find themselves on intersecting routes, however they won't
interact at the intersect position, while maintaining their current speed.

- **Critical:** The *ego vehicle* will interact with the *intersecting vehicle*. The *ego vehicle* is on the higher priority route and the *intersecting vehicle* has to provide priority.
- **Intersecting Critical:** The *ego vehicle* will interact with the *intersecting vehicle*. The *intersecting vehicle* is on the higher priority route and the *ego vehicle* has to provide priority.
- **Critical leader:** This class is assigned to the *Critical* higher priority *ego vehicle* that is the first vehicle to obstruct the movement of the lower priority *intersecting vehicle*. As multiple vehicles may approach the intersection point with the lower priority vehicle, several of them might individually obstruct the maneuver of the lower priority vehicle, as their following time gaps are not acceptable by the lower priority vehicle. This information is used upon activation of the prioritization by the decision making functions in the AVs on how to adapt their driving behavior.



Figure 4.4 presents an example for the assignment of the defined interaction classes.

Figure 4.4: Example for the assignment of the defined interaction classes for users on subordinate and superordinate traffic streams.

Based on the intersecting classes, the traffic state estimation for all traffic streams is derived once for activation and once for deactivation (default state) of the prioritization. Depending on the decision of the optimizer, if prioritization is activated, then acceptable time gaps for the subordinate traffic stream are created. However, the activation takes place on the traffic stream level for all AVs. The previous mapping of the pairwise interactions enables the AVs to individually assess how to adapt their driving behavior. Based on the pairwise interaction classes, only AVs on the higher ranked stream that have been assigned the interaction class *Critical leader* or *Critical* may have to adjust their driving behavior to create the time gaps.

However, this requires further investigation, as the prediction of the traffic state still relies on multiple assumptions and there is uncertainty in the gap acceptance behavior of bicyclists. Also, additional bicyclist(s) might be riding past the intersection approach, as soon as the previous bicyclist(s) considered by the optimizer, pass through their intersection points. A possible sudden deactivation of the prioritization might lead to confusion and safety critical situations.

The *Critical Leader* may be the AV that by default will be prioritizing certain bicyclist(s). However, as the interactions are mapped pairwise multiple *Critical Leaders* might be found on the super ordinate AV traffic stream depending on the position and speed of the respective bicyclist(s) on the subordinate traffic stream. Also, the *Critical Leader* might not be able to decelerate safely and comfortably in order to create an acceptable time gap. Therefore, the prioritization task has to be undertaken by the next following AV upstream. Given these considerations, the following states of AV driving behavior are defined for the activation of the prioritization state on a traffic stream.

- Active prioritization (ActivePrio): This state is assigned only to AVs mapped as a Critical Leader or Critical based on the estimated ETA to the intersect point. The AVs will adjust their speed down to a minimum velocity v<sup>MIN</sup><sub>prio</sub> = 10km/h and create the acceptable time gap for its the subordinate interacting bicyclist(s). AVs will continue to travel with this speed until they arrive at a distance of 2m before the intersect point, until all their interacting bicyclist(s) are past the intersect point or until the prioritization is deactivated.
- Deactivated prioritization due to small ETA (*OffPrioETA*): This state is assigned only to an AV mapped as *Critical Leader* or *Critical* during the pairwise interaction investigation. Based on the estimated ETA to the intersect point *i* the AVs might not be able to safely and comfortably decelerate in time in order to create the acceptable time gap. In this case the AV needs to accelerate again to its desired speed and clear the intersection in order to reduce delays for both subordinate traffic and AVs upstream of its position.
- Passive prioritization (*PassivePrio*): This state is assigned only to AVs mapped as *Critical* during the pairwise interaction investigation. Based on the estimated ETA to the intersect point the AVs start slowing down and try to form acceptable gaps to their leader AV with a lower deceleration rate. In case of continuous high demand on both on the superordinate and the subordinate traffic stream AVs arriving at the intersection will have already created acceptable time gaps to their leaders.
- Deactivated prioritization (default state) (Of fPrio): This is the default driving state for all approaching and exiting AVs. This state is also assigned to AVs with only *Irrelevant* interaction classifications to other bicyclists or when the prioritization is terminated for the AV traffic stream. It is assigned to AVs that are downstream of the intersect point with the subordinate traffic stream and therefore irrelevant for the Optimizer.

Figure 4.5 presents the logic for assigning the AV prioritization status for each AV on the superordinate traffic stream, for which the Optimizer has activated the prioritization.



Figure 4.5: AV prioritization status assignment flowchart.

Figure 4.6 presents an example of the AV prioritization status assignment logic based on the interaction state identification in Figure 4.4



Figure 4.6: Example of the AV prioritization status assignment logic.

### 4.2.1.5 Suggestions for AV State Communication to Bicyclists

This section presents suggestions for the communication of the AV prioritization state to the bicyclists. The evaluation of the proposed interaction concept is out of scope of the present work. Here, upon prioritization, the bicyclist gap acceptance relies only on the personal bicyclist traits. A comfortable time gap to the intersection point is created by the AV that is 6s in duration and is therefore 2s bigger than the average 4s average time gap that is accepted by bicyclists interacting with motor vehicles as previous research suggest [OPIELA et al., 1980].

It is proposed that the communication concept should rely primarily on an eHMI solution combined with the respective adjustments in the dynamic state of the vehicle as previous research finds this combination to be optimal in communicating the intentions of an AV to VRUs [WINTER and DODOU, 2022; KASS et al., 2020; RETTENMAIER and BENGLER, 2021]. The communication concept may be supported by sound indications during the prioritization state changes, in order to reduce th continuous dependence on the eHMI state for the bicyclist. Thus, bicyclists should not be addressed as individual users and are not individually requested to perform certain actions, as this might lead to confusion, safety critical situations and increase interaction complexity [HÜBNER et al., 2022]. Instead, only the information on the AV state and behavior is provided. Bicyclists are free to choose their action depending on their personal characteristics. In this way, interactions remain simple and familiar to the default interactions when no prioritization is active and the common traffic rules apply. Also AVs are not required to verify the bicyclist(s) actions or force the bicyclist(s) to perform a specific actions, as there is high uncertainty both in the actions of existing bicyclists in the intersection area and the actions of incoming bicyclists [NIELS, MITROVIC, BOGENBERGER, et al., 2019; HUBMANN et al., 2018]. Finally, the communication concept may optionally integrate mobile handheld devices for the bicyclists supporting the communication with the AVs as such a concept has been evaluated positively by bicyclists for negotiating priority with an AV at an unsignalized intersection [LINDNER, GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, et al., 2022].

Therefore, each AV priority state needs to be communicated explicitly with a specific eHMI message to the bicyclists. The respective acceleration and deceleration processes during the respective deactivation and activation of the prioritization function can be combined with the eHMI change of status to further communicate the AV intentions through the vehicle's dynamic behavior (dHMI). These communication functions can be optionally supported by sound indications and the bicyclist mobile devices (iHMI).

### 4.2.2 Optimization Problem Formulation

### 4.2.2.1 Problem Description

Given the intersection, the road user types and the automated vehicle functions described above, it is important to establish a method for deciding the activation or deactivation of the prioritization for specific road user types, while considering the discussed limitations. The problem can be formulated as a MILP optimization problem, given the linear objective functions mixed with integer variables and and the integer constraints. MILP is a robust approach used extensively for scheduling AV arrivals, resolving the path planning problem for AVs and optimizing traffic flow at intersections [MÜLLER et al., 2016; FAYAZI and LUCKOW, 2017; FAYAZI and VAHIDI, 2018; ASHTIANI et al., 2018]. The optimization problem is described through objective functions and constraints. Finally, the problem is modeled using the Gurobi Solver which is a solver for numerical programming tasks, including MILP [GUROBI OPTIMIZATION, LLC, 2022].
### 4.2.2.2 Traffic State Estimation

The main goal of the proposed efficiency is to optimize traffic performance at the unsignalized intersection for both AVs and bicyclists and assist bicyclists on subordinate traffic streams to pass through the intersection. Therefore, first it is important to define the goal of the objective function. The goal definition should rely on specific relevant traffic parameters that are critical traffic efficiency indicators. Here the delay is selected as the critical traffic efficiency parameter for both AVs and bicyclists as it accurately maps the effects of the prioritization state for both road user types. In the case of prioritization activation, AVs will travel with a speed less than the speed limit, which will result in greater travel times. Similarly, bicyclists providing priority at the superordinate AV traffic stream will have to decelerate to the intersection. The delay parameter can map these processes in detail.

Secondly, the number of stops are defined as a second optimization parameter only for bicyclists. Stops are considered in the context of the design and evaluation of bicyclist prioritization measures as critical performance indicators [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, TWADDLE, et al., 2018; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOSSEINI, et al., 2021]. Additionally, stops serve as an indicator for bicyclist presence inside the intersection area. Especially in the case of queuing bicyclists it is possible that multiple stops for the same bicyclist might occur before passing through the intersection. In this context, the consideration of bicyclist stops introduces both a traffic safety and a comfort aspect consideration in the optimization process.

In a second step, the values of the already defined parameters have to be estimated both for the case of the prioritization activation and deactivation. Given the method for mapping of interactions among AVs and bicyclists (see 4.2.1.4), only the critically interacting road users are considered and assigned into their respective traffic streams. The traffic streams are defined in Figure 2.3, however as the prioritization is activated only for bicyclists, it is important to distribute the road users into user type specific traffic streams. For the type-specific traffic streams the base traffic rules defined in Figure 2.3 and priorities Table 2.1 apply. The predicted delay and number of stops are then derived for each road user pair once for the case of priority activation and once for the case of priority deactivation. The methodology described in the next paragraphs applies for the case where the *ego* vehicle (bicycle or AV) belongs to a lower rank traffic stream *s* and the *intersecting* (AV) vehicle belongs to a higher rank traffic stream *s*.

Given an ego vehicle that belongs to a lower rank traffic stream s and an intersecting vehicle that belongs to a higher rank traffic stream s that will interact at intersect point i, the expected incurred delay for the ego vehicle is determined using Equation 4.10.  $t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{ego}$  is calculated using Equation 4.9 if  $v_c^u > 0$  to account for the time it would actually take the ego vehicle to reach the intersection point i in free flow conditions and consider this in the actual delay estimation  $d_{i,expected}^{ego}$ .

$$v_c^{ego} > 0 \to t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{ego} = \frac{s_i^{ego}}{v_{max}^{ego}}$$
(4.9)

If  $v_c^{ego} = 0$  then the ego vehicle is stopped.  $t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{ego}$  is defined using the investigation methodology defined by Equations 4.1-4.8 assuming that the ego vehicle approaches the intersect point i from a full stop.

#### where:

 $v_c^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The current speed of the ego vehicle.

 $v_{max}^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The maximum allowed or desired speed of the ego vehicle.

 $s_i^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The distance the ego vehicle needs to travel to get past the intersect point i.

$$d_{i,p}^{ego} = \begin{cases} t_i^{int} - t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{ego} + d_{t-1}^{ego} & \text{if no prioritization is activated for } ego \text{ against the } int \\ & \text{vehicle} \\ t_i^{ego} + d_{t-1}^{ego} & \text{if prioritization is activated for } ego \text{ against the } int \text{ vehicle} \\ & (4.10) \end{cases}$$

where:

$d_{t,p}^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$	Total predicted delay of the $ego$ vehicle at time stepriority of $int$ vehicle.	p t due to the
$t_{i,p}^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^+$	Predicted time spend for $int$ vehicle traveling past point $i$ as defined using Equation 4.8.	the intersection
$t_{i,p,MaxSpeed}^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$	Predicted time spend for $int$ vehicle traveling to the point $i$ from its current position using its maximum allowed speed.	ne intersection n desired or
$d_{t-1}^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$	Total accumulated delay of the $ego$ vehicle at time	e step $t-1$ .
$t^{ego}_{i,p} \in \mathbb{R}^+$	Time the $ego$ vehicle requires from its current spectrum past the intersection point $i$ as defined using Equa	ed $v_c^{ego}$ to travel tion 4.8.

Based on the identification of the respective interactions it is assumed that the subordinate ego vehicle will come to a full stop before the intersect point i in case of no prioritization and will not stop in case of prioritization. Equation 4.11 determines the prediction of the number of stops of the ego vehicle.

$$h_{i,p}^{ego} = \begin{cases} 1 + h_{t-1}^{ego} & \text{If no prioritization is activated for } ego \text{ against the } int \text{ vehicle.} \\ 0 + h_{t-1}^{ego} & \text{If prioritization is activated for } ego \text{ against the } int \text{ vehicle.} \end{cases}$$
(4.11)

where:

 $h_i^{ego} \in \mathbb{I}_0^+$  = Predicted stop(s) of the ego vehicle due to the priority of int vehicle.

 $h_{t-1}^{ego} \in \mathbb{I}_0^+ = \text{Accumulated stop(s)}$  of the ego vehicle at time step t-1.

For the prediction of the traffic state of the *intersecting* vehicle both in the case of prioritization and in the case of no prioritization a similar methodology is applied. First it is important to mention the fact this prediction applies only for *intersecting* AVs. The prediction is redundant for bicyclists according to the **second constraint** (see: 4.2.2.4), which ensures that no prioritization is activated if bicyclist traffic is found on the superordinate traffic stream at time t.

In case of prioritization, it is assumed that the *intersecting* AVs will actively participate in the prioritization of its bicyclist(s). However, it remains uncertain whether, when and which bicyclist(s) will accept the created acceptable gaps. Also the prioritization activation will remain active according to the **fifth constraint** (see: 4.2.2.4) in case of bicyclists present in the considered bicyclist traffic stream. Possible incoming bicyclist(s) will still need to make use of the available time gaps or the AVs will need to readjust their speeds either due to the fact that existing bicyclists did not accept the provided time gap of the leading vehicle, or because possibly incoming bicyclists need to be serviced. These delays cannot be quantified accurately in advance due to the inherent uncertainty of the bicyclist behavior. Also, although the *critical leading* AV will be the one prioritizing bicyclist(s) still delays for following AVs will incur.

In order to account for such effects, the prediction of the expected delays for the AVs needs to consider the worst case scenario with the maximum incurred delay for each AV. This assumption considers each incoming AV that is able to adjust its speed safely in time to provide priority will do so for each assigned incoming bicyclist(s). Thus, it does not consider that only the leading AV will prioritize the incoming bicyclist(s) but it considers both the possibility of additional incoming bicyclists as well as the probability that the considered incoming bicyclist(s) do not accept the first available time gap. The proposed approach is very conservative in the prioritization activation as it ensures that the prioritization will be activated only if the gains for the bicyclist prioritization outperform the losses for the AV streams for their worst case efficiency scenario.

According to these considerations, the predicted delay for the *intersecting* AVs is calculated based on the investigation of its new prioritization speed  $v_{prio}^{int}$  that is determined using Equation 4.12.

$$v_{prio}^{int} = \frac{s_i^{int}}{t_{sqap}^{int}} + \frac{1}{2} a_d^{int} t_{sgap}^{int}$$
(4.12)

where:

 $v_{prio}^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = The required travel speed of the *int* vehicle to provide the secure gap  $t_{sgap}$ .

 $s_i^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = Distance of the *int* vehicle to the intersect point *i*.

 $a_d^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^-$  = Desired deceleration rate of the *int* vehicle.

 $t_{sgap} \in \mathbb{R}^+$  = Secure gap for the ego vehicle.

According the result of Equation 4.12, it is necessary to investigate whether a prioritization activation is indeed possible for the *int* vehicle given the resulting  $v_{prio}^{int}$ . Based on this result and the prioritization activation state, the predicted delay for the *int* vehicle is found using Equation 4.13.

$$d_{i,p}^{int} = \begin{cases} t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{int} + d_{t-1}^{int} & \text{ If no prioritization is activated} \\ t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{int} + d_{t-1}^{int} & \text{ If prioritization is activated} \\ & \text{ and } (v_{prio}^{int} < 0 \text{ or} \\ & max(v_{prio}^{MIN}, v_c^{int} + a_d^{int}t_{sgap}^{int}) \ge v_{prio}^{int} \ge v_{MaxSpeed}^{int}) \\ t_{sgap}^{int} + t_i^{ego} + d_{t-1}^{int} & \text{ If prioritization is activated} \\ & \text{ and } v_{prio}^{int} \ge 0 \text{ and} \\ & max(v_{prio}^{MIN}, v_c^{int} + a_d^{int}t_{sgap}^{int}) < v_{maxSpeed}^{int} \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

where:

$$\begin{array}{ll} d_{t,p}^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^+ &= \text{total predicted delay of the } int \text{ vehicle at time step } t \text{ due to the} \\ &= \text{expected interaction with the } ego \text{ vehicle.} \\ t_{i,MaxSpeed}^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^+ &= \text{Predicted time spend for } int \text{ vehicle traveling past the intersection} \\ &= \text{point } i \text{ with its maximum allowed or desired speed.} \\ d_{t-1}^{int} \in \mathbb{R}^+ &= \text{total accumulated delay of the } int \text{ vehicle at time step } t - 1. \\ &t_{sgap} \in \mathbb{R}^+ &= \text{Secure gap for the } ego \text{ vehicle.} \end{array}$$

$$t_i^{ego} \in \mathbb{R}^+$$
 = Time the *ego* vehicle requires with its current speed  $v_c^{ego}$  to travel past the intersection point *i* as defined using Equation 4.8.

The respective stop states for the *int* vehicle are defined using Equation 4.13.

$$h_{i,p}^{ego} = \begin{cases} 0 + h_{t-1}^{ego} & \text{If no prioritization is activated} \\ 1 + h_{t-1}^{ego} & \text{If prioritization is activated} \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

where:

 $h_i^{int} \in \mathbb{I}_0^+$  = Predicted stop(s) of the *int* vehicle due to the interaction with the *ego* vehicle.

 $h_{t-1}^{int} \in \mathbb{I}_0^+ = \text{Accumulated stop}(s)$  of the *int* vehicle at time step t-1.

Respectively, as the bicyclists are considered in the prioritization only if they belong to the subordinate traffic stream and the AVs activate priority only if they are on a superordinate traffic stream, the maximum delay and stop value against all critically interacting AVs is assigned to each bicyclist in the case of priority deactivation and the minimum delay and stop value against all critically interacting AVs is assigned to each bicyclist in the case of priority deactivation and the minimum delay and stop value against all critically interacting AVs is assigned to each bicyclist in the case of priority activation. The same applies for AVs, where the maximum delay value against all critically interacting bicyclists is assigned to each AV in the case of priority activation and the minimum delay value against all critically interacting bicyclists is assigned to each AV in the case of priority deactivation. The stop values are not considered for AVs as the prioritization concept restricts the AVs from coming to a full stop during the prioritization state. Eventually one delay value and one stop value is assigned to each road user for each prioritization state. The respective values are aggregated for each road user type specific traffic stream for each prioritization state.

#### 4.2.2.3 Definition of the Objective Functions

The problem is formulated into a multi-objective optimization problem for minimizing total delay for the respective intersection and minimizing bicycle stops. The minimization of the total delay is set as the highest priority objective, as it equally considers both the AVs and the bicyclists. The minimization of the number of bicyclist stops is set as the second priority objective. Following the hierarchical approach, a priority is defined for each objective. The optimization solver then considers only solutions that would not degrade the objective values of the higher-priority objectives.

The 1<sup>st</sup> priority objective minimizes the expected delay for all road user type specific traffic streams at the intersection. The uncertainty quantification is used as an average weight factor  $c_{u_s}$  for the estimated delay during activation and deactivation for each traffic stream. The 1<sup>st</sup> objective function for minimizing the total delay is defined in 4.15:

$$Minimize \quad D = \sum_{s \in streams} \left[ c_{s_s} * \sum_{u \in users} \left[ d^a_{u_s} * 1_{a_{s_s}} \right] + c_{s_s} * \sum_{u \in users} \left[ d^d_{u_s} * 1_{d_{s_s}} \right] \right]$$
(4.15)

The activation and deactivation of prioritization is described respectively by the boolean variables according to 4.16 and 4.17:

$$1_{a_{s_s}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{If priotization on traffic stream } s_s \text{ is active} \\ 0 & \text{If priotization on traffic stream } s_s \text{ is not active} \end{cases}$$

$$1_{d_{s_s}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{If priotization on traffic stream } s_s \text{ is active} \\ 1 & \text{If priotization on traffic stream } s_s \text{ is not active} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.16)$$

For equations 4.15, 4.16 and 4.17 applies:

- $c_{s_s} \in [0,1]$  = Average prediction confidence weight factor for all users on traffic stream s (-).
- $d_{u_s}^a \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$  = Total expected time delay for user u on traffic stream s on prioritization activation (in seconds).
- $d_{u_s}^d \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$  = Total expected time delay for user u on traffic stream s on prioritization deactivation (in seconds).

 $s_s \in \mathbb{I}^+ \cap [1, 12] = s_s$  in AV and bicycle traffic streams.

The  $2^{nd}$  priority objective minimizes the expected number of stops for all bicyclist traffic streams at the intersection given a relative tolerance of 0.2 for degrading the  $1^{st}$  priority objective. The uncertainty quantification is used as a weight factor  $c_{u_s}$  for the estimated number of stops during activation and deactivation for each bicyclist. The  $2^{nd}$  objective function for minimizing the total number of bicyclist stops is defined in 4.18:

$$Minimize \quad S = \sum_{b_s \in bicycles} \left[ c_{b_s} * \sum_{u \in users} \left[ h_{u_s}^a * 1_{a_{u_s}} \right] + c_{b_s} * \sum_{u \in users} \left[ h_{u_s}^a * 1_{d_{u_s}} \right] \right]$$
(4.18)

The activation and deactivation of prioritization is described respectively by the boolean variables according to 4.19 and 4.20:

$$1_{a_{b_s}}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{If priotization on bicycle stream } b_s \text{ is active} \\ 0 & \text{If priotization on bicycle stream } b_s \text{ is not active} \end{cases}$$
(4.19)  
$$1_{d_{b_s}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{If priotization on bicycle stream } b_s \text{ is not active} \\ 1 & \text{If priotization on bicycle stream } b_s \text{ is active} \end{cases}$$
(4.20)

For equations 4.18, 4.19 and 4.20 applies:

- $c_{b_s} \in [0, 1]$  = Average prediction confidence weight factor for all users on bicycle traffic stream s (-).
- $h_{u_s}^a \in \mathbb{I}_0^+$  = Total expected number of stops for user u on traffic stream s on prioritization activation (-).
- $h_{u_s}^d \in \mathbb{I}_0^+$  = Total expected number of stops for user u on traffic stream s on prioritization deactivation (-).

 $b_s \in \mathbb{I}^+ \cap [1, 12] = b_s$  in bicycle traffic streams.

### 4.2.2.4 Definition of Constraints and Threshold Values

Constraints are defined that limit the optimal solution range for the objective function in order to ensure safe traffic operations, while supporting the prioritization concept. Constraints are applied for the activation of the prioritization only on the respective superordinate AV and bicycle traffic streams. Although, no prioritization activation takes place on bicyclist streams, the boolean variables serve the role for considering the traffic performance effects in the objective functions.

The **first constraint** ensures that there is not a concurrent activation and deactivation status on the same traffic stream. Equation 4.21 defines the constraint for the boolean activation and deactivation variables, for all intersection traffic streams  $s_s$ , based on the equations 4.16 and 4.17:

$$1_{a_{s_s}} + 1_{d_{s_s}} = 1 \tag{4.21}$$

where:

 $s_s \in \mathbb{I}^+ \cap [1,12] = s_s$  in AV and bicycle traffic streams

Taking inspiration from the work of KURT DRESNER and PETER STONE [2007], the **second constraint** ensures the safe and conflict free prioritization of a subordinate bicycle traffic stream  $b_s$  over a superordinate traffic stream  $s_s$  by restricting the prioritization activation only for situations where no bicycle traffic is detected on the superordinate traffic stream  $s_s$ . In this way, the priority of bicyclists on the superordinate traffic stream is guaranteed, while

the base traffic rules continue to apply. Equation 4.22 defines the constraint for the boolean activation variables, for all intersection traffic streams  $s_s$ , based on the equations 4.16, with no bicycle traffic demand on the superordinate bicycle traffic stream  $b_s$ :

$$1_{a_{s_s}} + 1_{D_{b_s}} \le 1 \tag{4.22}$$

The presence of bicycle traffic on the superordinate traffic stream  $b_s$  is represented using a boolean variable as defined in equations 4.23:

$$1_{D_{b_s}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{If demand for bicycles on bicycle traffic stream } b_s \text{ is detected} \\ 1 & \text{If demand for bicycles on bicycle traffic stream } b_s \text{ is not detected} \end{cases}$$
(4.23)

Where:

 $b_s \in \mathbb{I}^+ \cap [1, 12] = b_s$  in bicycle traffic streams.

The **third constraint** ensures that under no circumstances will a prioritization state be activated for bicycle streams of rank 1 according to Figure 2.3 and Table 2.1, as they already have priority over all other traffic streams. Equation 4.24 defines the constraint for the boolean activation variables of equation 4.16:

$$1_{a_{B_1}} = 0 \tag{4.24}$$

where:

 $B_1 \in b_2, b_3, b_8, b_9 = \text{rank 1 bicycle traffic streams.}$ 

The **fourth constraint** is defined for all traffic streams of rank 2, 3 and 4 according to Figure 2.3 and Table 2.1. It ensures that a prioritization activation for a lower rank traffic stream is always paired with the activation in all intersecting bicycle and AV streams as pairs together with superordinate traffic streams. In this way, safe and conflict free interactions are guranteed as all superordinate AV traffic streams are required to provide priority.

Equations 4.25 to 4.28 define the prioritization activation pairs for  $2^{nd}$  rank traffic streams:

$$1_{a_{b_1}} \to 1_{a_{av_8}}$$
 (4.25)

$$1_{a_{b_6}} \to 1_{a_{av_2}}$$
 (4.26)

$$1_{a_{b_7}} \to 1_{a_{av_2}}$$
 (4.27)

$$1_{a_{b_{12}}} \to 1_{a_{av_8}}$$
 (4.28)

Equations 4.29 and 4.30 define the prioritization activation pairs for  $3^{rd}$  rank traffic streams:

$$1_{a_{b_5}} \to 1_{a_{av_2}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_7}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_8}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_9}} \tag{4.29}$$

$$1_{a_{b_{11}}} \to 1_{a_{av_1}} \land 1_{a_{av_2}} \land 1_{a_{av_3}} \land 1_{a_{av_8}}$$
(4.30)

Equations 4.31 and 4.32 define the prioritization activation pairs for  $4^{th}$  rank traffic streams:

$$1_{a_{b_4}} \to 1_{a_{av_1}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_2}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_7}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_8}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_{11}}}$$

$$(4.31)$$

$$1_{a_{b_{10}}} \rightarrow 1_{a_{av_1}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_2}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_5}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_7}} \wedge 1_{a_{av_8}}$$

$$(4.32)$$

For equations 4.25 to 4.32 applies:

 $b_s \in \mathbb{I}^+ \cap [1, 12] = b_s$  in bicycle traffic streams.  $av_s \in \mathbb{I}^+ \cap [1, 12] = av_s$  in AV traffic streams.

The **fifth constraint** is defined through a dynamic timer threshold value that keeps the prioritization active if bicycle demand is still detected on the subordinate bicycle stream for a maximum time duration. Here the threshold value is set to 30s. As the Optimizer calculates a new solution for each simulation step, this constraint ensures that the prioritization is not switching on or off randomly due to new incoming road users that alter the intersection traffic state. This step is performed before the optimization starts, where the activation variable of the respective bicycle traffic stream is fixed to 1. The prioritization will only be deactivated in case there is no longer any bicycle traffic detected on the subordinate bicycle traffic stream.

**Algorithm 1: Fifth Constraint**: Timer-based Prioritization Activation for Bicycle Traffic Streams

 Result: Fixes the activation variables for bicycle traffic streams before optimization at each simulation time step

 ActivationTimerThreshold = 30;

 for s in BicycleTrafficStreams do

 if PreviousStepActivations[s] == 0 or BicycleDemandCheck[s] == 0 then

 ActivationTimerDuration[s] = 0;

 ActivationTimerState[s] = 0;

 else if PreviousStepActivations[s] == 1 then

 ActivationTimerDuration[s] += SimulationStepSize;

 ActivationTimerState[s] = 1;

 if ActivationTimerState[s] == 1 and ActivationTimerDuration[s] ≤

 ActivationTimerDuration[s] = 0;

 ActivationTimerDuration[s] = 0;

 ActivationTimerDuration[s] = 0;

 ActivationTimerDuration[s] = 1;

 end

## 4.2.3 Simulation Model Design

The developed optimization method will be assessed using in the SUMO microscopic traffic simulation software. SUMO is chosen primarily due to each open source nature as well as

due to the fact that the TraCl API provides the user with a significant level of freedom in extracting simulation state parameters and controlling the behavior of simulated road users. TraCl is also using Python and thus it can effortlessly integrate and communicate with the Gurobi Python interface.

The following subsections describe in more detail the design setup of the simulation model, the integration of the optimization method with SUMO, the modeling of the AV prioritization functions and the simulation studies design. A simple fictional unsignalized intersection is designed in SUMO. The layout is based on the intersection dimensions used for the bicycle simulator study in Chapter 3. Each intersection approach consists of a two-way road with one traffic lane per travel direction. Each traffic lane has a 3.30m width, an adjacent parking lane of 2.0m width and a sidewalk with 3.0m width. Motor vehicle and bicycle traffic are allowed to travel only on the traffic lane. Nevertheless, the parking lane and the sidewalk are included to account for more realistic intersection area dimensions. The speed limit for vehicles is set to 30 km/h which is typical for unsignalized intersections in urban areas in Germany. With respect to traffic priority rules, these are modeled according to Figure 2.3 for a four-arm intersection. The east and west intersection arms are part of the major road, while the north and south arms are part of the minor road. The priority rules are handled by the SUMO Junction Model using the intersection model connection geometry. This is generated by the SUMO network editor (NETEDIT) automatically. Here, no adjustments are made neither to the connections' geometry nor to the default control point positions that are used by the SUMO Junction Model to identify the stop positions for users on the minor connections that have to provide priority. Figure 4.7 presents the intersection model layout.



Figure 4.7: SUMO intersection model layout.

# 4.2.4 Integration of Optimization System Architecture with SUMO

In order to evaluate the proposed optimization method, it is essential to integrate it with SUMO. As the Gurobi Solver provides a Python interface for modeling the problem formulation, it is possible to use the SUMO TraCl API for the integration. TraCl can also be used to derive important simulation properties and adjust the road user behavior based on the results of the optimizer.

However TraCl is not able to inherently provide access to all the necessary simulation parameters. First, with respect to the connections in the intersections, it is not possible to derive directly the intersection points and the polyline connection lengths. Thus, an additional function is necessary to estimate conflict events. Secondly, although it is possible for each road user to derive a list for all its surrounding road users at each time step, it is not possible to know the nature of their interaction or how they will interact in the future time steps. Thus, for interactions at the intersection it is not possible to directly extract the information on whether a road user will yield for another user or how the driving behavior will change so that conflicts are avoided. Finally, as the optimization method relies on the proposed vehicle prioritization functions, these need to be explicitly modeled in SUMO as well. This task involves the definition of several functions using TraCl. Figure 4.8 presents the core modules that are developed for facilitating the integration of the optimization method in SUMO. The architecture consists of eight different modules.

- Scenarios: Defines the simulation setup for each SUMO scenario. This includes the traffic demand for each traffic stream, the number of simulation runs and the activation of the *Optimizer* for the entire simulation (whether to run the "Base" scenario or the "Optimization" scenario)
- **Demand**: It receives the input from the *Scenarios* module and creates the traffic demand for each simulation.
- Vehicle Types: It defines the driving behavior parameters for all road users.
- **Control**: It is responsible for initiating the SUMO simulation and transferring information between the simulation and the other modules.
- **SUMO**: The SUMO simulation instance. It communicates with the *Control* module via TraCl.
- Methods: It includes all the necessary functions for identifying the intersection points between different intersection connectors and for assigning them to specific traffic routes as well as assigning vehicle objects to their respective network elements. It includes all the functions that are necessary to identify the interactions between all road users and provides estimations with respect to the optimizer interaction parameters for both the activation and deactivation scenarios of the prioritization states at each simulation step. These are then returned to the respective vehicle object parameters and ultimately processed by the *Optimizer* module.

- Vehicles: It defines the vehicle class. The vehicle class is initiated each time a new vehicle enters the simulation. The vehicle class is the same for both AV and bicycle users and enchances their properties through new parameters and functions that are important for the integration with the *Optimizer*. It includes parameters for all user types that describe the type and predicted effects for the interactions with all relevant road users as identified by the *Methods* module. For bicycle users it also includes the parameters for the uncertainty estimation of the maneuver prediction. For AV users, it includes the required functions for deciding the appropriate prioritization state for each vehicle based on the input received by the *Optimizer* module.
- Optimizer: It includes the optimization model modeled for the Gurobi Solver using the Python API. It includes supporting functions for deriving the traffic demand state for each route and identifying the relevant road users at each traffic stream that will be considered for the optimization at each simulation step. It finally communicates the optimization results back to SUMO through the *Vehicles* module.



Figure 4.8: Integration of Optimization System Architecture with SUMO.

# 4.2.5 Modeling Uncertainty for the Bicyclist Maneuver Prediction

As discussed in 3.5.6, the definition of an appropriate threshold value for differentiating between high and low certainty in bicyclist maneuver predictions can be part of future research and is dependent on the use case of the respective uncertainty quantification method. Nevertheless, the introduction of the uncertainty measure as a weight factor in the proposed optimization method, requires the definition of a certain methodology as part of the simulation evaluation for defining the uncertainty threshold. Here, the relative entropy will be used as the measure for quantifying uncertainty as with a single metric, an estimate for the prediction uncertainty across or maneuver classes is reached. Also, based on the meta-analysis on the test sample

Figure 3.11, it is possible to define a "hard" threshold value in the range between 0.38 and 0.55 that mark the upper and lower 75% percentile bounds between the "False" and "True" classifications respectively. Lower threshold values will result in the inclusion of lower certainty predictions in the objective functions, while a higher threshold value will result in a more conservative and safety-biased consideration. Still the inclusion of a hard threshold in the optimization method may generate additional problems. Firstly, bicyclists arriving at the intersection with prediction confidence values under the threshold won't be considered at all by the Optimizer. As the intersection is by no means the end destination of the bicyclists, in cases of high traffic demand this will lead to extreme delays. Also for subordinate bicycle traffic streams entering the major road, a prioritization activation for the  $3^{rd}$  and  $4^{th}$  rank streams will involve anyway the activation of the prioritization for multiple superordinate AV streams on the major road. Eventually the consideration of a "soft" threshold of the confidence prediction factor will lead to slower reactions of the optimization function as the bicyclists will need to accumulate significant delays in order to get prioritized. This also includes the case where multiple bicyclists arrive at the intersection simultaneously with a low prediction confidence. In that way, the method still considers bicyclists with low prediction confidence in the long term and does not penalize them for the failure of the prediction method to reach a high prediction confidence value.

Additionally, the integration of the deep learning model in the proposed simulation architecture in 4.2.4, is an unnecessary step for the evaluation as it adds in complexity without significant gains for the future analysis. Also, mapping the trajectories and gesture metrics from the bicycle simulator test subjects in the simulation is questionable as in the simulations multiple concurrent bicyclists have to be simulated while the users have to interact with one another. This would result in changes in the bicycle simulator trajectories and gesture behavior that cannot be realistically replicated in the simulation.

Accounting for these different aspects and trade-offs, the 0.5 value of the relative entropy is selected as the threshold for differentiating between certain and uncertain predictions. With the initiation of the vehicle class for the vehicle type *Bicycle*, the prediction uncertainty value is selected randomly using a continuous uniform distribution. The bicyclist route prediction assigned to the highest prediction confidence class is considered within the optimization functions. The probability density function is defined in 4.33:

$$p\left(x\right) = \frac{1}{c_{max} - c_{min}}\tag{4.33}$$

where:

 $c_{min} \in [0,1]$  = Minimum value of the confidence value range as set by the user.

 $c_{max} \in [0,1] = \mathsf{Maximum}$  value of the confidence value range as set by the user.

The Optimizer module is unaware of the bicyclist maneuver prediction true value. It classifies and considers the bicyclists according to their artificially-generated predicted maneuver, using the respective parameter of the Vehicles class. The threshold is used only for differentiating between high and low prediction confidence simulation scenarios. The soft consideration of the confidence factors in the optimization method will allow the proposed method to react in the long-term to bicyclists accumulating increasing delays with a low prediction confidence. In SUMO, rings are used to visualize the true maneuver only for the external observer.

## 4.2.6 Simulation of Road User Behavior

The bicyclist behavior is calibrated based on the behavior parameters of previous own research work, based on simulation models in SUMO [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOSSEINI, et al., 2021] and PTV Vissim [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022], where the bicyclist behavior is calibrated and validated through empirical data. The AV behavior is calibrated using the behavior parameter provided by OLSTAM et al. [2020]. In their work, behavior parameter values are provided for calibrating the AV driving behavior by adjusting the respective parameter of the Wiedemann 99 model. Based on their suggestions, the Wiedemann 99 is adjusted for the advanced AV class with the normal driving logic for the urban street environment as it considers the case of unsignalized at-grade intersections.

The prioritization functions and states are modeled in SUMO given the specifications provided in paragraph 4.2.1.4. In SUMO the *setSpeed* function is used for the respective activation and deactivation of the prioritization in each simulated SUMO. The passive prioritization state is simulated using the *openGap* function of the TraCl Vehicle Class. This function changes the vehicle's desired time headway to its leader smoothly to a new value defined by the user. The corresponding input value for the desired time headway is set to 6*s*, which is the predefined convenient bicyclist time gap. Figure 4.9 presents an example of the AV speed and acceleration profile during prioritization in the SUMO simulation. Finally, Figure 4.10 presents an example of the successive deactivation and activation of the prioritization status in SUMO and the respective transitions between the AV states.



Figure 4.9: Example speed and acceleration profile of an AV in SUMO during the activation and subsequent deactivation of an acceptable time gap.



Figure 4.10: Example of the successive deactivation and activation of the prioritization status in SUMO and the respective transitions between the AV states.

## 4.2.7 Simulation Scenario Definition

In order to assess the proposed method and analyse its effects and performance, specific traffic scenarios need to be defined. The principle function of the proposed method is that it prioritizes bicyclists of subordinate traffic streams over AVs on superordinate traffic streams. The decision for prioritization is a function of the estimated traffic state on the AV and bicycle traffic stream, the uncertainty evaluation of the bicyclist intentions and the bicycle demand on the superordinate traffic stream. As part of the evaluation, it is important to assess how these factors influence the performance of the proposed method and how that compares to the base scenario without prioritization. Thus, it is decided to evaluate traffic scenarios with both AV and bicyclist traffic allocated on specific intersection traffic streams that define typical and clear prioritization scenarios in order to better understand the performance effects without the influence of complex user interactions.

Finally, with respect to the traffic composition during the evaluation scenarios, it is important to assess the performance of the proposed method during varying demand scenarios for both bicyclist and AV traffic and better assess for which traffic conditions, an optimal traffic performance is reached. Thus, for each road user type an increasing traffic volume is defined and variations of each scenario with low to high traffic demand are simulated.

#### 4.2.7.1 Scenario 1: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road

A common traffic situation on unsignalized intersections involves bicyclists, that want to perform a left turn maneuver from the major road into the minor road, having to provide priority to the crossing traffic stream on the opposite driving direction. As a result bicyclists have to stop inside the intersection area and wait for the opposing traffic stream to clear the intersection point. This in turn may lead to critical traffic situations with other road users on the rest traffic streams. In the case of high bicycle traffic, the queuing left turning bicyclists will eventually become a bottleneck fro crossing traffic on the major road. This scenario aims to assess the performance of the proposed method considering different traffic compositions for the AVs and the bicyclists. The traffic volume for each AVs and bicycle traffic stream will be gradually increased separately, from 100 veh/h to 700 veh/h with a step of 200 veh/h. All intermediate combinations for the traffic demand are assessed for both traffic streams. As a result, it will ve possible to analyse the effects of the proposed method, in the cases of lower to higher bicycle demand against higher to lower AVs traffic demand and derive for which combinations the application of the proposed method maximizes performance. Figure 4.11 presents the setup properties for Simulation Scenario 1a: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

Simulation Scenario 1b expands Scenario 1a. It includes bicycle traffic on the superordinate traffic stream in order to assess the sensitivity of the proposed method against the predefined constraints, where prioritization is not activated in the case of bicycle traffic demand on the superordinate traffic stream. This analysis is performed for all traffic volume combinations of Scenario 1a, by additionally including a 50 bicycles/h volume on the major traffic stream. it is expected that the prioritization method won't be activated in these scenarios resulting in traffic performance that is closer to the base scenario without prioritization. Figure 4.12 presents the setup properties for Simulation Scenario 1b: Prioritization of left turning bicycle



Figure 4.11: Simulation Scenario 1a: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

stream on main road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

### 4.2.7.2 Scenario 2: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road

This scenario analyses the performance of the prioritization method for assisting bicyclists, traveling on the minor road, while crossing the major road. In cases of high traffic demand this task is highly stressful and safety critical for bicyclists as they have to simultaneously cross two superordinate motor vehicle traffic streams. The proposed method aims to create secure and acceptable time gaps for bicyclists to cross. Hoewever, as the proposed method tries to balance the traffic performance gains among the AV and bicycle traffic streams, the difficulty for activating the prioritization method increases in this scenario as AV traffic is found in two traffic streams instead of only one (Scenario 1). The traffic volume for both AV traffic streams and the single bicycle traffic stream will be gradually increased, from 100 veh/h to 500 veh/h with a step of 200 veh/h. All intermediate combinations for the traffic demand are assessed for both user groups. As a result, it will be possible to analyse the effects of the proposed method, in the cases of lower to higher bicycle demand against higher to lower AV traffic demand and derive for which combinations the application of the proposed method maximizes performance. Figure 4.13 presents the setup properties for Simulation Scenario 2a: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

Simulation Scenario 2b expands Scenario 2a. It includes bicycle traffic on the superordinate



Figure 4.12: Simulation Scenario 1b: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

traffic stream in order to assess the sensitivity of the proposed method against the predefined constraints, where prioritization is not activated in the case of bicycle traffic demand on the superordinate traffic stream. This analysis is performed for all traffic volume combinations of Scenario 2a, by additionally including a 50 bicycles/h volume for each AVs traffic stream on the major road. it is expected that the prioritization method won't be activated in these scenarios resulting in traffic performance that is closer to the base scenario without prioritization. Figure 4.14 presents the setup properties for Simulation Scenario 2b: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

## 4.2.7.3 Sensitivity Analysis of the Uncertainty Quantification

Here the influence of the uncertainty quantification during the optimization is assessed for Scenarios 1a and 2a. As the novel introduction of the uncertainty metric in the estimation of the traffic state eventually influences the decision of the Optimizer, it is important to conduct a sensitivity analysis in order to quantify its influence on the objective function. In a real world implementation, it is expected that due to occlusion of sensors, sensor inaccuracy or failure, the prediction confidence might deteriorate in certain situations. 4.33 is adjusted in the respective scenarios within the range 0.1–0.6 to account for the situation where more than 50% of the bicyclist maneuver predictions have a low certainty value and are below of the confidence threshold as defined in 4.2.5. The uncertainty factor is still set to 1.0 (high certainty) for all AVs.



Figure 4.13: Simulation Scenario 2a: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

# 4.2.8 Definition of Traffic Performance Parameters

The proposed method is evaluated based on three key typical traffic performance parameters, the delay, the waiting time and the number of stops. These parameters can be conveniently extracted for each road user from SUMO using TraCI. Both the estimations of delay and the number of stops are parameters use by the  $1^{st}$  and  $2^{nd}$  objective functions respectively by the proposed optimization method. However, as already defined in , both parameters are estimated using assumptions for their future state. The derivation of these parameters through SUMO after the respective road user exited the simulation will provide the basis for a more balanced and accurate evaluation, as it will additionally consider the influence of other external factors. Additionally, the waiting time is also introduced as it considers only the time spend in a stop by a road user. The delay considers the entire time spend by road users below their desired speed for bicyclists and the desired speed or the speed limit by AVs. The definition of the waiting time is therefore much closer to how the evaluation of the LOS is performed in both the HBS and the HCM. Finally, incidents where AVs have to come to a full stop cannot be excluded in case of high bicycle demand during queue dissipation. Therefore the waiting time will provide an additional insight for AVs on the average duration of these time periods. The evaluation parameters are defined below based on the SUMO documentation [P. A. LOPEZ et al., 2018]:

• **Delay:** The time lost due to driving below the ideal speed. (slowdowns due to intersections etc. incur time loss, scheduled stops do not count) (in seconds).



Figure 4.14: Simulation Scenario 2b: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road.

- Waiting Time: The time spent with a speed below 0.1m/s since the last time it was faster than 0.1m/s (in seconds).
- **Stops:** The occurrence of driving with a speed below 0.1m/s since the last time it was faster than 0.1m/s. (-)

# 4.2.9 Simulation Studies Setup

For the traffic performance analysis a sufficient number of simulation runs is required for each scenario variation in order to account for the randomness of the simulation. The required number of simulation runs is iteratively defined by applying the methodology proposed by DOWLING et al. [2004]. As there is no past knowledge in simulating the specific scenarios, it is necessary to identify the minimum number of simulation runs matches the number of required simulation runs assumed when looking up the t statistic. s is the standard deviation of the selected performance parameters resulting after each iteration. The minimum number of simulation runs is defined using:

$$CI_{1-a\%} = 2t_{\left(1-\frac{a}{2}\right),N-1}\frac{s}{\sqrt{N}}$$
(4.34)

where:

- $CI_{1-a\%}$  = is the confidence interval for the true mean as defined by the user, where *a* equals the probability of the true mean not lying within the confidence interval.
- $t_{\left(1-\frac{a}{2}\right),N-1} =$ is the Student's t-statistic for the probability of a two-sided error summing to a with N-1 degrees of freedom, where N equals the number of repetitions. Here, the 95% confidence interval is used for determining the minimum number of simulation runs.

s =is the standard deviation of the resulting model performance parameters.

Each simulation run consists of 200s warm up time, so that the relatively small simulation network is filled with traffic and an additional 1800s of simulation time, where simulation data is recorded will be considered for the evaluation. In total 2000s of simulation time is executed per scenario variation. Following the methodology of DOWLING et al. [2004] the required number of simulation runs is found to be 10, hence 12 simulation runs are chosen to be performed for each scenario variation. To account for the comparability among the different scenario variations between the Base Scenario and the Prioritization Scenario, 12 simulation run during the simulation initiation in SUMO. Thus, the differences in the analysis of the traffic performance parameters cannot be later on attributed to simulation randomness.

The traffic demand for each scenario variation is defined in SUMO using the *Scenarios* module. In order to ensure that road users are randomly inserted in the simulation, their flows are modeled using the Bernulli process, for which a vehicle will be emitted randomly with the given probability each second until the specified number is reached P. A. LOPEZ et al. [2018]. Thus, road users do not arrive at the intersection at a steady rate, but demand fluctuates depending on the set probability.

# 4.3 Results and Analysis of Traffic Performance Indicators

This section discusses the simulation results for the selected traffic performance indicators for both simulation scenarios including their variations. The traffic performance indicators are aggregated over each road user type for each simulation scenario. Each figure presents the results for one traffic performance indicator for the "Base" scenario, where no prioritization concept is activated and for the "Optimization" scenario where the prioritization concept is activated using the proposed prioritization method. For each scenario variation, the respective average indicator value per road user type is presented over all simulation runs. The vertical line over the mean value for each scenario variation defines the standard deviation of the respective sample of indicator values over all simulation runs. The y-axis of defines the traffic performance indicator values. The x-axis defines the range of bicycle traffic volume variations. The grayscale color scale for each line defines the respective AV traffic volume value. Results are presented separately for bicycle traffic and AV traffic, for the average delay, average number of stops and average waiting times.

Finally, the analysis is based on statistical testing. The statistical test will determine if the differences between the mean values of the "Base" and "Optimization" scenarios are significant. First the Levene test is used on the simulation results of the traffic performance indicators to evaluate the equality of variance between the two populations ("Base" and "Optimization"). The Levene test is more robust in comparison to the F-test as it does not assume distribution normality. Based on the acceptance or rejection of the null hypothesis for the Levene Test (p-value < 0.05), the t-Test or the Welch-Test is applied respectively to determine if the hypothesis of equal means must be rejected. The null hypothesis of equal means in both populations is rejected if the p-value is smaller than 0.05. In all tables, the, mean traffic performance indicators values of the "Optimization" are compared against the "Base" scenario. For each scenario variation of combined traffic volumes, the (%) difference to the "Base Scenario" is found on the top of each table cell and the corresponding p-value on the bottom of each table cell. Improvements in the traffic performance indicators are marked with a Green color, while the deterioration of the traffic performance indicators is marked with a Red color. Statistically significant differences (rejection of the null hypothesis  $H_0$ ) between the means are additionally indicated with bold letters and color filling (Green for improvement and Red for deterioration).

## 4.3.1 Simulation Results

# 4.3.1.1 Simulation Scenario 1a: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road

**4.3.1.1.1 Bicycle traffic (Subordinate Traffic Stream)** Figures 4.15 ,4.16 and 4.17 present the traffic performance indicator results for the average delay, average number of stops and average waiting time. The respective results of the statistical analysis are presented in Tables 4.1 ,4.2 and 4.3.

It is found that in both the "Base" and the "Optimization" scenarios the average delay (Figure 4.15) for bicyclists increases as a function of increasing bicycle and AV traffic volume. Results, suggest that the "Optimization" scenario does not outperform the "Base" scenario for AV traffic volumes equal or less than 500 veh/h. Results for these scenarios are mixed, however the differences between the means are not statistically significant. The "Optimization" consistently reduces the average bicyclist delays significantly for the AV traffic volume of 700 veh/h and outperforms the "Base" scenario, with the exception of the highest bicycle traffic demand scenario (700 bicycles/h) (Table 4.1).

In the other scenario variations, due to low traffic demand as well as due to the fact that bicyclists have to pass through only a single intersection point, it is possible that bicyclists find acceptable gaps fairly easily between superordinate AVs and thus prioritization is not activated. Respectively as, bicyclists need to cross a single intersect point estimated delays remain small in comparison to AVs. These results are expected from a traffic performance perspective, as under low traffic conditions, priority rules outperform active control measures [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015; NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL, 2016] in terms of traffic performance.

Also, it is possible that the prioritization activation effectively reduces the delay for a bicyclist group, however as AVs in turn decelerate they form small platoons with incurred increasing

delays per vehicle. Bicyclists upstream arriving at the intersection may no longer be prioritized due to the AV delay carrying on from the previous prioritization activation. This forms a repetitive pattern where, eventually one group always arrives with smaller delays than the other road user group and prioritization is activated and deactivated respectively depending on which group has the highest delay upon arrival.



Figure 4.15: Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)						
(veh/h)	100 300 500 700						
100	-0.755%	-1.777%	-1.045%	1.041%			
100	0.827	0.516	0.624	0.653			
300	-0.969%	-1.697%	1.840%	1.512%			
300	0.838	0.513	0.624	0.631			
500	0.780	-5.826%	-3.142%	5.706%			
500	0.883	0.272	0.522	0.327			
700	-15.463%	-27.559%	-25.750%	6.463%			
100	0.027	0.000	0.002	0.665			

Table 4.1: Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical test results.

With respect to the number of stops and the waiting time (Figure 4.16 and Figure 4.17) results provide further insights on the behavior of the optimization method and its effects

on bicycle traffic. Interestingly, the optimization method manages to consistently reduce the waiting times for bicyclists in the majority of all traffic volume compositions, however only improvements for the high AV traffic demand are found to be statistically significant (Table 4.3). At the same time, the average number of stops per bicyclist increases for the large majority of all traffic demand compositions. Here an interesting exception is the AV low traffic demand scenario variation, where mostly the number of bicyclist stops are reduced, however still this difference is not found to be statistically significant. Nevertheless, only for high bicycle and AV traffic demand compositions the increase in number of stops is statistically significant.

As the waiting time is accumulated only during a stop, results suggest that the average number of stops per bicyclist has increased, however as a trade-off the average stop duration per bicyclist has decreased. This is consistent with the hierarchical definition of the objective functions as the delay that includes the waiting time, is the first decisive minimization objective. Additionally, these results hint that the optimization method may be slow to react as by the time bicyclists enter the intersection area, AVs still occupy the common intersection point or cannot decelerate in time to form an acceptable time gap. However, this is a restriction of the proposed bicyclist maneuver prediction model as the prediction certainty increases significantly close to the intersection area, where the most decisive bicyclist communication and dynamic behavior actions that reveal the bicyclist intentions occur.



Figure 4.16: Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700	
100	-10.492%	-2.529%	-2.255%	8.850%	
100	0.632	0.871	0.844	0.441	
300	1.278%	4.815%	6.214%	10.781%	
	0.924	0.397	0.225	0.072	
500	6.961	7.759%	15.452%	17.296%	
500	0.386	0.165	0.002	0.001	
700	6.168%	6.851%	10.461%	15.382%	
100	0.414	0.117	0.006	0.001	

Table 4.2: Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops. Statistical test results.



Figure 4.17: Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	100 300 500		700
100	-18.084%	-26.007%	-15.719%	-1.0001%
100	0.609	0.442	0.509	0.968
300	-9.042%	-10.645%	-2.719%	-0.846%
500	0.596	0.298	0.740	0.927
500	-4.178	-18.035%	-14.433%	0.613%
500	0.754	0.114	0.115	0.947
700	-32.352%	-46.458%	-41.135%	-3.358%
100	0.006	0.000	0.000	0.827

Table 4.3: Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

Overall, results for bicycle traffic suggest that the optimization method significantly improves traffic performance for high traffic volumes (700 veh/h) and for low to high bicycle traffic demand (100 - 500 bicycles/h). The remaining traffic performance differences for all other traffic compositions are found not to be statistically significant. Only the average number of stops per bicyclist is significantly increased for certain traffic compositions, while in contrast the average waiting time is significantly decreased.

**4.3.1.1.2 AV Traffic (Superordinate Traffic Stream)** Figures 4.18 and 4.19 present the traffic performance indicator results for the average delay and average number of stops. As AV traffic travels on the superordinate traffic stream, the traffic performance indicators in the "Base" scenario have no incurred delays, stops or waiting times, as all vehicles travel prioritized with their desired speed. Respectively, the AV traffic performance is negatively affected within the "Optimization" scenario, as the AVs need to provide priority to subordinate bicyclists. Incurred delays remain low, still corresponding to a LOS A according to the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] for all traffic compositions.

With respect to the number of stops seldom incidents of AVs coming to full stops at the intersection approach as a result of the continuous flow of prioritized bicycle traffic are identified (Figure 4.19). This proves that the proposed method manages to maintain a steady uninterrupted flow of vehicles on the superordinate traffic stream. Overall, the negative effects of the proposed method on AV traffic are minor, while a stable and acceptable trade-off with the bicyclist traffic performance is established.



Figure 4.18: Simulation Scenario 1a: AV traffic (major stream) average delay.



Figure 4.19: Simulation Scenario 1a: AV traffic (major stream) average stops.

# 4.3.1.2 Simulation Scenario 2a: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road

**4.3.1.2.1 Bicycle traffic (Subordinate Traffic Stream)** Figures 4.20, 4.21 and 4.22 present the traffic performance indicator results for the average delay, average number of stops and average waiting time. The respective results of the statistical analysis are presented in Tables 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6. in this scenario, bicyclists have to cross the major road over two superordinate AV traffic streams. The respective AV traffic volume is defined for each traffic stream. Therefore, AV traffic volume is two times greater than the traffic volume in Scenario 1. Additionally, bicyclists have to cross two intersection points instead of one in Scenario 1. This is a far more demanding task for bicyclists as during higher traffic demand situations on the superordinate traffic stream simultaneous acceptable time gaps have to be found, while prioritization activation has to be enabled in parallel for two AV traffic streams. Thus, the

scenario variations consider significantly greater traffic demand than in scenario 1. Also, in terms of traffic performance evaluation, the experienced bicyclist delays and waiting times with an AV traffic demand of 500 veh/h correspond to a severe congestion situation according to the LOS evaluation using the HBS for both the "Base" and the "Optimization" cases.

With respect to bicycle traffic delays, results suggest a consistent reduction through the proposed method. The majority of the identified differences to the "Base" scenario are also found to be statistically significant. It is important to mention that the experienced bicyclist delays for the scenario variation with AV traffic volume of 500 veh/h per traffic stream basically correspond to extreme congestion situations, where bicyclists cannot find acceptable time gaps to pass through the prioritized AV traffic without assistance. In these scenario variations, most of the highest reductions in average experienced delays are found, which shows that the proposed method can successfully assist bicyclist crossing maneuvers in congestion situations or with dense AV platoons.

In contrast to scenario 1a, where the average number of stops increased, in scenario 2 the proposed method succeeds in minor improvements compared to the "Base" scenario. However only, in a single scenario variation (AV: 500 veh/h, Bicycles: 300 veh/h) is the improvement statistically significant. Respectively an even greater reduction in average waiting times is observed in comparison to scenario 1, with the majority of differences being classified as statistically significant. The parallel comparison of the results of scenario 1 with scenario 2 reveals that the most significant improvements with the proposed method are found in the most demanding and complex traffic scenarios. Results, for low demand traffic compositions are mixed in comparison to the "Base" scenario, while any improvements are not statistically significant. However, with increased traffic demand and complexity, the proposed method exhibits increasingly improved performance in comparison to both the "Base" and the low traffic demand variations for bicycle traffic.



Figure 4.20: Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500		
100	-5.050%	-4.724%	-7.410%		
100	0.273	0.263	0.038		
300	-14.143%	-24.714%	-38.021%		
	0.042	0.033	0.064		
500	-47.999	-61.621%	-24.592%		
	0.000	0.010	0.125		

Table 4.4: Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical test results.



Figure 4.21: Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)					
(veh/h)	100	300	500			
100	-3.084%	-1.610%	-6.027%			
100	0.803	0.888	0.460			
300	-0.247%	-1.680%	-2.542%			
500	0.961	0.712	0.532			
500	-3.866	-9.205%	-0.231%			
	0.214	0.008	0.831			

Table 4.5: Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops per bicyclist. Statistical test results.



Figure 4.22: Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)					
(veh/h)	100	300	500			
100	-27.563%	-26.917%	-29.537%			
100	0.144	0.081	0.027			
300	-26.579%	-37.354%	-46.269%			
	0.029	0.026	0.063			
F00	-60.656	-65.449%	-30.335%			
500	0.000	0.010	0.082			

Table 4.6: Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

**4.3.1.2.2 AV Traffic (Superordinate Traffic Stream)** Figures 4.23 and 4.24 present the traffic performance indicator results for the average delay and average number of stops. In comparison to Scenario 1, AV traffic streams accumulate greater average delays in Scenario 2 for the same traffic volume compositions. This is expected as more traffic streams and therefore on average more vehicles are involved in the prioritization processes. However, the average delays per vehicle are minor in comparison to the average bicyclist delays and the respective reduction through the proposed method. Incurred delays still correspond to a LOS A according to the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] for all traffic compositions. Again, as in Scenario 1, the average number of stops per vehicle and the respective average waiting times remain minimal, indicating that only on rare occasions will the AVs on the prioritization has to be activated simultaneously for two intersection points, while at the same time bicyclists have a longer distance to cross in the intersection, the proposed method manages to preserve a steady and continuous flow on the superordinate traffic stream.



Figure 4.23: Simulation Scenario 2a: AV traffic (major stream) average delay.



Figure 4.24: Simulation Scenario 2a: AV traffic (major stream) average stops.

# 4.3.1.3 Simulation Scenario 1b: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road

This simulation scenario investigates the effects of concurrent bicycle traffic demand on the superordinate traffic stream. It expands the analysis of simulation scenario 1a, by assessing the effect of the defined constraints that restrict the prioritization activation in the case of intersecting superordinate bicycle traffic flow. The respective results of the statistical analysis are presented in Tables 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9.

It is found that due to the obstruction of the superordinate bicycle traffic stream results for the average delay are mixed for all traffic compositions. This is an expected outcome as the prioritization is not activated in cases where bicycle traffic is detected in the superordinate traffic stream. Yet most of the differences for the average delays are not assessed as statistically significant. Regarding the average number of stops, results show that they significantly increase for subordinate bicyclists in most traffic composition cases examined. However, the average waiting time results are also mixed with the exception of the two border scenarios of low and high AV traffic (100 veh/h and 700 veh/h). For these two cases, waiting times consistently increase and decrease respectively for the low and high demand variations, with some of the differences being even classified as statistically significant. This once more indicates, that the proposed method manages to bring traffic performance improvements only for high traffic conditions, whereas in low traffic conditions, traffic performance is better by following the established traffic priority rules. It is safe to conclude that the intercepting superodinate bicycle traffic disrupts and limits the performance of the optimization method compared also to the performance in Scenario 1a. Finally, results for AV traffic performance still corresponds to to a LOS A according to the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] despite the increase in bicycle traffic flow and the not optimal operation of the prioritization method. Results are included as part of Appendices 3 and 3.

Table 4.7: Simul	ation Scenaric	) 1b:	Bicycle traffic	(minor	stream)	average d	lelay.	Statistical
test re	esults.							
]							1	

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700	
100	5.624%	2.683%	2.514%	2.360%	
100	0.076	0.306	0.257	0.275	
300	-3.020%	-1.232%	14.994%	7.079%	
500	0.636	0.776	0.011	0.311	
500	-8.631	-1.639%	4.450%	10.449%	
500	0.188	0.808	0.522	0.251	
700	-26.412%	-14.668%	-0.353%	2.763%	
100	0.001	0.054	0.980	0.870	

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700	
100	28.707%	12.293%	10.278%	9.161%	
100	0.050	0.348	0.378	0.294	
300	6.673%	3.129%	26.211%	12.256%	
	0.575	0.686	0.002	0.133	
500	2.445	14.087%	15.807%	18.504%	
500	0.759	0.011	0.004	0.000	
700	-2.749%	12.063%	13.870%	7.820%	
100	0.687	0.002	0.000	0.016	

Table 4.8: Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stops per<br/>bicyclist. Statistical test results.

Table 4.9: Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700	
100	42.782%	22.168%	18.654%	12.675%	
100	0.033	0.277	0.267	0.293	
300	-17.847%	-7.823%	25.004%	9.380%	
	0.302	0.512	0.121	0.579	
500	-24.492	-8.497%	2.438%	9.481%	
500	0.073	0.483	0.833	0.490	
700	-44.538%	-24.511%	-4.934%	-0.657%	
100	0.000	0.029	0.772	0.972	

# 4.3.1.4 Simulation Scenario 2b: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road

This simulation scenario investigates the effects of concurrent bicycle traffic demand on the superordinate traffic stream. It expands the analysis of simulation scenario 2a, by assessing the effect of the defined constraints that restrict the prioritization activation in the case of intersecting superordinate bicycle traffic flow on both superordinate traffic streams. In terms of traffic volumes, this is the most complex and demanding scenario examined during the evaluation. In this scenario, subordinate bicycles/h. The results of the statistical analysis are presented in Tables 4.10 and 4.11. In terms of traffic performance evaluation, the experienced bicyclist delays and waiting times with an AV traffic demand of 500 veh/h correspond to a severe congestion situation according to the LOS evaluation using the HBS for both the "Base" and the "Optimization" cases.

The subordinate bicyclist average delays and average waiting times improve consistently with some differences between means being classified as statistically significant according to Tables 4.10 and 4.11. The average number of stops slightly improves fro most examined varations, however none of the changes is classified as statistically significant (see: 3 in Appendix 4). In comparison to Scenario 2b, without concurrent intercepting superordinate traffic, traffic performance improvements are limited, as the optimization activation is limited by the predefined operation constraints. Thus, the proposed method still manages to efficiently assist the subordinate bicyclists crossing the superordinate traffic stream

Finally, results for AV traffic in Scenario 2b remain comparable and mostly unchanged, compared to Scenario 2a. The AV traffic performance still corresponds to to a LOS A according to the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] despite the increase in bicycle traffic flow and the not optimal operation of the prioritization method. These results are presented as part of Appendices 3 and 4.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)					
(veh/h)	100	300	500			
100	-8.278%	-3.142%	-4.041%			
100	0.063	0.493	0.317			
300	-11.925%	-9.185%	-37.002%			
500	0.301	0.667	0.023			
500	-16.198	-39.475%	-24.630%			
500	0.335	0.054	0.005			

Table 4.10: Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500		
100	-31.480%	-12.033%	-14.534%		
	0.027	0.289	0.149		
300	-18.822%	-13.359%	-39.613%		
	0.253	0.612	0.018		
500	-20.475	-41.852%	-25.104%		
	0.296	0.044	0.008		

Table 4.11: Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

# 4.3.1.5 Simulation Scenario 1c: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main road. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.

This simulation scenario investigates the sensitivity of the proposed method utilizing the quantification of the bicyclist maneuver prediction uncertainty that has been introduced as a weight factor for the road user based traffic state estimation. As the uniform distribution used to model uncertainty quantification is shifted below the threshold for differentiating between certain and uncertain predictions, bicyclists are either not considered in the objective functions, or, the ones that have a higher certainty than the threshold value are considered but on average with a lower weight factor value than the Scenario 1a. As part of this analysis results are compared for the optimization method between the case of high average prediction confidence and low average prediction confidence.

For bicycle traffic, the comparison of the performance indicators reveals no statistically significant differences with only slight improvements for the average delay and waiting time, and slight deterioration for the average number of stops. This suggests that for the evaluated scenario bicycle traffic does not significantly benefit from the inclusion of the prediction confidence and any improvements are limited. This is however still in agreement, with the previous analysis results, as one would compare the reduced maneuver prediction confidence with the "Base" scenario, where bicyclists are not being actively prioritized. Similarly, the low confidence bicyclists are less considered in the objective functions and AVs remains prioritized. These results are presented as part of the Appendices 3 and 4.

With respect to AV traffic, the average delay increases significantly for the higher traffic demand variations as presented in Figure 4.25 and Table 4.12. This is an expected outcome as with increased bicycle traffic, the probability that the prioritization is activated also increases and thus delays incur. In both cases, the AV traffic performance still corresponds to to a LOS A according to the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHR-SWESEN (FGSV), 2015]. The assessment of the number of stops and waiting times for AV traffic also does not reveal any statistically significant differences. These results are presented



as part of the Appendices 3 and 4.

Figure 4.25: Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (major stream) average delay. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.

Table 4.12: Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average delay. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700	
100	16.159%	25.222%	41.468%	18.714%	
	0.804	0.522	0.189	0.476	
300	33.217%	32.084%	19.816%	26.426%	
	0.476	0.214	0.263	0.219	
500	-2.746	28.446%	25.524%	30.766%	
	0.914	0.110	0.055	0.001	
700	42.710%	108.498%	32.601%	16.456%	
	0.050	0.000	0.013	0.031	

# 4.3.1.6 Simulation Scenario 2c: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the minor road. Comparison of low and high bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.

This simulation scenario investigates the sensitivity of the proposed method utilizing the quantification of the bicyclist maneuver prediction uncertainty that has been introduced in proposed
method as a weight factor for the road user based traffic state estimation. In contrast to Scenario 1c, bicyclists here face a more demanding and complex traffic situation as they have to cross two intersection points with the superordinate traffic flow.

**4.3.1.6.1 Bicycle traffic (Subordinate Traffic Stream)** The results of the statistical analysis for the traffic performance indicators, average delay, average number of stops and average waiting time are presented as part of the Appendices 3 and 4. Contrary to the results of Scenario 1c, the increased prediction confidence consistently improves the bicyclist average delays and waiting times for the medium to high traffic demand compositions. The average number of stops per bicyclist also improves for most traffic demand variations, however for the majority of examined compositions, differences are not classified as statistically significant. As the situation is more complex, arriving bicyclists on the minor stream with low confidence prediction values are less considered in objective functions. However, as they accumulate increasing delays over time eventually, they are assigned the prioritization activation. At that point also other incoming bicyclists, or bicyclists that have arrived, but due to the low confidence and thus small weight factor value, have not yet accumulated significant delays, still benefit from the prioritization activation. Eventually, the weight factor leads to a slower or faster reaction of the optimization algorithm depending on the traffic situation. This additionally explains, why the significant differences are only identified for the higher traffic demand compositions. In these cases both the AV traffic flow is higher on the major stream and thus, greater delays incur on the minor bicycle traffic, and additionally bicycle traffic demand is also higher, therefore it has to be faster considered by the optimization function. Thus, in complex and high traffic demand situations the maneuver prediction confidence factor has a significant influence on the performance of the optimization.

**4.3.1.6.2** AV Traffic (Superordinate Traffic Stream) Figure 4.26 and Table 4.13 present the AV traffic performance indicator results for the average delay. In contrast to Scenario 1c, where the average AV delay increases with increased maneuver prediction confidence as a result of the more often prioritization activation, here the AVs profit significantly from the increased prediction confidence compared to the low confidence case. This is explained in combination with the results for bicycle traffic, as by the time a significant amount of bicycle delay is accumulated more bicyclists need to pass through the intersection. In contrast to Scenario 1, bicyclists need to cross a longer distance with two intersecting AVs traffic streams. Thus, the long dissolving bicycle queue occupies the intersection area for a longer period of time and therefore longer delays for AVs occur. This effect is statistically significant for the high demand traffic compositions as more AVs arrive at the intersection a upstream AVs also accumulate increased delays as a result of the AVs downstream waiting for the longer bicycle queues to dissolve. Contrary, when the prediction confidence is higher, the optimization method reacts faster to increasing bicycle delays and manages to prioritize bicyclists faster. Thus, the probability of a long bicycle queue is lower and bicyclists occupy the intersection points for smaller time periods. This, leads also to a faster termination of the prioritization as bicycle demand is no longer detected. The assessment of the number of stops and waiting times for AV traffic also does not reveal any important differences. These results are presented as part of the Appendices 3 and 4.



Figure 4.26: Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (major stream) average delay. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.

Table 4.13: Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average delay. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)		
(veh/h)	100	300	500
100	11.343%	-2.749%	-12.695%
100	0.722	0.838	0.395
300	-7.770%	-20.579%	-14.322%
500	0.653	0.114	0.022
500	-38.991	-29.968%	-50.089%
500	0.030	0.001	0.000

#### 4.4 Discussion

Following the development of the deep learning model coupled with an uncertainty quantification mechanism that predicts the bicyclist intended maneuver type before an intersection approach with a level of confidence, a MILP optimization method is proposed that utilizes the prediction information in order to prioritize bicyclists over superordinate AV traffic streams at an unsignalized intersection. The proposed method is defined by two hierarchical objective functions, which based on the expected delays, expected stops and the maneuver prediction confidence for each road user try to minimize incurred delays for all road users and the number of stops for bicyclists for the entire intersection. The optimization method is further limited by a set of constraints and functions that are introduced to ensure safe traffic interactions among all road users and the uninterrupted AV flow on the major traffic streams. The performance of the proposed method is assessed in two main evaluation scenarios with a range traffic compositions from low to high traffic demand. Results, show that:

- The proposed method consistently reduces delays and waiting times for bicyclists for moderate to high traffic demand compositions and outperforms the "Base" Scenario with common priority rules.
- The higher the complexity of the intended bicyclist maneuver at the intersection, the greater the bicycle traffic performance gains and the greater the significance and influence of the maneuver prediction confidence.
- The proposed method does not perform better in comparison to the "Base" Scenario for cases with <u>low traffic demand</u>. In these cases bicyclists can easily find acceptable time gaps between prioritized AVs and do not normally require the assistance of the prioritization method to pass through. In general, active control measures do not outperform simple priority rules at intersections without signal control according to the HBS [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] as well as findings from previous research Y. WU and F. ZHU [2021]. From a certain aspect, the proposed method can be regarded as a form of a traffic control measure, that regulates priority at the intersection in an effort to improve traffic performance.
- The average number of bicyclist stops increased in some cases or no significant improvements were found. This is a result of two factors: First, the delay is the primary optimization objective, as it a decisive variable for both bicyclist and AV traffic. Therefore, it is only considered by the optimization, when no significant deterioration of the first objective is identified. Further, one limitation of the proposed deep learning model is that it needs to accumulate bicyclist behavior data for 20m before entering the intersection area to be able to provide a sufficiently secure prediction for all bicyclist maneuver classes. This, limits the reaction time for the optimization method, as the AV does not have sufficient time to create acceptable gaps, unless the AV is in a specific position upstream of the intersection that allows it to decelerate conveniently in time. Also, in cases with increased traffic demand multiple AVs are already driving on the major traffic stream and thus, their presence weighs the optimization to their favor. The AV expected delays are also considered more in the objective functions through the maneuver certainty quantification factor as their maneuver is always known with a higher certainty than the bicyclist maneuver.
- With respect to AV traffic, incurred delays are minimal.
- AV traffic flow was interrupted only on rare occasions possibly due to a dissolving long bicycle queue. This is particularly important as the proposed method aims to improve traffic efficiency equally for all road users by leveraging on the competences of AV technologies and capabilities. As the introduction and inclusion of AVs in urban

traffic becomes an increasingly important topic, primarily due to traffic safety concerns, the development of novel methods for resolving traffic interactions with HRUs has the potential to accelerate the AV adoption and social acceptance of AVs in urban traffic. Social acceptance will not only consider safe interactions but it will also require that AVs provide equivalent or improved traffic efficiency compared to human driven motor vehicles. In this context, the proposed method assists bicyclists intercepting major AV traffic streams to complete their intended maneuver, while ensuring safe and efficient interactions both between the respective road users and for the entire traffic system as a whole.

The proposed method is found to be especially efficient in high traffic demand situations. In unsignalized intersections, these situations are often characterized by highly complex and safety critical interactions. As AVs are integrated in the urban transportation systems both their role and the expected challenges in resolving these situations will increase. VRU behavior is highly uncertain and is characterized by increased flexibility. Eventually, the proposed method manages to reduce the time spend inside the intersection for bicyclists, which in turn reduces the AV effort to resolve such situations at the intersection area and the probability that deadlock situations for AVs will occur.

### Chapter 5

### Conclusions

This dissertation contributes scientific methods that allow AVs to understand and predict the bicyclist maneuver at an unsignalized intersection and adapt their driving behavior in order to optimize traffic performance for both bicyclists and AVs in the intersection areas. Section 5.1 presents a summary of the main contributions and conclusions of this dissertation. Section 5.2 discusses the main limitations in the progress of this research, while section 5.3 presents the most relevant and important areas fo future research based on the main contributions, conclusions and limitations of this dissertation.

#### 5.1 Summary and Conclusions

This dissertation proposes scientific methods for assisting AVs and resolving their interactions with bicyclists in the use case of an urban unsignalized intersection with no bicycle infrastructure. Taking inspiration from the literature review and by identifying the research gaps in the fields of bicyclist behavior prediction, human-machine cooperation, communication and AIM research, this work proposes, in a first step, a deep learning model for predicting the bicyclist maneuver intention at an unsignalized intersection approach.

The deep learning model is based on B-LSTMs and considers dynamic and communication behavior features. The communication features include both implicit and explicit communication behavior features, that are pre-classified into gesture archetypes. The proposed model outperformed all versions where only dynamic, or only communication bicyclist behavior features have been used. This highlights the importance of the inclusion of communication behavior features in models for the bicyclist behavior prediction.

The deep learning model is further expanded with a method that allows the model to self-evaluate its prediction confidence. The evaluation can be performed using a variety of available confidence quantification metrics. This is an important addition, as most equivalent models in AV research developed to predict VRU behavior do not consider uncertainty. The quantification and assessment of the prediction confidence, especially for long-term prediction problem formulations is of high importance in improving and optimizing the driving behavior of AVs in traffic.

The proposed model is able to predict the bicyclist intended maneuver at an unsignalized intersection (Research Question 1, section 1.2) with a certain level of confidence (Research Question 2, section 1.2). This dissertation proceeds a step further and proposes the integration of the proposed method in a MILP optimization framework that aims to improve traffic performance for both bicyclists and AVs at an unsignalized intersection. In future urban traffic, the

acceptance and integration of AVs in the urban transport system has to consider and adhere to HRUs requirements. Additionally, most research in the field of human-machine cooperation and communication investigates the necessity, means, acceptance, safety and comprehensiveness of frameworks for enabling and facilitating human-machine interaction in specific one-to-one interaction scenarios. The macroscopic and systemic effects and limitations of such solutions have not been researched. Especially, for AVs this is very important as their actions in such interactions can potentially have traffic safety and traffic efficiency implications for the entire traffic system.

In this context, the MILP optimization framework integrates the inherent bicyclist behavior uncertainty in the control actions taken to optimize traffic performance. It additionally considers the bicyclist individual behavioral characteristics by respectively adjusting the AV driving behavior and balances the requirements of the AV passengers. The proposed concept for the bicyclist prioritization is integrated seamlessly in the existing common traffic priority rules that regulate traffic at unsignalized intersections through the adaptation of the AV approach speed and the generation of acceptable time gaps for bicyclists of minor traffic streams to exploit. This ensures that the bicyclists still adhere to the common traffic rules, which define the intersection default control state. The acceptance of the AV prioritization actions relies on the bicyclists and is not enforced. Eventually, restrictions arising from the common traffic rules and the recognition that bicyclist behavior is not controllable, form the constraints and limitations for the safe and efficient operation of the optimization method. Additionally, no special equipment or devices are required by the bicyclists as both the detection and the communication of the prioritization status lies in th responsibility of the AVs. Communication, information exchange and cooperative decision making is assumed for all approaching AVs and is a strict requirement for the proper operation of the proposed prioritization method (Research Questions 3 and 4, section 1.2).

The proposed MILP optimization framework is evaluated in typical traffic scenarios, using SUMO, with subordinate and superordinate bicycle and AV traffic streams, in order to assess the overall performance of the proposed method and identify restrictions and limitations. Results, show that the proposed method consistently reduces delays and waiting times for bicyclists for moderate to high traffic demand compositions and outperforms the "Base" Scenario with common priority rules. The resulting delays for the superordinate AV traffic streams are minor and effectively not comparable to the significant gains for bicycle traffic. Furthermore results showcase that when considering prioritization measures for AVs and HRU one should consider traffic efficiency evaluations and define for which situations such measures would be necessary. Perhaps for special VRU groups, the evaluation of a concept for an AV–VRU collaboration should additionally consider the aggregated effects on traffic performance.

This dissertation combines the development and evaluation of a prediction model for supporting seamless and uninterrupted AV driving in the presence of bicyclists at unsignalized intersections with the development of a optimization method for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions while improving traffic performance. Ultimately, the main restriction and limitation that had to be addressed was the handling and consideration of bicyclist behavior uncertainty. The uncertainty quantification has not been integrated so far to human action prediction models in the context of AV research, while for the proposed optimization framework, the uncertainty quantification proved to be a significant factor for adjusting the AV driving behavior. This proves the importance and added value arising from the combined approach for the two initially unrelated problem formulations, that in current scientific research are usually addressed independently. Especially for AV research and the development of AV driving functions, the experience gained from this work shows, that the consideration of traffic performance related aspects and applications in the development or expansion of existing models and driving functions, carries a hidden potential in further improving their solution performance and quality. Current AV research focuses mostly exclusively on the traffic safety related aspects of AV driving.

The possibilities arising from the consideration of traffic performance related factors are not being consistently addressed or explored, despite having the potential to further increase traffic safety. Using as an example the results from this dissertation, the prioritization of bicyclists at the intersection contributes to the reduction of time spent inside the intersection area for bicyclists. It assists bicyclists with the generation of safe and comfortable time gaps to cross the superordinate traffic streams and thus reduces the probability of safety critical bicyclist behavior due to impatience or misjudgment of the traffic situation. This proactively alleviates the automated driving task requirements for the interacting AVs. Additionally, during high traffic demand situations, the reduction of the number of bicyclists through their prioritization at the intersection reduces the complexity of the arising traffic situation at the intersection area as the number of interacting humans (bicyclists) is eliminated or remains low. This in turn, simplifies the path planning problem for incoming AVs. It reduces the situation uncertainty, where the number of road users with highly uncertain behavior (bicyclists) is kept low, leaving mainly road users with highly controllable and predictable behavior (AVs) to resolve the situation efficiently. Thus, the potential of a deadlock situation arising, where either the AV passenger or a remote control operator has to assume the AV control is reduced, which further increases traffic safety and ensures continuous uninterrupted autonomy.

With the continuous development and future expansion of AVs, ultimately the traffic safety aspects of their operation will be mostly fully addressed. At the same time, city authorities, stakeholders and HRUs will move their attention into other areas and aspects of the AV operation. Efficient driving, continuous autonomy, acceptable driving behavior and their integration with the traffic management will start to play an increasingly important role and will be the key differentiating features and the new area of competition among the different providers fleet operators for the successful integration and acceptance of AV fleets in the mobility system.

#### 5.2 Limitations

In the context of this dissertation certain limitations are identified for the developed methods. With respect to the deep learning model for the bicyclist maneuver prediction, it is important to mention that the model was trained and validated using data coming from bicycle simulator experiments. Despite the positive evaluation of the bicycle simulator setup by the test subjects and the high quality of the behavior data gathered during the experiments, still the real-world implementation of the model would require the retraining of the model with additional real traffic data as variations in the bicyclist behavior in real traffic may be found.

Additionally, the real-world implementation would require extensive testing through the use of a greater data sample of bicyclist behavior, to account both for the great variety of bicyclist

behavior and for the sensor and detector capabilities of AVs. Also, the consideration of different bicycle types (e-bikes, cargo bikes etc.) is highly recommended as these bicyclists may exhibit different dynamic, operational tactical and communication behavior that has not been studied in this work. Regarding bicyclist behavior, test subjects did not exhibit riding behavior that was contradicting common traffic rules. They never executed explicit hand gestures that were different from their intended driving maneuver (e.g. raising their left hand before turning right, raising their left or right arm before heading straight) or violated any traffic rules. In real traffic it is safe to assume that bicyclists may incline to such contradicting behavior for certain reasons. For example, a bicyclist might perform a hand gesture close to an intersection approach, not to indicate the intended maneuver at the intersection, but rather perform an overtaking maneuver or for any other reason that might be justified for interacting HRUs but not for AVs. The context in which the communication behavior was performed in this research has not been thoroughly analyzed and studied during the experiments and the respective information has not been introduced as part of the deep learning model. In this context, special studies with test subjects need to be performed, in simulators, test tracks or through data augmentation that are targeted in this kind of behavior analysis, in order to assess its effects on the prediction performance of the proposed model and on the proposed method for quantifying the prediction uncertainty. Eventually, it is possible that the prediction uncertainty method would be able to identify this kind of behavior, however this assumption is theoretical as it was not tested as part of this research.

For the proposed optimization framework, one important limitation remains the fact that the framework has only been evaluated using microscopic traffic simulation software. The compliance and acceptance study from the perspective of the bicyclists has not been part of this dissertation. As part of this dissertation, only theoretical recommendations for facilitating the communication to bicyclists are made, however their efficiency and acceptance has not been evaluated through real or simulator based experiments. As part of a coupled AV-bicycle simulator study conducted in parallel during the writing of this dissertation [LINDNER, GEOR-GIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, et al., 2022], we evaluated a similar bicyclist prioritization concept for unsignalized intersections using a mobile application for facilitating the communication between a bicyclist and an AV. The solution was evaluated positively by both bicyclists and the AV passengers, however the proposed solution in this dissertation suggests a different approach for handling the interactions among AVs and bicyclists on the basis of eHMI without mobile application devices for the bicyclists. As the communication concept is different results are also not necessarily transferable. Thus, additional studies for the evaluation of the proposed communication concept need to be performed, that may ultimate limit or also improve the expected performance.

Finally, both the deep learning model and the proposed optimization framework are developed for the use case of a four-arm unsignalized intersection with one lane per travel direction. Therefore results might vary and applicability might be limited, when transferring the proposed methods in intersection with significantly different dimensions and layout characteristics. This may include for example entries, roundabouts, intersection with more than one traffic lanes per travel direction, significantly different traffic lane width, additional types of pedestrian or bicyclist infrastructure (crossings, bicycle boxes, bicycle lanes etc.).

#### 5.3 Outlook

This dissertation proposes solutions for resolving AV and bicyclist interactions at unsignalized intersections. While considering the identified limitations that already indicate significant areas for possible improvement and further research, certain suggestions and directions for future research can also be provided.

The proposed deep learning model for the bicyclist maneuver prediction can be further expanded with the consideration of features that describe contextual information of the bicyclist surroundings. These may include the behavioral characteristics of other road users that are interacting or are in the vicinity of the bicyclist or information on the related infrastructure such as the relevant position of the bicyclist infrastructure. Additional behavior characteristics, such as considering whether the bicyclist belongs to a specific bicyclist group have the potential to further contribute to improved prediction accuracy. These features can be integrated with the existing model or a new model architecture can be proposed that utilizes on the one side the proposed model and on the other side a new model that processes the new features and correlates them with a specific intended maneuver. Both models can be then integrated in a single architecture through the use of an attention mechanism. Further, the proposed deep learning model can be modified and expanded with functions that predict the path of the bicyclist, where the long-term prediction limits the solution area for the bicyclist path prediction.

Regarding, the proposed optimization framework, one potential improvement may be the expansion or substitution of the optimization framework with a reinforcement learning based approach for adjusting the AV driving behavior and regulating prioritization. Training and fine tuning can be based on simulation and on real-world data. The main advantage of such an approach would be that in a potential future real world application, intersection specific features will be integrated into the decision making during the model training process without requiring their explicit definition in the optimization algorithm. During training, the effects of special intersection related characteristics such as the layout, the lane width size etc. will be considered in the model through their effects on the related traffic performance parameters.

Future research may also be directed towards evaluating the proposed optimization method performance not for a single intersection but for the wider transportation network. in this context, the potential for network wide traffic management strategies that incorporate the proposed solution arises. The possibility of using the AVs as supersensors that eventually may track other road users, match, and pinpoint their location across the entire network finds a possible area for the development of innovative traffic management solutions.

As part of this dissertation only unsignalized intersections with only bicyclists have been examined, however the proposed prioritization concept might find space for application in signalized intersections. Possible areas of research include the integration of the proposed AV functions in signalized intersections for conditionally compatible minor traffic streams through the generation of acceptable time gaps. Here, also the implications on other applied traffic management solutions such as bicycle signal coordination or public transport prioritization may be considered. With respect to the considered road users, pedestrians and human driven vehicles can be additionally considered in the context of an expanded prioritization and cooperation concept. With respect to the proposed deep learning model, its application is not limited to automated driving but it can also be expanded to local traffic management applications. The method can potentially be integrated with cameras at signalized intersections typically used to detect traffic for traffic management applications. Hence, the prediction of the intended bicyclist maneuver can be integrated with novel traffic control strategies for bicycle traffic prioritization and increase bicyclist traffic efficiency and traffic safety at signalized intersections.

### Acknowledgments

This dissertation was carried out as part of the research project @CITY – Automated Cars and Intelligent Traffic in the City. The project is supported by the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi), based on a decision taken by the German Bundestag, grant number 19A17015B.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my Thesis Supervisor, Professor Dr.-Ing. Fritz Busch, for giving me the opportunity to conduct my dissertation within this significant research project in the field of automated driving research, as well as for his continuous support, insightful and inspiring feedback and encouragement during all stages in the process of writing this thesis. I am also especially grateful to the present Head of the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control Professor Dr.-Ing. Klaus Bogenberger for his constructive feedback and support.

I would also like to thank all my former and present colleagues in the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control for their valuable help and feedback. Special thanks to Dr. rer. nat. Andreas Keler and Patrick Malcolm for the amazing collaboration and their valuable support, patience and assistance in developing and optimizing the bicycle simulator at the Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control and conducting test subject studies. The bicyclist behavioral data generated from these studies was invaluable for successfully fulfilling the research objectives of this dissertation.

Lastly, I would like to express my gratitude to all my family and friends for their everlasting love, support and encouragement during this great journey.

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Methodology flowchart.	8
2.1	Levels of vehicle automation [ON-ROAD AUTOMATED DRIVING COMMIT- TEE (ORAD), 2021]	12
2.2	Overview of the typical automated vehicle system components and their inter- dependencies by PENDLETON et al. [2017].	14
2.3	Official designation of traffic streams according to the German Highway Ca- pacity Manual (HBS) [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] at a) an unsignalized intersection with right-of-way signs, b) an unsignalized entry with right-of-way signs. Pedestrian streams are marked with F.xx. Figure adapted from [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT DÜD STRASSEN, UND VERKEURSWEED (ECSV), 2015]	T 15
2.4	Study intersection Eschholz-/ Lehenerstraße (Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany) Bicyclist right arm hand gesture (explicit communication) (1) Bicyclist head	15
2.5	rotation (implicit communication) (2)	18
2.6	inside the intersection area for a conditionally compatible left turn maneuver (1). Study intersection Eschholz-/ Lehenerstraße (Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany) Bicyclist left arm hand gesture (explicit communication) before moving from the right side to the left side of the lane and perform a left turn maneuver at	19
2.7	the intersection (1)	19
2.8	infrastructure change (bicycle lane to motor vehicle traffic lane) (1) Typical examples of bicycle simulators focusing on the simulation of bicycle	20
2.9	dynamics and physics	26 28
2.10	Presentation of an AV-bicyclist cooperation and communication framework for resolving the motion planning problem for AVs. Figure partially adapted from	
2.11	KRUSE et al. [2010]	37
0.10	(B) Car Window Screen, (C) Bicycle Heads-Up Display (HUD), (D) Helmet Verbal Audio, (E) Helmet Nonverbal Audio, (F) Handlebar Vibration.	39
2.12	DRESNER and PETER STONE [2007]	48

3.1	a) Bicycle simulator setup, b) skeletal points extraction and depth field detec- tion, c) 3D simulator environment.	57
3.2	Evaluation of the bicycle simulator immersiveness by the test subjects [MALCOLM	
	et al., 2021]	62
3.3	The LSTM architecture adapted from OLAH [2015]	64
3.4	The Bidirectional LSTM model architecture coupled with the application of	
	MC Dropout respectively for the bicyclist maneuver prediction and uncertainty	
	evaluation of the estimated classification probabilities of the maneuver classes.	72
3.5	Average f1-scores and accuracy scores across all k-folds for all different neu-	
	ral network layer types for feature group case 4: Bike Positions + Speed +	70
26	Classified Skeleton Poses.	73
3.0 2.7	Average fil-scores and accuracy scores across all k-tolds for all model cases.	74
5.7	the respective confusion matrix denists the prediction accuracy (predicted ma	
	neuver x-axis) for each maneuver class (actual maneuver x-axis)	75
38	Example: Correct model prediction with increasing prediction confidence for the	15
0.0	three maneuver classes Left Turn, Right Turn, Straight, (Top left: Distribu-	
	tion of prediction confidence across all maneuver classes. Bottom Left: Results	
	of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the Bhattacharyya coefficient, Top	
	Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the prediction prob-	
	ability variance, Bottom Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty	
	using relative entropy)	77
3.9	Example: Correct model prediction with low prediction confidence for the three	
	maneuver classes Left Turn, Right Turn, Straight. (Top left: Distribution of	
	prediction confidence across all maneuver classes, Bottom Left: Results of	
	quantifying prediction uncertainty using the Bhattacharyya coefficient, lop	
	Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the prediction prob-	
	using relative entropy)	70
3 10	Example: Incorrect model prediction with low prediction confidence for the	10
5.10	three maneuver classes Left Turn Right Turn Straight (Ton left: Distribu-	
	tion of prediction confidence across all maneuver classes. Bottom Left: Results	
	of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the Bhattacharyya coefficient. Top	
	Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty using the prediction prob-	
	ability variance, Bottom Right: Results of quantifying prediction uncertainty	
	using relative entropy).	79
3.11	Determination of the limits for the evaluation of the confidence of the model	
	prediction. The blue line represents a possible boundary of the prediction un-	
	certainty depending on the corresponding minimum (Variance) and maximum	
	(Relative Entropy) value of "incorrect" predictions	80
4.1	The key properties and components of the proposed optimization framework	85
4.2	User path modeling and intersection point definition. Figure adapted from:	
	FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION [2004]	89

4.3	Graphical representation of the proposed prioritization concept based on the generation of acceptable bicycle friendly time gaps between AVs on the super	
	ordinated traffic stream a) Deactivation of the prioritization (default state)	
	b) activation of the prioritization	90
44	Example for the assignment of the defined interaction classes for users on	
	subordinate and superordinate traffic streams	96
45	AV prioritization status assignment flowchart	98
4.6	Example of the AV prioritization status assignment logic	99
4 7	SUMO intersection model lavout	109
4.8	Integration of Optimization System Architecture with SUMO	111
4.9	Example speed and acceleration profile of an AV in SUMO during the activation	***
1.5	and subsequent deactivation of an acceptable time gap	114
4 10	Example of the successive deactivation and activation of the prioritization sta-	
1.10	tus in SUMO and the respective transitions between the AV states	114
4 11	Simulation Scenario 1a: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main	114
7.11	road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road	116
4 1 2	Simulation Scenario 1b: Prioritization of left turning bicycle stream on main	110
7.12	road with concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road	117
4 13	Simulation Scenario 2a: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the	111
4.15	minor road without concurrent bicycle traffic on the main road	118
1 11	Simulation Scenario 2b: Prioritization of a crossing bicycle stream from the	110
4.14	minor road with concurrent bicucle traffic on the main road	110
1 15	Simulation Sconario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay	122
4.15	Simulation Scenario 1a. Dicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay.	102
4.10	Simulation Scenario 1a. Dicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops.	123
4.1 <i>1</i>	Simulation Scenario 1a. Dicycle trainc (minor stream) average waiting time.	124
4.10	Simulation Scenario 1a. AV traffic (major stream) average delay	120
4.19	Simulation Scenario 2a: Ricycla traffic (minor stream) average delay	120
4.20	Simulation Scenario 2a. Dicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay.	121
4.21	Simulation Scenario 2a. Dicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops.	120
4.22	Simulation Scenario 2a. Dicycle trainc (minor stream) average waiting time.	129
4.25	Simulation Scenario 2a. AV traffic (major stream) average delay	121
4.24	Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (major stream) average stops.	101
4.20	simulation Scenario IC. Av trainc (major stream) average delay. Sensitivity	126
1 26	Simulation Scenario 2c: (V) traffic (major stream) sucross delay. Sensitivity	130
4.20	simulation Scenario 2C. Av trainc (major stream) average delay. Sensitivity	120
		120
1	Simulation Scenario 1a: AV traffic (major stream) average waiting time.	183
2	Simulation Scenario 2a: AV traffic (major stream) waiting time.	184
3	Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay with con-	
	current intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.	184
4	Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops with con-	
	current intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.	185
5	Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time	
	with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.	185
	· · · ·	

6	Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay with con- current intercepting bicycle flow on the major road	6
7	Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops with con-	Ŭ
	current intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.	6
8	Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road	7
9	Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Sensitiv- ity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	7
10	Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops. Sensitiv-	
	ity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	8
11	Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	8
12	Simulation Scenario 1b: AV traffic (major stream) average delay with concur-	_
	rent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.	9
13	Simulation Scenario 1b: AV traffic (major stream) average stops with concur-	~
1 4	rent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.	9
14 15	Simulation Scenario Ib: AV traffic (major stream) average waiting time 19	J
15	Simulation Scenario 2D: AV traffic (major stream) average delay with concur-	^
16	Simulation Segmetic 2b. All traffic (major road	U
10	rent intercenting bicycle flow on the major road	1
17	Simulation Scenario 2b: AV traffic (major stream) waiting time	1
18	Simulation Scenario 1c: Ricycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Sensitiv-	T
10	ity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	2
19	Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops. Sensitiv-	-
	ity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	2
20	Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicvcle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.	
-	Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	3
21	Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (major stream) average stops. Sensitivity	
	analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.	3
22	Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (major stream) average waiting time. Sen-	
	sitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	4
23	Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (major stream) average stops. Sensitivity	
	analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence	4
24	Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (major stream) waiting time. Sensitivity	
	analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.	5

# **List of Tables**

2.1	Official priority ranking of traffic streams according to the German Highway Ca- pacity Manual (HBS) [FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV), 2015] at a) an unsignalized intersection with	16
2.2	Previous research on the definition of explicit and implicit features of bicyclist	. 10
	communication behavior.	. 22
2.3	Bicycle simulators in scientific research.	. 31
2.3	Bicycle simulators in scientific research.	. 32
2.3	Bicycle simulators in scientific research.	. 33
2.3	Bicycle simulators in scientific research.	. 34
3.1	Test scenarios.	. 59
3.1	Test scenarios.	. 60
3.1	Test scenarios.	. 61
3.2	Input features (dependent variable) and output (independent variable).	. 67
3.3	Model Training and Testing Feature Group Cases.	. 68
4.1	Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical	
	test results.	. 122
4.2	Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops. Statisti- cal test results.	. 124
4.3	Simulation Scenario 1a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.	
	Statistical test results.	. 125
4.4	Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical	
	test results	. 128
4.5	Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops per bicy-	
_	clist. Statistical test results.	. 129
4.6	Simulation Scenario 2a: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.	100
4 7		. 130
4.7	Simulation Scenario Ib: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statisti-	120
10	Simulation Sconario 1b: Ricycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stons	. 152
4.0	per bicyclist. Statistical test results.	. 133
4.9	Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.	
	Statistical test results.	. 133
4.10	Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statisti-	
	cal test results.	. 134

4.11	Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.	135
4.12	Simulation Scenario Ic: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average delay. Statistical test results.	136
4.13	Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average delay. Statistical test results.	138
1	Bicycle behavior parameters [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOSSEINI, et al., 2021; GEORGIOS	
0	GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022].	182
2	AV behavior parameters. The Wiedemann 99 (W99) parameters are adjusted according to OLSTAM et al. [2020] for the normal driving behavior logic.	183
5	per bicyclist Statistical test results	196
4	Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.	190
	Statistical test results.	196
5	Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stops	
	per bicyclist. Statistical test results	197
6	Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average stops	107
7	per vehicle. Statistical test results	197
1	ing time. Statistical test results	108
8	Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical	190
•	test results	198
9	Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stops	
	per bicyclist. Statistical test results.	199
10	Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time.	
	Statistical test results.	199
11	Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average stops	000
10	per vehicle. Statistical test results	200
12	Simulation Scenario 2C: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average walt-	200
		200

# **List of Terms and Abbreviations**

ACC	Adaptive Cruise Control 42, 154
ADAS	Advanced Driver Assistance Systems 43, 154
AIM	Autonomous Intersection Management 47–50, 141, 154
ANN	Artificial Neural Network 23, 24, 154
ΑΡΙ	Application Programming Interface 58, 66, 109–111, 154
AV	Automated Vehicle iii, iv, vi, vii, 1–7, 9, 11–15, 17, 20, 21, 23, 25, 29, 35–45, 47–49, 51–55, 63, 70, 80, 81, 83–92, 94, 96–118, 120–128, 130–132, 134–145, 149, 151, 152, 154, 181–184, 189–191, 193–195, 197, 198, 200
B-GRU	Bidirectional Gated Recurrent Unit 72, 154
B-LSTM	Bidirectional Long Short Term Memory Network iii, v, 9, 24, 65, 69, 72, 74, 80, 141, 154
B-RNN	Bidirectional Recurrent Neural Network 72, 154
CACC	Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control 44, 49, 154
CAV	Connected and Automated Vehicle 47–51, 154
CNN	Convolutional Neural Network 23–25, 42, 154
CS	Critical Section 4, 154
dHMI	Dynamic Human Machine Interface 40, 53, 100, 154
eHMI	External Human Machine Interface 38–40, 53, 100, 144, 154
ΕΤΑ	Estimated Time of Arrival 50, 51, 88, 92, 93, 95, 97, 154
FCFS	First Come First Serve 48–50, 154

GRU	Gated Recurrent Unit 65, 66, 72, 154
HBS	German Highway Capacity Manual 46, 90, 118, 125, 127, 130, 132, 134, 135, 139, 154
НСМ	American Highway Capacity Manual 46, 47, 90, 118, 154
НМІ	Human Machine Interfaces 2, 35, 38, 154
HRU	Human Road User iii, 3, 12, 13, 23, 35–40, 47–49, 51, 53, 83, 86, 140, 142–144, 154
HUD	Heads-Up Display 38, 154
IDM	Intelligent Driver Model 42, 44, 154
iHMI	Internal Human Machine Interface 29, 100, 154
KL Divergence	Kullback-Leibler Divergence 71, 154
LNC	Law of Non-Contradiction 79, 154
LOS	Level of Service 46, 47, 87, 90, 118, 125, 127, 130, 132, 134, 135, 154
LSTM	Long Short Term Memory Network 23–25, 52, 63–66, 69, 72, 150, 154
MADDPG	Multiagent Deep Deterministic Policy Gradient 50, 154
MC Dropout	Monte Carlo Dropout 71, 72, 75, 76, 150, 154
MILP	Mixed Integer Linear Programming iv, vi, 44, 51, 54, 84, 88, 100, 138, 141, 142, 154
МРС	Model Predictive Control 13, 154
NLP	Natural Language Processing 70, 154
P2V	Pedestrian-to-Vehicle 14, 154

ResNet	Residual Neural Network 24, 154	
RNN	Recurrent Neural Network 23, 63, 65, 66, 72, 154	
SAF	Society of Automotive Engineers 12, 86, 154	
SCD	Society of Automotive Engineers 12, 00, 154	
SGD	Stochastic Gradient Descent 154	
StVO	German Traffic Regulations (Straßenverkehrs-Ordnung) 15, 16, 87, 154	
SUMO	Simulation of Urban Mobility iv, vi, 27, 28, 32, 41–44, 56, 57, 61, 62, 70, 85, 108–111, 113, 114, 118, 120, 142, 151, 154, 181, 182	
TDC Benchmark	Tsinghua-Daimler Cyclist Benchmark 24, 154	
TraCl	Traffic Control Interface 27, 41–44, 58, 109, 110, 113, 118, 154	
ттс	Time-to-Collision 39, 154	
U-LSTM	Unidirectional Long Short Term Memory Network 65, 154	
V2I	Vehicle-to-Infratructure 47, 154	
V2V	Vehicle-to-Vehicle 14, 42, 47, 154	
V2X	Vehicle-to-Everything 4, 6, 42, 154	
VIL	Vehicle-In-the-Loop 41, 154	
VRU	Vulnerable Road User iii, v, 3, 5, 9, 11, 13, 14, 16, 23, 35, 36, 49, 52–54, 83, 84, 100, 140–142, 154	

## Prepublications

Content of the following own peer reviewed conference papers is partially described in this dissertation, as part of Chapter 3 and Sections 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4.

GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, PATRICK MALCOLM, ANDREAS KELER, HEATHER KATHS, et al. [2021]. "Bicyclist Maneuver Type Prediction using Bidirectional Long Short-Term Memory Neural Networks". In: *TRB 100th Annual Meeting*. Washington DC, USA, (virtual, poster presentation only)

GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, PATRICK MALCOLM, ANDREAS KELER, and FRITZ BUSCH [2022]. "Predicting Bicyclist Maneuvers using Explicit and Implicit Communication". In: 8th Road Safety and Simulation Conference. Athens, Greece: National Technical University of Athens Road Safety Observatory (NRSO)

### References

- ABADI, MARTÍN et al. (2016). "TensorFlow: Large-Scale Machine Learning on Heterogeneous Distributed Systems". In: arXiv: 1603.04467. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/1603.04467.
- ABADI, MASOUD GHODRAT; DAVID S HURWITZ (2018). "Bicyclist's perceived level of comfort in dense urban environments : How do ambient traffic, engineering treatments, and bicyclist characteristics relate ?" In: Sustainable Cities and Society 40.November 2017, pp. 101–109. ISSN: 2210-6707. DOI: 10.1016/j.scs.2018.04.003. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2018.04.003.
- ABDAR, MOLOUD; FARHAD POURPANAH; SADIQ HUSSAIN; DANA REZAZADEGAN; LI LIU; MOHAMMAD GHAVAMZADEH; PAUL FIEGUTH; XIAOCHUN CAO; ABBAS KHOS-RAVI; U. RAJENDRA ACHARYA; VLADIMIR MAKARENKOV; SAEID NAHAVANDI (2021).
  "A review of uncertainty quantification in deep learning: Techniques, applications and challenges". In: *Information Fusion* 76, pp. 243–297. ISSN: 15662535. DOI: 10.1016/j.inffus. 2021.05.008. arXiv: 2011.06225.
- ACKERMANN, CLAUDIA; MATTHIAS BEGGIATO; LUKA-FRANZISKA BLUHM; ALEXAN-DRA LÖW; JOSEF F KREMS (2019). "Deceleration parameters and their applicability as informal communication signal between pedestrians and automated vehicles". In: Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour 62, pp. 757–768. ISSN: 1369-8478. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2019.03.006. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1369847818306600.
- ALLGEMEINE VERKEHRSREGELN (2019). "Straßenverkehrs-Ordnung (StVO)". In: pp. 1– 72.
- ALRUTZ, DANKMAR; WOLFGANG BOHLE; HOLGER MÜLLER; HEIKE PRAHLOW; UL-RIKE HACKE; GÜNTER LOHMANN (2009). "Unfallrisiko und Regelakzeptanz von Fahrradfahrern". In: Berichte der Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen, Unterreihe Verkehrstechnik 184, pp. 1–127.
- ANDRESEN, ERIK; MOHCINE CHRAIBI; ARMIN SEYFRIED; FELIX HUBER (2014). "Basic Driving Dynamics of Cyclists". In: Simulation of Urban Mobility. Ed. by MICHAEL BEHRISCH; DANIEL KRAJZEWICZ; MELANIE WEBER. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 18–32. ISBN: 978-3-662-45079-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-45079-6\_2.
- ANGENENDT, WILHELM; BLASE ARNE; KLÖCKNER DOROTHÉE (2005). Verbesserung der Radverkehrsführung an Knoten. Tech. rep. Bergisch Gladbach: Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen.
- AOKI, SHUNSUKE; TAKAMASA HIGUCHI; ONUR ALTINTAS (2020). "Cooperative Perception with Deep Reinforcement Learning for Connected Vehicles". In: 2020 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV). IEEE, pp. 328–334. DOI: 10.1109/IV47402.2020.9304570.
- ARIA, ERFAN; JOHAN OLSTAM; CHRISTOPH SCHWIETERING (2016). "Investigation of Automated Vehicle Effects on Driver Behavior and Traffic Performance". In: *Transportation*

*Research Procedia* 15, pp. 761-770. ISSN: 2352-1465. DOI: 10.1016/j.trpro.2016.06. 063. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.06.063.

- ASHTIANI, FARAZ; S ALIREZA FAYAZI; ARDALAN VAHIDI (2018). "Multi-Intersection Traffic Management for Autonomous Vehicles via Distributed Mixed Integer Linear Programming". In: 2018 Annual American Control Conference (ACC), pp. 6341–6346. DOI: 10.23919/ACC.2018.8431656.
- BARBIER, MATHIEU; CHRISTIAN LAUGIER; OLIVIER SIMONIN; JAVIER IBANEZ-GUZMAN (2017). "Classification of drivers manoeuvre for road intersection crossing with synthethic and real data". In: *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, Proceedings* Iv, pp. 224–230. DOI: 10.1109/IVS.2017.7995724.
- BAZILINSKYY, PAVLO; DIMITRA DODOU; YB EISMA; WV VLAKVELD; JCF DE WIN-TER (2022). "Blinded windows and empty driver seats: The effects of automated vehicle characteristics on cyclists' decision-making". In: *IET Intelligent Transportation Systems* April. DOI: 10.1049/itr2.12235. URL: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/342637884.
- BENGLER, KLAUS; MICHAEL RETTENMAIER; NICOLE FRITZ (2020). "From HMI to HMIs : Towards an HMI Framework for Automated Driving". In: *Information* 11.2. DOI: 10.3390/ info11020061. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2078-2489/11/2/61/htm.
- BENTERKI, ABDELMOUDJIB; MOUSSA BOUKHNIFER; VINCENT JUDALET; CHOUBEILA MAAOUI (2020). "Artificial intelligence for vehicle behavior anticipation: Hybrid approach based on maneuver classification and trajectory prediction". In: *IEEE Access* 8, pp. 56992– 57002. ISSN: 21693536. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2982170.
- BOGDOLL, DANIEL; MORITZ NEKOLLA; TIM JOSEPH; J. MARIUS ZÖLLNER (2022). "Quantification of Actual Road User Behavior on the Basis of Given Traffic Rules". In: 2022 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pp. 1093–1098. DOI: 10.1109/IV51971.2022. 9827082.
- BOURAOUI, LAURENT; STEPHANE PETTI; ANIS LAOUITI; THIERRY FRAICHARD; MICHEL PARENT (2006). "Cybercar Cooperation for Safe Intersections". In: *Proc. of the IEEE Int. Conf. on Intelligent Transportation Systems*.
- BROWN, MATTHEW; JOSEPH FUNKE; STEPHEN ERLIEN; J. CHRISTIAN GERDES (2017). "Safe driving envelopes for path tracking in autonomous vehicles". In: Control Engineering Practice 61, pp. 307–316. ISSN: 09670661. DOI: 10.1016/j.conengprac.2016.04.013. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.conengprac.2016.04.013.
- BRUDER, RAINER; HERMANN WINNER (2019). "Hands off, Human Factors off ? Welche Rolle spielen Human Factors in der Fahrzeugautomation ?" In: April.
- BRUZELIUS, FREDRIK; BRUNO AUGUSTO (2018). *CykelSim: Development and demonstration of an advanced bicycle simulator*. Tech. rep.
- BUNDESMINISTERIUM FÜR VERKEHR UND DIGITALE INFRASTRUKTUR (2013). "Straßenverkehrs-Ordnung (StVO)". In: pp. 1–72.
- CAI, BAIGEN; ZIRU ZHENG; WEI SHANGGUAN; JIAN WANG (2014). "Unsignalized cooperative optimization control method based on vehicle speed guidance and information interaction". In: 2014 17th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, ITSC 2014, pp. 57–62. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2014.6957666.

- CAMPBELL, MARK; MAGNUS EGERSTEDT; JONATHAN P. HOW; RICHARD M. MURRAY (2010). "Autonomous driving in urban environments: Approaches, lessons and challenges".
  In: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 368.1928, pp. 4649–4672. ISSN: 1364503X. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2010.0110.
- CHALOUPKA-RISSER, CHRISTINE; ELISABETH FÜSSL (2017). "The importance of communication between cyclists and other traffic participants and its potential in reducing traffic safety-critical events". In: *Transactions on Transport Sciences* 8.1, pp. 24–30. ISSN: 1802971X. DOI: 10.5507/tots.2017.004.
- CHEN, JINGXU; WEI WANG; ZHIBIN LI; HANG JIANG; XUEWU CHEN; SENLAI ZHU (2014). "Dispersion Effect in Left-turn Mixed Bicycle Traffic and Its Influence on Capacity of Left-turn Vehicles at Signalized Intersections". In: *Transportation Research Board, 93rd Annual Meeting.* Vol. 142. ISBN: 8613952097374. DOI: 10.3141/2468-05.
- CHEN, LEI; CRISTOFER ENGLUND (2016). "Cooperative Intersection Management: A Survey". In: *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems* 17.2, pp. 570–586. ISSN: 15249050. DOI: 10.1109/TITS.2015.2471812.
- CHEN, XIAOMING; CHUNFU SHAO; DA LI; CHUNJIAO DONG (2009). "Capacity reliability of signalized intersections with mixed traffic conditions". In: *Tsinghua Science and Technology* 14.3, pp. 333–340. DOI: 10.1016/S1007-0214(09)70049-5.
- COBB, DOUGLAS P; HISHAM JASHAMI; DAVID S HURWITZ (2021). "Bicyclists' behavioral and physiological responses to varying roadway conditions and bicycle infrastructure". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Psychology and Behaviour* 80, pp. 172–188. ISSN: 1369-8478. DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2021.04.004. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf. 2021.04.004.
- COLOMBO, ALESSANDRO; DOMITILLA DEL VECCHIO (2012). "Efficient algorithms for collision avoidance at intersections". In: Proceedings of the 15th ACM international conference on Hybrid Systems: Computation and Control - HSCC '12, p. 145. DOI: 10.1145/2185632. 2185656. URL: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=2185632.2185656.
- COMBALIA, MARC; FERRAN HUETO; SUSANA PUIG; JOSEP MALVEHY; VERONICA VI-LAPLANA (2020). "Uncertainty estimation in deep neural networks for dermoscopic image classification". In: *IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops* 2020-June, pp. 3211–3220. ISSN: 21607516. DOI: 10.1109/ CVPRW50498.2020.00380.
- DAMIANOU, ANDREAS C; NEIL D LAWRENCE (2013). "Deep Gaussian Processes". In: Proceedings of the Sixteenth International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics. Ed. by CARLOS M CARVALHO; PRADEEP RAVIKUMAR. Vol. 31. Proceedings of Machine Learning Research. Scottsdale, Arizona, USA: PMLR, pp. 207–215. URL: https: //proceedings.mlr.press/v31/damianou13a.html.
- DE BEAUCORPS, PIERRE; THOMAS STREUBEL; ANNE VERROUST-BLONDET; FAWZI NASHASHIBI; BENAZOUZ BRADAI; PAULO RESENDE (2017). "Decision-making for automated vehicles at intersections adapting human-like behavior". In: *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, Proceedings* Iv, pp. 212–217. DOI: 10.1109/IVS.2017.7995722.
- DENG, QIWEN; RENRAN TIAN; YAOBIN CHEN; KANG LI (2018). "Skeleton model based behavior recognition for pedestrians and cyclists from vehicle scene camera". In: 2018 IEEE

Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV) lv, pp. 1293-1298. DOI: 10.1109/IVS.2018.8500359. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8500359.

- DESHMUKH, VAISHALI M; RAJALAKSHMI B; GOPI BS KRISHNA; GOURAV RUDRAWAR (2022). "An Overview of Deep Learning Techniques for Autonomous Driving Vehicles". In: pp. 979-983. DOI: 10.1109/ICSSIT53264.2022.9716433. URL: https://ieeexplore. ieee.org/abstract/document/9716433.
- DIXIT, VINAYAK V; SAI CHAND; DIVYA J NAIR (2016). "Autonomous vehicles: disengagements, accidents and reaction times". In: *PLoS ONE* 11.12, pp. 1932-6203. ISSN: e0168054. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168054. URL: https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0168054.
- DO, WOOSEOK; OMID M ROUHANI; LUIS MIRANDA-MORENO (2019). "Simulation-based connected and automated vehicle models on highway sections: a literature review". In: *Journal of Advanced Transportation* 2019. ISSN: 0197-6729. DOI: 10.1155/2019/9343705. URL: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/jat/2019/9343705.
- DOSOVITSKIY, ALEXEY; GERMAN ROS; FELIPE CODEVILLA; ANTONIO LOPEZ; VLADLEN KOLTUN (13–15 Nov 2017). "CARLA: An Open Urban Driving Simulator". In: Proceedings of the 1st Annual Conference on Robot Learning. Ed. by SERGEY LEVINE; VINCENT VAN-HOUCKE; KEN GOLDBERG. Vol. 78. Proceedings of Machine Learning Research. PMLR, pp. 1–16. DOI: doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1711.03938. URL: https://proceedings. mlr.press/v78/dosovitskiy17a.html.
- DOTZAUER, MANDY; SASCHA KNAKE-LANGHORST; FRANK KÖSTER (2018). "Understanding Interactions Between Bicyclists and Motorists in Intersections". In: UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic. Springer, pp. 311–324. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_17. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_17.
- DOWLING, RICHARD; ALEXANDER SKABARDONIS; VASSILI ALEXIADIS (2004). Traffic analysis toolbox, volume III: Guidelines for applying traffic microsimulation modeling software. Tech. rep.
- DRESNER, K.; P. STONE (2004). "Multiagent traffic management: a reservation-based intersection control mechanism". In: *International Joint Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems*, pp. 530–537. DOI: 10.1109/AAMAS.2004.242421.
- DRESNER, KURT (2008). "Aim: Autonomous intersection management". In: Proceedings of the 7th international joint conference on Autonomous agents and multiagent systems: doctoral mentoring program. AAMAS '08. Estoril, Portugal: International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, pp. 1732–1733. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2019. 8917437. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/abs/10.5555/1402782.1402787.
- DRESNER, KURT; PETER STONE (2006). "Traffic Intersections of the Future". In: The Twenty-First National Conference on Artificial Intelligence, NECTAR Track (AAAI 06) January, pp. 1593–1596. ISSN: 10769757. DOI: 10.1613/jair.2502.
- DRESNER, KURT; PETER STONE (2007). "Sharing the road: Autonomous vehicles meet human drivers". In: *IJCAI International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, pp. 1263–1268. ISSN: 10450823. DOI: 10.1.1.65.6962.
- DRURY, C. G.; P. PIETRASZEWSKI (1979). "The motorists' perception of the bicyclists' hand signals". In: *Ergonomics* 22.9, pp. 1045–1057. ISSN: 13665847. DOI: 10.1080/00140137908924679.

- ELHENAWY, MOHAMMED; AHMED A. ELBERY; ABDALLAH A. HASSAN; HESHAM A. RAKHA (2015). "An Intersection Game-Theory-Based Traffic Control Algorithm in a Connected Vehicle Environment". In: *IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Proceedings, ITSC* 2015-Octob.September, pp. 343–347. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2015.65.
- ERDMANN, JAKOB (2015). "SUMO's Lane-changing model". In: 2nd SUMO User Conference. Ed. by MICHAEL BEHRISCH; MELANIE WEBER. Vol. 13. Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences. Springer Verlag, pp. 105–123. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-15024-6\_7. URL: https://elib.dlr.de/102254/.
- FANG, ZHIJIE; ANTONIO M. LOPEZ (2019). "Intention Recognition of Pedestrians and Cyclists by 2D Pose Estimation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, pp. 1–11. ISSN: 1524-9050. DOI: 10.1109/tits.2019.2946642. arXiv: 1910.03858.
- FAULKNER, LAURA (2003). "Beyond the five-user assumption: Benefits of increased sample sizes in usability testing". In: Behavior Research Methods, Instruments and Computers 35.3, pp. 379–383. ISSN: 1532-5970. DOI: 10.3758/BF03195514. URL: https://doi.org/10. 3758/BF03195514.
- FAYAZI, SEYED ALI REZA; ANDRE LUCKOW (2017). "Optimal Scheduling of Autonomous Vehicle Arrivals at Intelligent Intersections via MILP". In: DOI: 10.23919/ACC.2017. 7963717.
- FAYAZI, SEYED ALI REZA; ARDALAN VAHIDI (2018). "Mixed-Integer Linear Programming for Optimal Scheduling of Autonomous Vehicle". In: 3.3, pp. 287–299.
- FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION (2004). Signalized Intersections: Informational Guide. URL: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/04091/10.cfm.
- FERNANDES, PEDRO; STUDENT MEMBER; URBANO NUNES; SENIOR MEMBER (2010).
   "Platooning of Autonomous Vehicles with Intervehicle Communications in SUMO Traffic Simulator". In: 13th International IEEE Annual Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems. October. ISBN: 9781424476589. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2010.5625277.
- FORSCHUNGSGESELLSCHAFT FÜR STRASSEN- UND VERKEHRSWESEN (FGSV) (2015). Handbuch für die Bemessung von Straßenverkehrsanlagen (HBS). Köln: Forschungsgesellschaft für Straßen- und Verkehrswesen (Hrsg.) ISBN: 978-3-86446-103-3. URL: https: //www.fgsv-verlag.de/hbs.
- FUEST, TANJA; LENJA SOROKIN; HANNA BELLEM; KLAUS BENGLER (2017). "Taxonomy of traffic situations for the interaction between automated vehicles and human road users".
  In: Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation. Ed. by NEVILLE A STANTON. Springer, pp. 708–719. ISBN: 978-3-319-60441-1. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-60441-1\_68. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60441-1\_68.
- FURDA, ANDREI; LJUBO VLACIC (2011). "Enabling safe autonomous driving in real-world city traffic using Multiple Criteria decision making". In: *IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine* 3.1, pp. 4–17. ISSN: 1939-1390. DOI: 10.1109/MITS.2011.940472.
- GAL, YARIN; ZOUBIN GHAHRAMANI (20–22 Jun 2016). "Dropout as a bayesian approximation: Representing model uncertainty in deep learning". In: Proceedings of The 33rd International Conference on Machine Learning. Ed. by MARIA FLORINA BALCAN; KIL-IAN Q. WEINBERGER. Vol. 48. Proceedings of Machine Learning Research. New York, New York, USA: PMLR, pp. 1050–1059. URL: https://proceedings.mlr.press/v48/ gal16.html.

- GANDHI, TARAK; MOHAN MANUBHAI TRIVEDI (2007). "Pedestrian protection systems: Issues, survey, and challenges". In: *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems* 8.3, pp. 413–430. ISSN: 15249050. DOI: 10.1109/TITS.2007.903444.
- GASSER, TOM M; DANIEL WESTHOFF (2012). "BASt-study: Definitions of automation and legal issues in Germany". In: *Proceedings of the 2012 Road Vehicle Automation Workshop* July.
- GHOLAMHOSSEINIAN, ASHKAN; JOCHEN SEITZ (2022). "A Comprehensive Survey on Cooperative Intersection Management for Heterogeneous Connected Vehicles". In: *IEEE Access* 10, pp. 7937–7972. ISSN: 21693536. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3142450.
- GIPPS, P G (1986). "Multsim: a model for simulating vehicular traffic on multi-lane arterial roads". In: *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation* 28.4, pp. 291–295. ISSN: 0378-4754. DOI: 10.1016/0378-4754(86)90050-9. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0378475486900509.
- GIPPS, PETER G (1981). "A behavioural car-following model for computer simulation". In: Transportation Research Part B: Methodological 15.2, pp. 105–111. ISSN: 0191-2615. DOI: 10.1016/0191-2615(81)90037-0. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/abs/pii/0191261581900370.
- GIPPS, PETER G (1986). "A model for the structure of lane-changing decisions". In: Transportation Research Part B: Methodological 20.5, pp. 403-414. DOI: 10.1016/0191-2615(86)90012-3. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/ pii/0191261586900123.
- GOOGLE INC. (2016). Google Self-Driving Car Project Monthly Report. Tech. rep. URL: https://static.googleusercontent.com/media/www.google.com/en//selfdrivi ngcar/files/reports/report-0616.pdf.
- GORA, PAWEŁ; CHRISTOS KATRAKAZAS; ARKADIUSZ DRABICKI; FAQHRUL ISLAM; PI-OTR OSTASZEWSKI (2020). "Microscopic traffic simulation models for connected and automated vehicles (CAVs) – state-of-the-art". In: *Procedia Computer Science* 170, pp. 474– 481. ISSN: 1877-0509. DOI: 10.1016/j.procs.2020.03.091. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.procs.2020.03.091.
- GORDON, MICHAEL S; JAMES R KOZLOSKI; ASHISH KUNDU; PETER K MALKIN; CLIF-FORD A PICKOVER (Nov. 2016). Automated control of interactions between self-driving vehicles and pedestrians. Tech. rep.
- GRAVES, ALEX (2013). "Generating Sequences With Recurrent Neural Networks". In: DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.1308.0850. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1308.0850.
- GRÉGOIRE, JEAN; SILVÈRE BONNABEL; ARNAUD DE LA FORTELLE (2013). "Optimal cooperative motion planning for vehicles at intersections". In: DOI: 10.48550/arXiv. 1310.7729. URL: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1310.7729.
- GRIGOROPOULOS, G.; H. KATHS; F. BUSCH (2019). "Introducing the Effect of Bicyclist Stabilization Control in Microscopic Traffic Simulation". In: 2019 IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Conference, ITSC 2019. ISBN: 9781538670248. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC. 2019.8916880.
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; SEYED ABDOLLAH HOSSEINI; ANDREAS KELER; HEATHER KATHS; MATTHIAS SPANGLER; FRITZ BUSCH; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2021). "Traffic Simulation Analysis of Bicycle Highways in Urban Areas". In: *Sustainability* 13.3. ISSN:

2071-1050. DOI: 10.3390/su13031016. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/3/1016.

- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; HEATHER KATHS; MAREK JUNGHANS; AXEL LEON-HARDT; MICHAEL M. BAIER; FRITZ BUSCH (2020). "Emprical Study on Bicycle Traffic Flow at signalized Intersections". In: *TRB 100th Annual Meeting*. Washington D.C.
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; NIKITA KHABIBULIN; ANDREAS KELER; PATRICK MAL-COLM; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2021). "Detection and Classification of Bicyclist Group Behavior for Automated Vehicle Applications". In: 2021 IEEE International Intelligent Transportation Systems Conference (ITSC), pp. 1883–1889. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC48978.2021. 9564548.
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; AXEL LEONHARDT; HEATHER KATHS; MAREK JUNG-HANS; MICHAEL M. BAIER; FRITZ BUSCH (2022). "Traffic flow at signalized intersections with large volumes of bicycle traffic". In: *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 155, pp. 464–483. ISSN: 0965-8564. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra. 2021.11.021. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0965856421003086.
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; LEONHARD LÜCKEN; JAKOB ERDMANN; HEATHER KATHS (2019). "Modelling Bicycle Infrastructure in SUMO". In: SUMO 2019 Conference Proceedings 62.May, pp. 187–174. DOI: 10.29007/6cs5.
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; PATRICK MALCOLM; ANDREAS KELER; FRITZ BUSCH (2022). "Predicting Bicyclist Maneuvers using Explicit and Implicit Communication". In: 8th Road Safety and Simulation Conference. Athens, Greece: National Technical University of Athens Road Safety Observatory (NRSO).
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; PATRICK MALCOLM; ANDREAS KELER; HEATHER KATHS; FRITZ BUSCH; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2021). "Bicyclist Maneuver Type Prediction using Bidirectional Long Short-Term Memory Neural Networks". In: TRB 100th Annual Meeting. Washington DC, USA, (virtual, poster presentation only).
- GRIGOROPOULOS, GEORGIOS; HEATHER TWADDLE; M SPANGLER; MICHAEL HAGEN-BRING; MICHAEL DÜSTERWALD (2018). "Evaluierung der dynamischen Grünen Welle für Radfahrer-Sitraffic SiBike-in Marburg". In: *Straßenverkehrstechnik*, pp. 268–274. ISSN: 0039-2219.
- GUO, XIANG; AUSTIN ANGULO; ERIN ROBARTES; T DONNA CHEN; ARSALAN HEY-DARIAN (2022). "ORCLSim: A System Architecture for Studying Bicyclist and Pedestrian Physiological Behavior through Immersive Virtual Environments". In: *Journal of Advanced Transportation* 2022. Ed. by JAEYOUNG LEE, p. 2750369. ISSN: 0197-6729. DOI: 10. 1155/2022/2750369. URL: https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/2750369.
- GUO, YANMING; QUAN YU; YUNLONG ZHANG; JIAN RONG (2012). "Effect of Bicycles on the Saturation Flow Rate of Turning Vehicles at Signalized Intersections". In: *Journal of Transportation Engineering* 138.1, pp. 21–30. ISSN: 0733-947X. DOI: 10.1061/(ASCE)TE. 1943-5436.0000317.
- GUROBI OPTIMIZATION, LLC (2022). Gurobi Optimizer Reference Manual. URL: https://www.gurobi.com.
- HAIFENG, JIANG; WEN TAO; JIANG PENGPENG; HAN HUN (2013). "Research on cyclists microscopic behaviour models at signalized intersection". In: 16th International Conference

Road Safety on Four Continents. Beijing, China (RS4C 2013). 15-17 May 2013. Statens väg-och Transportforskningsinstitut. URL: http://vti.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:758364/FULLTEXT01.pdf.

- HANG, PENG; CHAO HUANG; ZHONGXU HU; YANG XING; CHEN LV (2021). "Decision Making of Connected Automated Vehicles at an Unsignalized Roundabout Considering Personalized Driving Behaviours". In: *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology* 70.5, pp. 4051–4064. ISSN: 19399359. DOI: 10.1109/TVT.2021.3072676. arXiv: 2103.07910.
- HEMEREN, PAUL E.; MIKAEL JOHANNESSON; MIKAEL LEBRAM; FREDRIK ERIKSSON; KRISTOFFER EKMAN; PETER VETO (2014). "The use of visual cues to determine the intent of cyclists in traffic". In: 2014 IEEE International Inter-Disciplinary Conference on Cognitive Methods in Situation Awareness and Decision Support, CogSIMA 2014, pp. 47– 51. DOI: 10.1109/CogSIMA.2014.6816539.
- HERN, STEVE O; JENNIE OXLEY; MARK STEVENSON (2017). "Validation of a bicycle simulator for road safety research". In: Accident Analysis and Prevention 100, pp. 53–58. ISSN: 0001-4575. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2017.01.002. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.aap.2017.01.002.
- HOCHREITER, SEPP; JÜRGEN SCHMIDHUBER (1997). "Long Short-Term Memory". In: *Neu*ral Computation 9.8, pp. 1735–1780. ISSN: 08997667. DOI: 10.1162/neco.1997.9.8. 1735.
- HOEL, CARL-JOHAN; KRISTER WOLFF; LEO LAINE (2020). "Tactical Decision-Making in Autonomous Driving by Reinforcement Learning with Uncertainty Estimation". In: pp. 1563– 1569. DOI: 10.1109/IV47402.2020.9304614. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ abstract/document/9304614.
- HOU, MING; KARTHIK MAHADEVAN; SOWMYA SOMANATH; EHUD SHARLIN; LORA OEHLBERG (2020). "Autonomous Vehicle-Cyclist Interaction: Peril and Promise". In: Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450367080. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376884.
- HUANG, LING; JIANPING WU (2009). "Cyclists' path planning behavioral model at unsignalized mixed traffic intersections in China". In: *IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine* 1.2, pp. 13–19. ISSN: 1939-1390. DOI: 10.1109/MITS.2009.933859.
- HUANG, ZHI; JUN WANG; LEI PI; XIAOLIN SONG; LINGFANG YANG (2021). "LSTM based trajectory prediction model for cyclist utilizing multiple interactions with environment". In: *Pattern Recognition* 112, p. 107800. ISSN: 00313203. DOI: 10.1016/j.patcog.2020. 107800. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patcog.2020.107800.
- HUBMANN, CONSTANTIN; JENS SCHULZ; MARVIN BECKER; DANIEL ALTHOFF; CHRISTOPH STILLER (2018). "Automated Driving in Uncertain Environments: Planning with Interaction and Uncertain Maneuver Prediction". In: *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles* 3.1, pp. 5–17. ISSN: 23798858. DOI: 10.1109/TIV.2017.2788208.
- HÜBNER, MAXIMILIAN; ALEXANDER FEIERLE; MICHAEL RETTENMAIER; KLAUS BEN-GLER (2022). "External communication of automated vehicles in mixed traffic: Addressing the right human interaction partner in multi-agent simulation". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 87, pp. 365–378. ISSN: 1369-8478. DOI: https:

//doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2022.04.017. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1369847822000857.

- HUEMER, ANJA KATHARINA; LUZIE MARIANNE ROSENBOOM; MELINA NAUJOKS; ELISE BANACH (2022). "Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives Testing cycling infrastructure layout in virtual environments : An examination from a bicycle rider 's perspective in simulation and online". In: *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives* 14.February, p. 100586. ISSN: 2590-1982. DOI: 10.1016/j.trip.2022.100586. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2022.100586.
- HUSSEIN, AHMED; PABLO MARÍN-PLAZA; FERNANDO GARCÍA; JOSÉ MARÍA ARMIN-GOL (2018). "Autonomous cooperative driving using V2X communications in off-road environment". In: *IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Proceedings, ITSC* 2018-March, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2017.8317790.
- INAGAKI, TOSHIYUKI (2006). "Design of human-machine interactions in light of domaindependence of human-centered automation". In: *Cognition, Technology and Work* 8.3, pp. 161–167. ISSN: 14355558. DOI: 10.1007/s10111-006-0034-z.
- INAGAKI, TOSHIYUKI; HIROSHI FURUKAWA (2004). "Computer simulation for the design of authority in the adaptive cruise control systems under possibility of driver's over-trust in automation". In: *Conference Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics* 4, pp. 3932–3937. ISSN: 1062922X. DOI: 10.1109/ICSMC.2004.1400959.
- JASHAMI, HISHAM; IVAN SINKUS; DOUGLAS COBB; YUJUN LIU; DAVID S HURWITZ (2022). "Evaluation of Cyclist Galvanic Skin Response and Visual Attention in Commercial Vehicle Loading Zones". In: Road Safety and Simulation Conference, pp. 1–5.
- JOISTEN, PHILIP; ZIYU LIU; NINA THEOBALD; ANDREAS WEBLER; BETTINA ABEN-DROTH (2021). "Communication of automated vehicles and pedestrian groups: An intercultural study on pedestrians' street crossing decisions". In: *Mensch und Computer 2021*, pp. 49–53.
- KASS, CHRISTINA; STEFANIE SCHOCH; FREDERIK NAUJOKS; SEBASTIAN HERGETH; ANDREAS KEINATH; ALEXANDRA NEUKUM (2020). "A methodological approach to determine the benefits of external HMI during interactions between cyclists and automated vehicles: a bicycle simulator study". In: *International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*. Springer, pp. 211–227.
- KATHS, HEATHER; ANDREAS KELER; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2021). "Calibrating the Wiedemann 99 Car-Following Model for Bicycle Traffic". In: Sustainability 13.6. ISSN: 2071-1050. DOI: 10.3390/su13063487. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/6/ 3487.
- KATHS, HEATHER; ANDREAS KELER; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS; SEYED ABDOLLAH; FRITZ BUSCH HOSSEINI (2021). "RASCH–RAdSCHnellwege: Gestaltung effizienter und sicherer Infrastruktur". In: *Radverkehrsinfrastruktur–Baustein der Verkehrswende*, p. 45.
- KATHS, HEATHER; ANDREAS KELER; JAKOB KATHS; FRITZ BUSCH (2019). "Analyzing the behavior of bicyclists using a bicycle simulator with a coupled SUMO and DYNA4 simulated environment". In: *SUMO User Conference 2019*. Vol. 62. EPiC Series in Computing. EasyChair, pp. 199–205. URL: 10.29007/dcmp.
- KATRAKAZAS, CHRISTOS; MOHAMMED QUDDUS; WEN-HUA CHEN; LIPIKA DEKA (2015). "Real-time motion planning methods for autonomous on-road driving : State-of-the-art and

future research directions". In: *Transportation Research Part C* 60, pp. 416–442. ISSN: 0968-090X. DOI: 10.1016/j.trc.2015.09.011. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2015.09.011.

- KELER, A.; P. MALCOLM; G. GRIGOROPOULOS; N. GRABBE (2020). "Extraction and analysis of massive skeletal information from video data of crowded urban locations for understanding implicit gestures of road users". In: *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium*, *Proceedings*. DOI: 10.1109/IV47402.2020.9304665.
- KELER, ANDREAS; JAKOB KATHS; FREDERIC CHUCHOLOWSKI; MAXIMILIAN CHU-CHOLOWSKI; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS; MATTHIAS SPANGLER; HEATHER KATHS; FRITZ BUSCH (2018). "A bicycle simulator for experiencing microscopic traffic flow simulation in urban environments". In: *IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Proceedings, ITSC* 2018-Novem.November, pp. 3020–3023. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2018. 8569576.
- KELER, ANDREAS; PATRICK MALCOLM; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS; SEYED ABDOL-LAH HOSSEINI; HEATHER KATHS; FRITZ BUSCH; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2021). "Datadriven scenario specification for AV–VRU interactions at urban roundabouts". In: Sustainability (Switzerland) 13.15. ISSN: 20711050. DOI: 10.3390/su13158281.
- KHAIRDOOST, NIMA; MOHSEN SHIRPOUR; MICHAEL A BAUER; STEVEN S BEAU-CHEMIN (2020). "Real-Time Driver Maneuver Prediction Using LSTM". In: *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles*. DOI: 10.1109/TIV.2020.3003889.
- KLISCHAT, MORITZ; OCTAV DRAGOI; MOSTAFA EISSA; MATTHIAS ALTHOFF (2019). "Coupling Sumo with a Motion Planning Framework for Automated Vehicles". In: SUMO User Conference, pp. 1–9. DOI: 10.29007/1p2d. URL: https://easychair.org/ publications/paper/tN14.
- KRAUSS, STEFAN; PETER WAGNER; CHRISTIAN GAWRON (1997). "Metastable states in a microscopic model of traffic flow". In: *Physical Review E* 55.5, p. 5597. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevE.55.5597. URL: https://journals.aps.org/pre/abstract/10.1103/ PhysRevE.55.5597.
- KRETZSCHMAR, HENRIK; JIAJUN ZHU (Apr. 2015). Cyclist hand signal detection by an autonomous vehicle.
- KRUSE, THIBAULT; ALEXANDRA KIRSCH; E. AKIN SISBOTY; RACHID ALAMIY (2010).
   "Exploiting human cooperation in human-centered robot navigation". In: Proceedings -IEEE International Workshop on Robot and Human Interactive Communication, pp. 192– 197. DOI: 10.1109/ROMAN.2010.5598645.
- KULLER, ERICH CHRISTIAN; DIETER GERSEMANN; GUNTER RUWENSTROTH (1986).
   "Regelabweichendes Verhalten von Fahrradfahrern". In: Forschungsberichte Der Bundesanstalt Für Straßenwesen, Bereich Unfallforschung 142. ISSN: 0173-7066.
- KWAK, SANG GYU; JONG HAE KIM (2017). "Central limit theorem: the cornerstone of modern statistics". In: Korean journal of anesthesiology 70.2, pp. 144–156. DOI: 10.4097/ kjae.2017.70.2.144. URL: https://synapse.koreamed.org/articles/1156667.
- KWIGIZILE, VALERIAN; JUN-SEOK OH; PAVEL IKONOMOV; RAED HASAN; COLE G VIL-LALOBOS; AOUS HAMMAD KURDI; ANIL SHAW (2017). "Real Time Bicycle Simulation Study of Bicyclists' Behaviors and their Implication on Safety FINAL REPORT". In: URL: https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/34885.

- KWON, DONG-SOO; GI-HUN YANG; CHONG-WON LEE; JAE-CHEOL SHIN; YOUNGJIN PARK; BYUNGBO JUNG; DOO YONG LEE; KYUNGNO LEE; SOON-HUNG HAN; BYOUNG-HYUN YOO (2001). "KAIST interactive bicycle simulator". In: *Proceedings 2001 ICRA*. *IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*. Vol. 3. IEEE, pp. 2313–2318. ISBN: 0780365763. DOI: 10.1109/ROBOT.2001.932967. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/932967.
- LEE, JOYOUNG; BYUNGKYU PARK (2012). "Vehicle Intersection Control Algorithm Under the Connected Vehicles Environment". In: 13.1, pp. 81–90. DOI: 10.1109/TITS.2011. 2178836. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/6121907.
- LEE, YEE MUN; ELIZABETH SHEPPARD (2016). "The effect of motion and signalling on drivers' ability to predict intentions of other road users". In: *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 95, pp. 202–208. ISSN: 00014575. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2016.07.011.
- LEVINSON, JESSE; JAKE ASKELAND; JAN BECKER; JENNIFER DOLSON; DAVID HELD; SOEREN KAMMEL; J. ZICO KOLTER; DIRK LANGER; OLIVER PINK; VAUGHAN PRATT; MICHAEL SOKOLSKY; GANYMED STANEK; DAVID STAVENS; ALEX TEICHMAN; MORITZ WERLING; SEBASTIAN THRUN (2011). "Towards fully autonomous driving: Systems and algorithms". In: *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, Proceedings*, pp. 163–168. ISSN: 1931-0587. DOI: 10.1109/IVS.2011.5940562. arXiv: 1702.06827.
- LICHTENTHÄLER, CHRISTINA; ALEXANDRA KIRSCH (2016). "Legibility of Robot Behavior : A Literature Review". In: *HAL Archives* hal-01306977. URL: https://hal.archivesouvertes.fr/hal-01306977.
- LINDNER, JOHANNES; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS; ANDREAS KELER; PATRICK MAL-COLM; FLORIAN DENK; PASCAL BRUNNER; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2022). "A mobile application for resolving bicyclist and automated vehicle interactions at intersections". In: 2022 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pp. 785–791. DOI: 10.1109/IV51971. 2022.9827439.
- LINDNER, JOHANNES; ANDREAS KELER; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS; PATRICK MAL-COLM; FLORIAN DENK; PASCAL BRUNNER; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2022). "A coupled driving simulator to investigate the interaction between bicycles and automated vehicles". In: *Preprint: Accepted for Presentation at the 25th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (IEEE ITSC 2022)*. July. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.16722.84169.
- LITMAN, TODD (2014). "Autonomous Vehicle Implementation Predictions: Implications for Transport Planning". In: Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting 2014, pp. 36–42. ISSN: 10769757. DOI: 10.1613/jair.301. arXiv: 9605103 [cs].
- LOPEZ, PABLO ALVAREZ; MICHAEL BEHRISCH; LAURA BIEKER-WALZ; JAKOB ERD-MANN; YUN-PANG FL; ROBERT HILBRICH; L LEONHARD; JOHANNES RUMMEL; PE-TER WAGNER; EVAMARIE WIESSNER (2018). "Microscopic Traffic Simulation using SUMO".
  In: 2018 21st International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). Maui, Hawaii, USA: IEEE, pp. 2575–2582. ISBN: 9781728103235. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2018.8569938.
- LOSING, VIKTOR; BARBARA HAMMER; HEIKO WERSING (2017). "Personalized Maneuver Prediction at Intersections". In: 2017 IEEE 20th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). Vol. 1. 1. IEEE, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2017. 8317760.

- LU, QIONG; TAMÁS TETTAMANTI; DÁNIEL HÖRCHER; ISTVÁN VARGA; QIONG LU (2020). "The impact of autonomous vehicles on urban traffic network capacity : an experimental analysis by microscopic traffic simulation". In: *Transportation Letters* 12.8, pp. 540–549. ISSN: 1942-7867. DOI: 10.1080/19427867.2019.1662561. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/19427867.2019.1662561.
- MAHMASSANI, HANI S. (2016). "Autonomous Vehicles and Connected Vehicle Systems: Flow and Operations Considerations". In: *Transportation Science* 50.4, pp. 1140–1162. ISSN: 15265447. DOI: 10.1287/trsc.2016.0712.
- MAKAREM, LALEH; DENIS GILLET (2012). "Fluent coordination of autonomous vehicles at intersections". In: Conference Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics, pp. 2557–2562. ISSN: 1062922X. DOI: 10.1109/ICSMC.2012.6378130.
- MAKRIDIS, MICHAIL; KONSTANTINOS MATTAS; BIAGIO CIUFFO; MARÍA ALONSO RA-POSO; CHRISTIAN THIEL (2018). "Assessing the Impact of Connected and Automated Vehicles. A Freeway Scenario". In: *Advanced Microsystems for Automotive Applications* 2017. Ed. by CAROLIN ZACHÄUS; BEATE MÜLLER; GEREON MEYER. Springer International Publishing, pp. 213–225. ISBN: 978-3-319-66972-4. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-66972-4\_18.
- MALCOLM, PATRICK; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS; ANDREAS KELER; HEATHER KATHS; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2021). "Analysis of Bicyclist Communication in a Simulator Environment". In: January, 14p. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.2.23631.30882. URL: https: //annualmeeting.mytrb.org/OnlineProgram/Details/15711%0Ahttps://trid. trb.org/view/1759826.
- MARTINEZ, GARCIA DONAJI (2021). "Construction, parameterization and evaluation of a bicycle simulator for a realistic and interactive simulation environment". PhD thesis. Technical University of Braunschweig.
- MAVROGIANNIS, CHRISTOFOROS; JONATHAN A. DECASTRO; SIDDHARTHA S. SRINI-VASA (2020). "Implicit Multiagent Coordination at Unsignalized Intersections via Multimodal Inference Enabled by Topological Braids". In: pp. 1–16. arXiv: 2004.05205. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/2004.05205.
- MEIJER, RISKE; STEFANIE DE HAIR; JOS ELFRING; JAN PIETER PAARDEKOOPER (2017). "Predicting the intention of cyclists". In: 6th Annual International Cycling Safety Conference, 21-22 September 2017, Davis, California.
- MELE, BARBARA; GUIDO ALTARELLI (1993). "Dropout: A Simple Way to Prevent Neural Networks from Overfitting". In: *Journal of Machine Learning Research* 299.3-4, pp. 345– 350. ISSN: 03702693. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(93)90272-J.
- MERAT, NATASHA; TYRON LOUW; RUTH MADIGAN; MARC WILBRINK; ANNA SCHIEBEN (2018). "What externally presented information do VRUs require when interacting with fully Automated Road Transport Systems in shared space?" In: Accident Analysis and Prevention 118.April, pp. 244–252. ISSN: 00014575. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2018.03.018. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2018.03.018.
- MICHON, JOHN A. (1985). "A critical view of driver behavior models: what do we know, what should we do?" In: *Human behavior and traffic safety*, pp. 485–520. DOI: 10.1007/978–1-4613-2173-6.
- MILANÉS, VICENTE; STEVEN E SHLADOVER (2014). "Modeling cooperative and autonomous adaptive cruise control dynamic responses using experimental data". In: *Transportation Re*search Part C: Emerging Technologies 48, pp. 285–300. ISSN: 0968-090X. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2014.09.001. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0968090X14002447.
- MIRHELI, AMIR; LEILA HAJIBABAI; ALI HAJBABAIE (2018). "Development of a signal-head-free intersection control logic in a fully connected and autonomous vehicle environment". In: *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies* 92.March, pp. 412–425. ISSN: 0968090X. DOI: 10.1016/j.trc.2018.04.026. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2018.04.026.
- MÜLLER, EDUARDO RAUH; RODRIGO CASTELAN CARLSON; WERNER KRAUS JUNIOR (2016). "Intersection control for automated vehicles with MILP". In: *IFAC-PapersOnLine* 49.3, pp. 37-42. ISSN: 24058963. DOI: 10.1016/j.ifacol.2016.07.007. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2016.07.007.
- NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL (2016). *Highway Capacity Manual*. Washington DC: Transportation Research Board.
- NAZEMI, M; M A B VAN EGGERMOND; A ERATH; D SCHAFFNER; M JOOS; KAY W AXHAUSEN (2021). "Studying bicyclists' perceived level of safety using a bicycle simulator combined with immersive virtual reality". In: Accident Analysis and Prevention 151.December 2019, p. 105943. ISSN: 0001-4575. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2020.105943. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2020.105943.
- NÉMETH, BALÁZS; PÉTER GÁSPÁR (2021). "The design of performance guaranteed autonomous vehicle control for optimal motion in unsignalized intersections". In: *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)* 11.8. ISSN: 20763417. DOI: 10.3390/app11083464.
- NHTSA (2013). "National Highway Traffic Safety Administration Preliminary Statement of Policy Concerning Automated Vehicles". In: *National Highway Traffic Safety Administration*, p. 14.
- NIELS, TANJA; KLAUS BOGENBERGER; NIKOLA MITROVIC; ALEKSANDAR STEVANOVIC (2020). "Integrated Intersection Management for Connected, Automated Vehicles, and Bicyclists". In: 2020 IEEE 23rd International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pp. 1–8. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC45102.2020.9294600.
- NIELS, TANJA; NIKOLA MITROVIC; KLAUS BOGENBERGER; ALEKSANDAR STEVANOVIC; ROBERT L BERTINI (2019). "Smart Intersection Management for Connected and Automated Vehicles and Pedestrians". In: 2019 6th International Conference on Models and Technologies for Intelligent Transportation Systems (MT-ITS), pp. 1–10. DOI: 10.1109/ MTITS.2019.8883362.
- NIELS, TANJA; NIKOLA MITROVIC; NEMANJA DOBROTA; KLAUS BOGENBERGER; ALEK-SANDAR STEVANOVIC; ROBERT BERTINI (2020). "Simulation-Based Evaluation of a New Integrated Intersection Control Scheme for Connected Automated Vehicles and Pedestrians". In: 2674.11, pp. 779–793. DOI: 10.1177/0361198120949531.
- NIELSEN, JAKOB; THOMAS K LANDAUER (1993). "A mathematical model of the finding of usability problems". In: *Proceedings of the INTERACT'93 and CHI'93 conference on Human factors in computing systems*, pp. 206–213.

- OLAH, CHRISTOPHER (2015). Understanding LSTM Networks. URL: http://colah.gith ub.io/posts/2015-08-Understanding-LSTMs/.
- OLSTAM, JOHAN; FREDRIK JOHANSSON; ADRIANO ALESSANDRINI; PETER SUKENNIK; JOCHEN LOHMILLER; MARKUS FRIEDRICH (2020). "An Approach for Handling Uncertainties Related to Behaviour and Vehicle Mixes in Traffic Simulation Experiments with Automated Vehicles". In: Journal of Advanced Transportation 2020. ISSN: 20423195. DOI: 10.1155/2020/8850591.
- OPIELA, KENNETH S; SNEHAMAY KHASNABIS; TAPAN K DATTA (1980). "Determination of the characteristics of bicycle traffic at urban intersections". In: *Transportation Research Record* 743, pp. 30–38. ISSN: 0361-1981. URL: http://onlinepubs.trb.org/Onlinepu bs/trr/1980/743/743-005.pdf.
- PAPAKOSTOPOULOS, VASSILIS; DIMITRIS NATHANAEL; EVANGELIA PORTOULI; ANGE-LOS AMDITIS (2021). "Effect of external HMI for automated vehicles (AVs) on drivers' ability to infer the AV motion intention: A field experiment". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 82.November 2020, pp. 32–42. ISSN: 13698478. DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2021.07.009. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2021.07.009.
- PAPANDREOU, GEORGE; TYLER ZHU; NORI KANAZAWA; ALEXANDER TOSHEV; JONATHAN TOMPSON; CHRIS BREGLER; KEVIN MURPHY (2017). "Towards accurate multi-person pose estimation in the wild". In: *Proceedings 30th IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2017* 2017-Janua, pp. 3711–3719. DOI: 10.1109/CVPR. 2017.395.
- PENDLETON, SCOTT DREW; HANS ANDERSEN; XINXIN DU; XIAOTONG SHEN; MALIKA MEGHJANI; YOU HONG ENG; DANIELA RUS; MARCELO H. ANG (2017). "Perception, planning, control, and coordination for autonomous vehicles". In: *Machines* 5.1, pp. 1–54. ISSN: 20751702. DOI: 10.3390/machines5010006.
- PERDOMO LOPEZ, DAVID; RENE WALDMANN; CHRISTIAN JOERDENS; RAÚL ROJAS (2017). "Scenario Interpretation based on Primary Situations for Automatic Turning at Urban Intersections". In: Vehits, pp. 15–23. DOI: 10.5220/0006150300150023.
- PETZOLDT, T.; K. SCHLEINITZ; J. F. KREMS; T. GEHLERT (2017). "Driver's gap acceptance in front of approaching bicycles - Effects of bicycle speed and bicycle type". In: *Safety Science* 92.0, pp. 283–289. ISSN: 18791042. DOI: 10.1016/j.ssci.2015.07.021.
- POOL, EWOUD A.I.; JULIAN F.P. KOOIJ; DARIU M. GAVRILA (2019). "Context-based cyclist path prediction using Recurrent Neural Networks". In: *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, Proceedings*. Vol. 2019-June. Iv. IEEE, pp. 824–830. ISBN: 9781728105604. DOI: 10.1109/IVS.2019.8813889.
- PORTOULI, EVANGELIA; DIMITRIS NATHANAEL; NICOLAS MARMARAS (2014). "Drivers' communicative interactions: on-road observations and modelling for integration in future automation systems". In: *Ergonomics* 57.12, pp. 1795–1805. ISSN: 13665847. DOI: 10. 1080/00140139.2014.952349.
- PTV AG (2016). PTV Vissim 9. Karlsruhe: PTV, AG.
- PYRIALAKOU, V. DIMITRA; CHRISTOS GKARTZONIKAS; J. DREW GATLIN; KONSTANTINA GKRITZA (2020). "Perceptions of safety on a shared road: Driving, cycling, or walking near an autonomous vehicle". In: *Journal of Safety Research* 72. January, pp. 249–258. ISSN:

00224375. DOI: 10.1016/j.jsr.2019.12.017. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2019.12.017.

- QIAN, XIANGJUN; FLORENT ALTCHÉ; JEAN GRÉGOIRE; ARNAUD DE LA FORTELLE (2017). "Autonomous Intersection Management systems: criteria, implementation and evaluation". In: *IET Intelligent Transport Systems* 11.3, pp. 182–189. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1049/iet-its.2016.0043. URL: https://ietresearch.onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1049/iet-its.2016.0043.
- RETTENMAIER, MICHAEL; KLAUS BENGLER (2021). "The Matter of How and When : Comparing Explicit and Implicit Communication Strategies of Automated Vehicles in Bottleneck Scenarios". In: *IEEE Open Journal of Intelligent Transportation Systems* 2.July, pp. 282–293. DOI: 10.1109/0JITS.2021.3107678.
- RETTENMAIER, MICHAEL; SABRINA DINKEL; KLAUS BENGLER (2021). "Communication via motion Suitability of automated vehicle movements to negotiate the right of way in road bottleneck scenarios". In: *Applied Ergonomics* 95.August 2020, p. 103438. ISSN: 0003-6870. DOI: 10.1016/j.apergo.2021.103438. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2021.103438.
- ON-ROAD AUTOMATED DRIVING COMMITTEE (ORAD) (Apr. 2021). SAE On-Road Automated Vehicle Standards: Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to Driving Automation Systems for On-Road Motor Vehicles. (Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) International. DOI: 10.4271/J3016\_202104. URL: https://doi.org/10.4271/J3016\_ 202104.
- ROBERT, LIONEL PETER (2021). "Contextualizing Human—Automated Vehicle Interactions: A Socio-Ecological Framework". In: *Robotics* 10.3. ISSN: 2218-6581. DOI: 10.3390/robo tics10030092. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2218-6581/10/3/92.
- ROSENBLATT, MURRAY (1956). "A central limit theorem and a strong mixing condition". In: Proceedings of the national Academy of Sciences 42.1, pp. 43-47. ISSN: 0027-8424. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.42.1.43. URL: https://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.42. 1.43.
- SAAD, MOATZ; MOHAMED ABDEL-ATY; JAEYOUNG LEE; QING CAI (2019). "Bicycle Safety Analysis at Intersections from Crowdsourced Data". In: *Transportation Research Record* 2673.4, pp. 1–14. ISSN: 21694052. DOI: 10.1177/0361198119836764.
- SALEH, KHALED; MOHAMMED HOSSNY; SAEID NAHAVANDI (2017). "Towards trusted autonomous vehicles from vulnerable road users perspective". In: 11th Annual IEEE International Systems Conference, SysCon 2017 - Proceedings, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/SYSCON. 2017.7934782.
- SALEH, KHALED; MOHAMMED HOSSNY; SAEID NAHAVANDI (2018). "Intent prediction of vulnerable road users from motion trajectories using stacked LSTM network". In: *IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Proceedings, ITSC* 2018-March, pp. 327– 332. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2017.8317941.
- SANDT, LAURA; JUSTIN M OWENS; PEDESTRIAN CENTER; BICYCLE INFORMATION; FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION; NATIONAL HIGHWAY TRAFFIC SAFETY AD-MINISTRATION (2017). "Discussion Guide for Automated and Connected Vehicles, Pedestrians, and Bicyclists". In: 26p. URL: http://www.pedbikeinfo.org/pdf/PBIC%7B%5C\_ %7DAV.pdf%7B%5C%%7D0Ahttps://trid.trb.org/view/1483163.

- SANTA, JOSÉ; PEDRO J. FERNÁNDEZ; MIGUEL A. ZAMORA (2017). "Cooperative ITS for two-wheel vehicles to improve safety on roads". In: *IEEE Vehicular Networking Conference*, *VNC*, pp. 1–4. ISSN: 21579865. DOI: 10.1109/VNC.2016.7835969.
- SCHLEINITZ, K; T PETZOLDT; L FRANKE-BARTHOLDT; J KREMS; T GEHLERT (2017). "The German Naturalistic Cycling Study–Comparing cycling speed of riders of different ebikes and conventional bicycles". In: Safety Science 92, pp. 290–297. ISSN: 0925-7535. DOI: 10.1016/j.ssci.2015.07.027.
- SCHNEEGANS, JAN; MAARTEN BIESHAAR (2018). "Smart Device based Initial Movement Detection of Cyclists using Convolutional Neuronal Networks". In: August. arXiv: 1808. 04451. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/1808.04451.
- SCHÖNAUER, ROBERT; MARTIN STUBENSCHROTT; WEINAN HUANG; CHRISTIAN RUDLOFF; MARTIN FELLENDORF (2012). "Modeling concepts for mixed traffic: Steps toward a microscopic simulation tool for shared space zones". In: *Transportation research record* 2316.1, pp. 114–121. ISSN: 0361-1981. DOI: 10.3141/2316–13.
- SCHRAMKA, FILIP; STEFAN ARISONA; MICHAEL JOOS; ALEXANDER ERATH (2017). "Development of virtual reality cycling simulator". In: Arbeitsberichte Verkehrs-und Raumplanung 1244. DOI: 10.3929/ethz-b-000129869.
- SCHUSTER, MIKE; KULDIP K. PALIWAL (1997). "Bidirectional recurrent neural networks". In: IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing 45.11, pp. 2673–2681. ISSN: 1053587X. DOI: 10.1109/78.650093.
- SCHWEIZER, FRIEDRICH; FYNN TERHAR; KLAUS BOGENBERGER (2019). "A Novel Method to Construct Lane Accurate Crossroad Maps by Mining Series Sensors of Large Vehicle Fleets". In: 2019 IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Conference, ITSC 2019, pp. 4093– 4100. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2019.8917437.
- SCOTT-DEETER, LOGAN; DAVID HURWITZ; BRENDAN RUSSO; EDWARD SMAGLIK (2022). "Assessing the Impact of Three Intersection Treatments on Bicyclist Safety Using a Bicycling Simulator". In: Road Safety and Simulation Conference 541, pp. 8–11. URL: https://www. nrso.ntua.gr/rss2022/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/RSS2022\_Presentation\_ 219.pdf.
- SEMRAU, MARC; JAKOB ERDMANN (2016). "Simulation framework for testing ADAS in Chinese traffic situations". In: SUMO 2016–Traffic, Mobility, and Logistics 30, pp. 103– 115. ISSN: 1866-721X. URL: https://elib.dlr.de/104432/.
- SHADMAN ROODPOSHTI, MAJID; JAGANNATH ARYAL; ARKO LUCIEER; BRETT A BRYAN (2019). "Uncertainty assessment of hyperspectral image classification: Deep learning vs. random forest". In: *Entropy* 21.1, p. 78. DOI: doi.org/10.3390/e21010078.
- SILVANO, ARY P.; HARIS N. KOUTSOPOULOS; XIAOLIANG MA (2016). "Analysis of vehicle-bicycle interactions at unsignalized crossings: A probabilistic approach and application". In: Accident Analysis and Prevention 97, pp. 38–48. ISSN: 00014575. DOI: 10. 1016/j.aap.2016.08.016. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2016.08.016.
- SONG, YE EUN; CHRISTIAN LEHSING; TANJA FUEST; KLAUS BENGLER (2018). "External HMIs and Their Effect on the Interaction Between Pedestrians and Automated Vehicles BT Intelligent Human Systems Integration". In: ed. by WALDEMAR KARWOWSKI; TAREQ AHRAM. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 13–18. ISBN: 978-3-319-73888-8.

- SPARMANN, UDO (1978). "Spurwechselvorgänge auf zweispurigen BAB Richtungsfahrbahnen". German. In: Forschung Strassenbau und Strassenverkehrstechnik : Forschungsberichte aus dem Forschungsprogramm des Bundesministers für Verkehr und der Forschungsgesellschaft für das Strassenwesen e.V.
- STANCIU, SERGIU C.; DAVID W. EBY; LISA J. MOLNAR; RENÉE M. ST. LOUIS; NICOLE ZANIER; LIDIA P. KOSTYNIUK (2018). "Pedestrians/Bicyclists and Autonomous Vehicles: How Will They Communicate?" In: *Transportation Research Record*. ISSN: 21694052. DOI: 10.1177/0361198118777091.
- SUN, CARLOS; ZHU QING (2018). "Design and Construction of a Virtual Bicycle Simulator for Evaluating Sustainable Facilities Design". In: Advances in Civil Engineering 2018, p. 10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5735820.
- TAN, YANKE (2017). "BikeGesture : User Elicitation and Performance of Micro Hand Gesture as Input for Cycling". In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI EA '17. Denver, Colorado, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, pp. 2147–2154. ISBN: 9781450346566. DOI: 10.1145/3027063. 3053075.
- TETTAMANTI, TAMÁS; MÁTYÁS SZALAI; SÁNDOR VASS; VIKTOR TIHANYI (2018). "Vehicle-In-the-Loop Test Environment for Autonomous Driving with Microscopic Traffic Simulation". In: 2018 IEEE International Conference on Vehicular Electronics and Safety (ICVES), pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ICVES.2018.8519486.
- THORSLUND, BIRGITTA; ANDERS LINDSTRÖM (2020). "Cyclist strategies and behaviour at intersections. Conscious and un-conscious strategies regarding positioning". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Psychology and Behaviour* 70, pp. 149–162. ISSN: 1369-8478. DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2020.02.013. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2020.02.013.
- TREIBER, MARTIN; DIRK HELBING (2002). "Realistische Mikrosimulation von Strassenverkehr mit einem einfachen Modell". In: *16th Symposium Simulationstechnik ASIM*. Vol. 2002, p. 80.
- TWADDLE, HEATHER; FRITZ BUSCH (2019). "Binomial and multinomial regression models for predicting the tactical choices of bicyclists at signalised intersections". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 60, pp. 47–57. ISSN: 13698478. DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2018.10.002. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2018.10.002.
- TWADDLE, HEATHER; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS (2016). "Modeling the speed, acceleration and deceleration of bicyclists for microscopic traffic simulation". In: *Transportation Research Record (TRR), Journal of the Transportation Research Board*. DOI: 10.3141/2587– 02.
- TWADDLE, HEATHER; TOBIAS SCHENDZIELORZ; OLIVER FAKLER (2014). "Bicycles in Urban Areas: Review of Existing Methods for Modeling Behavior". In: *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2434, pp 140–146. ISSN: 9780309295222. DOI: 10.3141/2434-17.
- UTTLEY, J.; Y. M. LEE; R. MADIGAN; N. MERAT (2020). "Road user interactions in a shared space setting: Priority and communication in a UK car park". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 72, pp. 32–46. ISSN: 13698478. DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2020.05.004. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2020.05.004.

- VAROQUAUX, G.; L. BUITINCK; G. LOUPPE; O. GRISEL; F. PEDREGOSA; A. MUELLER (2015). "Scikit-learn". In: *GetMobile: Mobile Computing and Communications* 19.1, pp. 29– 33. ISSN: 2375-0529. DOI: 10.1145/2786984.2786995.
- VASARDANI, MARIA; STEPHAN WINTER; SURABHI GUPTA (2016). "Conventionalized gestures for the interaction of people in traffic with autonomous vehicles". In: *Proceedings of the* 9th ACM SIGSPATIAL International Workshop on Computational Transportation Science, pp. 55–60. ISBN: 9781450345774. DOI: 10.1145/3003965.3003967.
- VIKTOR KRESS; JANIS JUNG; STEFAN ZERNETSCH; KONRAD DOLL; BERNHARD SICK (2019). "Start Intention Detection of Cyclists using an LSTM Network". In: *Informatik 2019, Lecture Notes in Informatics (LNI)* September, pp. 571–584. DOI: 10.18420/inf2019.
- VINKHUYZEN, ERIK; MELISSA CEFKIN (2016). "Developing Socially Acceptable Autonomous Vehicles". In: *Ethnographic Praxis in Industry Conference Proceedings* 2016.1, pp. 522–534. DOI: 10.1111/1559-8918.2016.01108.
- WALKER, IAN (2005). "Signals are informative but slow down responses when drivers meet bicyclists at road junctions". In: Accident Analysis and Prevention 37.6, pp. 1074–1085. ISSN: 00014575. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2005.06.005.
- WALKER, IAN; MARK BROSNAN (2007). "Drivers' gaze fixations during judgements about a bicyclist's intentions". In: *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 10.2, pp. 90–98. ISSN: 13698478. DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2006.06.001.
- WANG, WEI JEN (2020). "Decision and Behavior Planning for a Self-driving Vehicle at Unsignalized Intersections". In: 2020 International Automatic Control Conference, CACS 2020. DOI: 10.1109/CACS50047.2020.9289738.
- WEGENER, AXEL; MICHAŁ PIÓRKOWSKI; MAXIM RAYA; HORST HELLBRÜCK; STEFAN FISCHER; JEAN-PIERRE HUBAUX (2008). "TraCl: An Interface for Coupling Road Traffic and Network Simulators". In: Proceedings of the 11th Communications and Networking Simulation Symposium. CNS 08. Ottawa, Canada: Association for Computing Machinery, pp. 155–163. ISBN: 1565553187. DOI: 10.1145/1400713.1400740. URL: https://doi. org/10.1145/1400713.1400740.
- WESTERHUIS, FRANK; DICK DE WAARD (2017). "Reading cyclist intentions: Can a lead cyclist's behaviour be predicted?" In: Accident Analysis and Prevention 105, pp. 146–155. ISSN: 00014575. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2016.06.026. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.aap.2016.06.026.
- WEYLAND, CLAUDE MARIE; MARVIN V. BAUMANN; H. SEBASTIAN BUCK; PETER VORTISCH (2021). "Parameters influencing lane flow distribution on multilane freeways in PTV Vissim". In: Procedia Computer Science 184.2019, pp. 453–460. ISSN: 18770509. DOI: 10.1016/j.procs.2021.03.057. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2021. 03.057.
- WIEDEMANN, R. (1974). "Simulation des Straßenverkehrsflusses". In: *Schriftenreihe des Institutes für Verkehrsweses* 8.Universität Karlsruhe.
- WILBRINK, MARC; ANNA SCHIEBEN; MARC KAUP; JAN-HENNING WILLRODT; FLO-RIAN WEBER; YEE MUN LEE (2018). Designing cooperative interaction of automated vehicles with other road users in mixed traffic environments interACT. Tech. rep. 723395, pp. 0–51.

- WINTER, JOOST DE; DIMITRA DODOU (2022). "External human machine interfaces : Gimmick or necessity ?" In: Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives 15.February, p. 100643. ISSN: 2590-1982. DOI: 10.1016/j.trip.2022.100643. URL: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2022.100643.
- WU, CATHY; ABDUL RAHMAN KREIDIEH; KANAAD PARVATE; EUGENE VINITSKY; ALEXANDRE M. BAYEN (2022). "Flow: A Modular Learning Framework for Mixed Autonomy Traffic". In: *IEEE Transactions on Robotics* 38.2, pp. 1270–1286. ISSN: 19410468. DOI: 10.1109/TRD.2021.3087314. arXiv: 1710.05465.
- WU, TIANHAO; MINGZHI JIANG; LIN ZHANG (2020). "Cooperative Multiagent Deep Deterministic Policy Gradient (CoMADDPG) for Intelligent Connected Transportation with Unsignalized Intersection". In: *Mathematical Problems in Engineering* 2020. ISSN: 15635147. DOI: 10.1155/2020/1820527.
- WU, YUANYUAN; FENG ZHU (2021). "Junction Management for Connected and Automated Vehicles: Intersection or Roundabout?" In: Sustainability 13.16, p. 9482. ISSN: 20711050. DOI: 10.3390/su13169482.
- XIAO, LIN; MENG WANG; BART VAN AREM (2017). "Realistic Car-Following Models for Microscopic Simulation of Adaptive and Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control Vehicles". In: *Transportation Research Record* 2623.1, pp. 1–9. DOI: 10.3141/2623-01. URL: https: //doi.org/10.3141/2623-01.
- XU, HUAZHE; YANG GAO; FISHER YU; TREVOR DARRELL (2017). "End-to-end learning of driving models from large-scale video datasets". In: *Proceedings 30th IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2017* 2017-Janua, pp. 3530–3538. DOI: 10.1109/CVPR.2017.376. arXiv: 1612.01079.
- YAGI, MASAHIRO; SHO TAKAHASHI; TORU HAGIWARA (2019). "An Evaluation Method of Obstacle Avoidance Behavior on Bicycle Trip Using Rider's Gesture". In: 2019 IEEE 8th Global Conference on Consumer Electronics (GCCE), pp. 513–514. DOI: 10.1109/ GCCE46687.2019.9015353.
- ZARAGOZA, HUGO; FLORENCE ALCHÉ-BUC; UNIVERSITÉ PIERRE (1998). "Confidence Measures for Neural Network Classifiers". In: Proceedings of the Seventh Int. Conf. Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowlegde Based Systems. Vol. 9.
- ZHANG, KAILONG; ARNAUD DE LA FORTELLE; DAFANG ZHANG; XIAO WU (2013). "Analysis and modeled design of one state-driven autonomous passing-through algorithm for driverless vehicles at intersections". In: Proceedings - 16th IEEE International Conference on Computational Science and Engineering, CSE 2013 December, pp. 751–757. DOI: 10. 1109/CSE.2013.115.
- ZOHDY, ISMAIL H.; HESHAM RAKHA (2012). "Game theory algorithm for intersection-based cooperative adaptive cruise control (CACC) systems". In: *IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Proceedings, ITSC* September 2012, pp. 1097–1102. ISSN: 2153-0009. DOI: 10.1109/ITSC.2012.6338644.

# Appendix

The appendix includes additional information on the calibration of bicyclist and AV behavior, as well as simulation results from subsection 4.3.1 part of Chapter 4 that were excluded from the main text of this dissertation.

### 1 Calibration of Bicyclist Behavior

Table 1 presents the adjusted parameter values for calibrating the bicyclist behavior [GEOR-GIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOSSEINI, et al., 2021; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022]. Specific bicyclist behavior model parameters are further adjusted for supporting the functions of the prioritization method. The *jmlngoreFoeProb* parameter is set to 1, in conjunction with the parameter *jmlgnoreFoeSpeed* which is fixed to the speed used by AVs in prioritization state (2.8 m/s or 10 km/h). This allows bicyclists to impede the respective AVs that travel with a speed equal or less than *jmlgnoreFoeSpeed*. Additionally, the parameter *jmlgnoreJunctionFoeProb* is set to 0, to restrict this type of behavior inside the intersection area, as it may lead to collisions and unrealistic driving behavior. The default SUMO values are set for the remaining of the behavior parameters. Table 1: Bicycle behavior parameters [GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, LÜCKEN, et al., 2019; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOULOS, HOSSEINI, et al., 2021; GEORGIOS GRIGOROPOU-LOS, LEONHARDT, et al., 2022].

Bicycle Behavior Parameters	Value
carFollowing	Krauss
laneChangeModel	SL2015
maxSpeed	Random selection with equal probabilities: 3,4,5,6 or 7 m/s
speedFactor	1
speedDev	0.6
sigma	0.5
tau	1.22
accel	0.78 $m/s^2$
decel	0.98 $m/s^2$
minGap	1
minGapLat	0.5m
latAlignment	compact
impatience	0.1
jmIngoreFoeProb	1 (applies only to vehicles driving below the <i>jmlgnoreFoeSpeed</i> )
jmlgnoreFoeSpeed	2.8 m/s (priority activation speed)
jmlgnoreJunctionFoeProb	0

#### 2 Calibration of AV Behavior

Table 2 presents the adjusted parameter values for calibrating the AV driving behavior according to [OLSTAM et al., 2020]. In their work, behavior parameter values are provided for calibrating the AV driving behavior by adjusting the respective parameter of the Wiedemann 99 model. Based on their suggestions, the Wiedemann 99 is adjusted for the advanced AV class with the normal driving logic for the urban street environment as it considers the case of unsignalized atgrade intersections. The *Normal* driving logic assumes full compliance with the traffic rules, no stochasticity of the driving behavior, perfect deterministic automated driving, shorter reaction times and partial knowledge of the environment due to occlusion. Additionally, the parameter *jmSigmaMinor* = 0 as deterministic driving behavior is assumed. The default SUMO values

are set for the remaining of the behavior parameters.

Table 2: AV behavior parameters. The Wiedemann 99 (W99) parameters are adjusted according to OLSTAM et al. [2020] for the normal driving behavior logic.

AV Behavior Parameters	Value
minGap	1.5
W99 – CC1	0.9
W99 – CC2	0
W99 – CC3	-8
W99 – CC4	-0.1
W99 – CC5	0.1
W99 – CC6	0
W99 – CC7	0.1
W99 – CC8	3.5
W99 – CC9	1.5
jmSigmaMinor	0

#### **3** Simulation Results Optimization Method: Figures



Figure 1: Simulation Scenario 1a: AV traffic (major stream) average waiting time.



Figure 2: Simulation Scenario 2a: AV traffic (major stream) waiting time.



Figure 3: Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 4: Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 5: Simulation Scenario 1b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 6: Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 7: Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 8: Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 9: Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 10: Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 11: Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 12: Simulation Scenario 1b: AV traffic (major stream) average delay with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 13: Simulation Scenario 1b: AV traffic (major stream) average stops with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 14: Simulation Scenario 1b: AV traffic (major stream) average waiting time.



Figure 15: Simulation Scenario 2b: AV traffic (major stream) average delay with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 16: Simulation Scenario 2b: AV traffic (major stream) average stops with concurrent intercepting bicycle flow on the major road.



Figure 17: Simulation Scenario 2b: AV traffic (major stream) waiting time.



Figure 18: Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 19: Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average stops. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 20: Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 21: Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (major stream) average stops. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 22: Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (major stream) average waiting time. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 23: Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (major stream) average stops. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.



Figure 24: Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (major stream) waiting time. Sensitivity analysis of bicyclist maneuver prediction confidence.

## 4 Simulation Results Optimization Method: Statistical Analysis

Table 3: Simulation Scenario 2b: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stops per bicyclist. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	
100	-3.795%	-1.771%	4.666%	
	0.684	0.772	0.383	
300	-3.028%	0.023%	-3.500%	
	0.662	0.996	0.348	
500	0.201	-1.078%	-0.134%	
	0.974	0.755	0.962	

Table 4: Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700
100	-1.457%	-0.056%	-0.378%	1.929%
100	0.669	0.980	0.846	0.388
300	-0.122%	0.134%	0.287%	-0.754%
	0.980	0.957	0.923	0.826
500	-3.834	0.969%	-0.270%	1.932%
500	0.392	0.792	0.957	0.754
700	-3.129%	-1.443%	-7.417%	5.194%
100	0.599	0.757	0.267	0.756

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700
100	-10.394%	5.519%	2.567%	7.371%
100	0.642	0.669	0.796	0.498
300	3.409%	3.127%	-1.217%	1.044%
	0.811	0.583	0.817	0.848
500	-3.581	4.814%	5.000%	5.752%
500	0.631	0.330	0.253	0.240
700	0.262%	8.281%	-1.413%	1.783%
100	0.974	0.061	0.657	0.586

Table 5: Simulation Scenario 1c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stops per bicyclist. Statistical test results.

Table 6: Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average stops per vehicle. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700
100	0%	$\infty$	0%	0%
100	0	0.328	0	0
300	0%	-9.465%	-49.365%	136.477%
	0	0.918	0.565	0.168
500	314.838	129.704%	-4.202%	87.825%
500	0.137	0.206	0.936	0.083
700	181.484%	-43.333%	8.742%	17.341%
100	0.319	0.470	0.883	0.779

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	700
100	0%	$\infty$	0%	0%
100	0	0.328	0	0
300	0%	86.888%	-52.030%	168.867%
	0	0.588	0.537	0.111
500	301.689	153.278%	-7.904%	89.712%
500	0.144	0.181	0.882	0.104
700	159.438%	-40.180%	6.207%	18.344%
100	0.355	0.498	0.918	0.779

Table 7: Simulation Scenario 1c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

Table 8: Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average delay. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	500		
100	1.899%	-0.864%	-0.644%	
100	0.586	0.828	0.811	
300	-3.076%	-27.560%	-22.975%	
	0.644	0.059	0.084	
500	-40.877	-51.711%	-28.757%	
	0.015	0.013	0.046	

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)				
(veh/h)	100 300 500				
100	7.790%	-1.128%	-3.018%		
	0.550	0.920	0.688		
300	-4.078%	-3.963%	-2.415%		
	0.448	0.442	0.523		
500	-3.879	-7.688%	-0.689%		
	0.254	0.033	0.461		

Table 9: Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average number of stops per bicyclist. Statistical test results.

Table 10: Simulation Scenario 2c: Bicycle traffic (minor stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	
100	7.926%	-4.263%	7.112%	
	0.643	0.802	0.595	
300	-4.469%	-39.847%	-29.925%	
	0.741	0.054	0.079	
500	-53.135	-56.085%	-40.077%	
	0.015	0.013	0.011	

A) /					
AV	Bi	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	100 300			
100	-100%	-5.130%	-86.873%		
100	0.152	0.949	0.054		
300	-0.878%	-70.334%	32.058%		
	0.988	0.001	0.393		
500	7.249	-2.637%	62.414%		
	0.961	0.957	0.417		

Table 11: Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average stops per vehicle. Statistical test results.

Table 12: Simulation Scenario 2c: AV traffic (superordinate traffic stream) average waiting time. Statistical test results.

AV	Bicycles (bikes/h)			
(veh/h)	100	300	500	
100	-100%	-42.893%	-76.126%	
	0.152	0.540	0.108	
300	57.214%	-70.472%	339.380%	
	0.479	0.004	0.390	
500	37.041	53.143%	34.831%	
	0.829	0.475	0.641	